Rufus Willett Guoliang Yu The Universal Coefficient Theorem for C*-Algebras with Finite Complexity



MEMS Vol. 8 / 2024



Memoirs of the European Mathematical Society

Edited by

Anton Alekseev (Université de Genève) Hélène Esnault (Freie Universität Berlin) Gerard van der Geer (Universiteit van Amsterdam) Susanna Terracini (Università degli Studi di Torino) Ari Laptev (Imperial College London) Laure Saint-Raymond (Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques)

The *Memoirs of the European Mathematical Society* publish outstanding research contributions in individual volumes, in all areas of mathematics and with a particular focus on works that are longer and more comprehensive than usual research articles.

The collection's editorial board consists of the editors-in-chief of the *Journal of the European Mathematical Society* and the *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, along with editors of book series of the publishing house of the EMS as well as other distinguished mathematicians.

All submitted works go through a highly selective peer-review process.

Previously published in this series:

- J.-M. Delort, N. Masmoudi, Long-Time Dispersive Estimates for Perturbations of a Kink Solution of One-Dimensional Cubic Wave Equations
- G. Cotti, Cyclic Stratum of Frobenius Manifolds, Borel–Laplace (α, β)-Multitransforms, and Integral Representations of Solutions of Quantum Differential Equations
- A. Kostenko, N. Nicolussi, Laplacians on Infinite Graphs
- A. Carey, F. Gesztesy, G. Levitina, R. Nichols, F. Sukochev, D. Zanin, *The Limiting Absorption Principle for Massless Dirac Operators, Properties of Spectral Shift Functions, and an Application to the Witten Index of Non-Fredholm Operators*
- J. Kigami, Conductive Homogeneity of Compact Metric Spaces and Construction of p-Energy
- A. Buium, L. E. Miller, Purely Arithmetic PDEs Over a p-Adic Field: δ -Characters and δ -Modular Forms
- M. Duerinckx, A. Gloria, On Einstein's Effective Viscosity Formula

Rufus Willett Guoliang Yu The Universal Coefficient Theorem for C^{*}-Algebras with Finite Complexity



Authors

Rufus Willett Mathematics Department University of Hawai'i at Mānoa Keller 401A, 2565 McCarthy Mall Honolulu, HI 96822, USA

Email: rufus@math.hawaii.edu

Guoliang Yu Department of Mathematics Texas A&M University College Station, TX 77843, USA

Email: guoliangyu@tamu.edu

Each volume of the *Memoirs of the European Mathematical Society* is available individually or as part of an annual subscription. It may be ordered from your bookseller, subscription agency, or directly from the publisher via subscriptions@ems.press.

ISSN 2747-9080, eISSN 2747-9099 ISBN 978-3-98547-066-2, eISBN 978-3-98547-566-7, DOI 10.4171/MEMS/8

 \odot The content of this volume is licensed under the CC BY 4.0 license, with the exception of the logo and branding of the European Mathematical Society and EMS Press, and where otherwise noted.

Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at http://dnb.dnb.de.

Published by EMS Press, an imprint of the

European Mathematical Society – EMS – Publishing House GmbH Institut für Mathematik Technische Universität Berlin Straße des 17. Juni 136 10623 Berlin, Germany

https://ems.press

© 2024 European Mathematical Society

Abstract

A C^* -algebra satisfies the Universal Coefficient Theorem (UCT) of Rosenberg and Schochet if it is equivalent in Kasparov's KK-theory to a commutative C^* -algebra. This paper is motivated by the problem of establishing the range of validity of the UCT, and in particular, whether the UCT holds for all nuclear C^* -algebras.

We introduce the idea of a C^* -algebra that "decomposes" over a class \mathcal{C} of C^* algebras. Roughly, this means that locally there are approximately central elements that approximately cut the C^* -algebra into two C^* -subalgebras from \mathcal{C} that have well-behaved intersection. We show that if a C^* -algebra decomposes over the class of nuclear, UCT C^* -algebras, then it satisfies the UCT. The argument is based on a Mayer–Vietoris principle in the framework of controlled KK-theory; the latter was introduced by the authors in an earlier work. Nuclearity is used via Kasparov's Hilbert module version of Voiculescu's theorem, and Haagerup's theorem that nuclear C^* algebras are amenable.

We say that a C^* -algebra has finite complexity if it is in the smallest class of C^* -algebras containing the finite-dimensional C^* -algebras, and closed under decomposability; our main result implies that all C^* -algebras in this class satisfy the UCT. The class of C^* -algebras with finite complexity is large, and comes with an ordinalnumber invariant measuring the complexity level. We conjecture that a C^* -algebra of finite nuclear dimension and real rank zero has finite complexity; this (and several other related conjectures) would imply the UCT for all separable nuclear C^* algebras. We also give new local formulations of the UCT, and some other necessary and sufficient conditions for the UCT to hold for all nuclear C^* -algebras.

Keywords. Amenable C^* -algebra, decomposition of a C^* -algebra, controlled *KK*-theory, Universal Coefficient Theorem

Mathematics Subject Classification (2020). Primary 19K35; Secondary 19K33, 46L05, 46L80, 46L85

Acknowledgements. We thank Wilhelm Winter for some helpful comments on a preliminary draft. We thank Claude Schochet for pointing out the work of Gray [28] on inverse limits; this reference allowed us to significantly improve the results from an earlier circulated draft of this memoir. Finally, we thank the anonymous referee for useful comments.

Funding. The authors gratefully acknowledge support from the US NSF (DMS 1564281, DMS 1700021, DMS 1901522, DMS 2000082, DMS 2247313, DMS 2247968), and the Simons Fellow Program.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	The universal coefficient theorem	1
	1.2	Decompositions and the main theorem	2
	1.3	<i>C</i> *-algebras with finite complexity	3
	1.4	Kirchberg algebras	4
	1.5	A local reformulation of the UCT	5
	1.6	Strategy for the proof of the main theorem	7
	1.7	Notation and conventions	10
	1.8	Outline of the paper	10
2	Refo	ormulating the UCT	13
	2.1	The general case	14
	2.2	The nuclear case	21
3	Flex	ible models for controlled <i>KK</i> -theory	29
	3.1	The even case	29
	3.2	The odd case	32
4	Hon	notopies, similarities, and normalization	35
	4.1	Background on idempotents	35
	4.2	From similarities to homotopies	38
	4.3	Normalization	39
	4.4	From homotopies to similarities	44
5	Refe	ormulating the UCT II	51
	5.1	The even case	51
	5.2	The odd case	55
6	A M	layer–Vietoris boundary map	59
	6.1	Existence	59
	6.2	Exactness	65
7	Mai	n theorems	79
	7.1	Two technical "local" controlled vanishing results	79
	7.2	Proof of the main theorems	82

Α	Exai	nples	87	
	A.1	Cuntz algebras	87	
	A.2	Groupoids with finite dynamical complexity	92	
References				

Chapter 1

Introduction

Our aim in this memoir is to present some new techniques to establish the Universal Coefficient Theorem in C^* -algebra K-theory, and some new necessary and sufficient conditions for the Universal Coefficient Theorem to hold for all nuclear C^* -algebras.

Unless otherwise stated, anything in this introduction called A or B is a *separable* C^* -algebra.

1.1 The universal coefficient theorem

A C^* -algebra A satisfies the Universal Coefficient Theorem (UCT) of Rosenberg and Schochet [55] if for any C^* -algebra B, there is a canonical short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(K_*(A), K_*(B)) \to KK(A, B) \to \operatorname{Hom}(K_*(A), K_*(B)) \to 0.$$

Equivalently (see [55, p. 456] or [60, Proposition 5.2]), A satisfies the UCT if it is KK-equivalent to a commutative C^* -algebra.

The UCT is known to hold for a large class of C^* -algebras. The fundamental examples are the C^* -algebras in the *bootstrap class* \mathcal{N} . This is the smallest collection of separable, nuclear C^* -algebras that contains all type I C^* -algebras, and that is closed under the following operations: extensions; stable isomorphisms; inductive limits; and crossed products by \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{Z} . Rosenberg and Schochet [55] showed that any C^* -algebra in \mathcal{N} satisfies the UCT. Another important class of examples was established by Tu in [64, Proposition 10.7]; building on the work of Higson and Kasparov [35] on the Baum–Connes conjecture for a-T-menable groups, Tu showed that the groupoid¹ C^* -algebra of any a-T-menable groupoid satisfies the UCT. In particular, Tu's work applies to the groupoid C^* -algebras of amenable groupoids.

There has been other significant work giving sufficient conditions for the UCT to hold, and in some cases also necessary conditions as well as the work mentioned already, one has for example [60, Proposition 5.2], [53, Corollary 8.4.6], [21], [43, Remark 2.17], [6, Theorem 4.17], [4], and [5]. Nonetheless, the bootstrap class and the class of C^* -algebras of a-T-menable groupoids, which are defined in terms of *global* properties of the C^* -algebras involved, remain the most important classes of C^* -algebras known to satisfy the UCT.

¹To be more precise, we need standard assumptions so that the groupoid C^* -algebra is defined and separable. Here, appropriate assumptions are that the groupoid is locally compact, Hausdorff, and second countable, and that it admits a Haar system.

On the other hand, Skandalis [60, p. 571] has shown² that there are C^* -algebras that do not satisfy the UCT. Skandalis's examples are quite concrete; they are reduced group C^* -algebras of countably infinite hyperbolic groups with property (T), and in particular are exact [44, Section 6.E]. Looking to more exotic examples, failures of exactness can also be used to produce non-UCT C^* -algebras; see for example [14, Remark 4.3].

Despite these counterexamples, there are no known *nuclear* C^* -algebras that do not satisfy the UCT. Whether or not the UCT holds for all nuclear C^* -algebras is a particularly important open problem. One reason for this is the spectacular recent progress (see for example [11, 23, 24, 26, 27, 42, 50, 63]) in the Elliott program [22] to classify simple, separable, nuclear C^* -algebras by *K*-theoretic invariants. Establishing the range of validity of the UCT is now the only barrier to getting the "best possible" classification result in this setting.

On the other hand, work inspired by the Elliott program has led to recent, and again spectacular, success in the general structure theory of nuclear C^* -algebras, including the recent solution of a large part of the Toms–Winter conjecture [12, 13]. Our motivation in the current paper is to try to bridge the gap between properties that are relevant in this structure theory – in particular the theory of nuclear dimension [70] introduced by Winter and Zacharias – and properties that imply the UCT. In particular, our aim is to give *local* conditions that imply the UCT, in contrast to the global conditions from the work of Rosenberg and Schochet [55] and Tu [64] mentioned above.

1.2 Decompositions and the main theorem

We now introduce our sufficient condition for the UCT. For the statement below, if *X* is a metric space, *S* is a subset of *X*, $x \in X$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ we write " $x \in_{\varepsilon} S$ " if there exists $s \in S$ with $d(x, s) < \varepsilon$.

Definition 1.1. Let \mathcal{C} be a class of unital C^* -algebras. A unital C^* -algebra³ A decomposes over \mathcal{C} if for every finite subset X of the unit ball of A and every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist C^* -subalgebras C, D, and E of A that are in the class \mathcal{C} and contain 1_A , and a positive contraction $h \in E$ such that

- (i) $||[h, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$;
- (ii) $hx \in_{\varepsilon} C$, $(1-h)x \in_{\varepsilon} D$, and $h(1-h)x \in_{\varepsilon} E$ for all $x \in X$;
- (iii) for all *e* in the unit ball of *E*, $e \in_{\varepsilon} C$ and $e \in_{\varepsilon} D$.

²See also the exposition in [34, Sections 6.1 and 6.2].

³Not necessarily separable. For applications to the UCT, only the separable case is relevant, but the definition admits interesting examples in the non-separable case, and it seems plausible there will be other applications.

One should think of *C* and *D* as being approximately (unitizations of) ideals in *A* such that C + D = A, and *E* being approximately equal to (the unitization of) $C \cap D$. We will discuss examples later.

Here, is our main theorem, which was inspired by our earlier work on the Künneth formula (in collaboration with Oyono-Oyono) [48, 67], and by our earlier work on finite dynamical complexity and finite decomposition complexity (in collaboration with Guentner and Tessera) [29, 31]. See Corollary 7.5 below for the proof.

Theorem 1.2. If A is a separable, unital C^* -algebra that decomposes over the class of separable, nuclear C^* -algebras that satisfy the UCT, then A is nuclear and satisfies the UCT.

One can thus think of decomposability as an addition to the closure operations that are used in the definition of the bootstrap class \mathcal{N} .

1.3 C*-algebras with finite complexity

Following the precedent established by [30] in coarse geometry, the notion of decomposability suggests a complexity hierarchy on C^* -algebras.

Definition 1.3. Let \mathcal{D} denote a class of unital C^* -algebras. For an ordinal number α ,

- (i) if $\alpha = 0$, let \mathcal{D}_0 be the class of C^* -algebras D that are locally⁴ in \mathcal{D} ;
- (ii) if $\alpha > 0$, let \mathcal{D}_{α} be the class of C^* -algebras that decompose over C^* -algebras in $\bigcup_{\beta < \alpha} \mathcal{D}_{\beta}$.

A unital C^* -algebra D has *finite complexity relative to* \mathcal{D} if it is in \mathcal{D}_{α} for some α . If \mathcal{D} is the class of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras, we just say that D has *finite complexity*.

If a unital C^* -algebra D has finite complexity relative to \mathcal{D} , the *complexity rank* of D relative to \mathcal{D} is the smallest α such that D is in \mathcal{D}_{α} . If \mathcal{D} is the class of finitedimensional C^* -algebras, we just say the *complexity rank of* D with no additional qualifiers.

The following result is equivalent to Theorem 1.2 above. However, we think the reframing in terms of complexity is quite suggestive.

Theorem 1.4. Let C be a class of separable, unital, nuclear C^* -algebras that satisfy the UCT. Then, the class of separable, unital C^* -algebras that have finite complexity relative to C consists of nuclear C^* -algebras that satisfy the UCT.

⁴A *C*^{*}-algebra is *locally* in a class \mathcal{D} if for any finite subset *X* of *D* and any $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a *C*^{*}-subalgebra *C* of *D* that is in \mathcal{D} , and such that $x \in_{\varepsilon} C$ for all $x \in X$.

In particular, every separable C^* -algebra of finite complexity is nuclear and satisfies the UCT.

Examples 1.5. We can now give some non-trivial examples of C^* -algebras that decompose over natural, simpler, classes.

(i) In Proposition A.1, we show that for

$$2\leq n<\infty,$$

the Cuntz algebra \mathcal{O}_n has complexity rank one.

(ii) In [31], Guentner and the authors introduced "finite dynamical complexity" for groupoids, which also comes with a notion of complexity rank. In Proposition A.8 we show that if G is a locally compact, Hausdorff, étale, principal, ample groupoid with compact base space, then the complexity rank of $C_r^*(G)$ is bounded above by that of G. The class of groupoids with finite dynamical complexity is quite large; see Examples A.9 and A.11 below.

Combining part (ii) above with Theorem 1.4 gives a new proof of the UCT for the groupoid C^* -algebras of a large class of groupoids. However, we cannot claim any genuinely new examples; this is because the groupoids involved are all amenable, so the UCT for their C^* -algebras also follows from Tu's theorem [64] (see Remark A.13 below for more details).

1.4 Kirchberg algebras

Generalizing the Cuntz algebras from (i) above, recall that a *Kirchberg algebra* is a separable, nuclear C^* -algebra A such that for any non-zero $a \in A$, there are $b, c \in A$ such that $bac = 1_A$. Kirchberg algebras are closely connected to the UCT problem for nuclear C^* -algebras thanks to the following theorem of Kirchberg; see [53, Corollary 8.4.6] or [43, Remark 2.17].

Theorem 1.6 (Kirchberg). To establish the UCT for all separable, nuclear C^* -algebras, it suffices to establish the UCT for any Kirchberg algebra with zero K-theory.

Theorems 1.4 and 1.6 imply that if any Kirchberg algebra with zero K-theory has finite complexity, then the UCT holds for all separable, nuclear C^* -algebras. Conversely, if the UCT holds for all separable, nuclear C^* -algebras, then from the Kirchberg–Phillips classification theorem [42, 50] (see also [53, Corollary 8.4.2] for the precise statement we want here), any unital Kirchberg algebra with zero K-theory

will be isomorphic to the Cuntz algebra \mathcal{O}_2 , and so will have complexity rank one by Examples 1.5 (i). We summarize this discussion in the theorem below.

Theorem 1.7. The following are equivalent:

- (i) Any Kirchberg algebra with zero K-theory has complexity rank one.
- (ii) All separable nuclear C^* -algebras satisfy the UCT.

Generalizing Examples 1.5 (i) above Jaime and the first author show in [37] that a Kirchberg algebra *that satisfies the UCT* has complexity rank one if and only if its K_1 group is torsion free, and that moreover any UCT Kirchberg algebra has complexity rank at most two. From Theorem 1.7, if one could prove this without the UCT assumption, then the UCT for all separable nuclear C^* -algebras would follow.

The paper [37] also discusses several other connections between complexity rank, real rank zero, and nuclear dimension. We will not go into this any more deeply here; suffice to say that these other connections inspired us to make the following conjectures.

Conjecture 1.8. Any separable unital C*-algebra with real rank zero and finite nuclear dimension has finite complexity.

Conjecture 1.9. Any separable unital C^* -algebra with finite nuclear dimension has finite complexity relative to the class of subhomogeneous⁵ C^* -algebras.

Thanks to Theorem 1.7 and the fact that all Kirchberg algebras have nuclear dimension one (see [9, Theorem G]) and real rank zero (see [72]), either of these conjectures implies the UCT for all separable, nuclear C^* -algebras. There are many other related conjectures one could reasonably make that imply the UCT for all nuclear C^* -algebras. About the strongest such conjecture would be that any separable, nuclear C^* -algebra with real rank zero has finite complexity⁶. One of the weakest is that any Kirchberg algebra with zero K-theory has finite complexity.

1.5 A local reformulation of the UCT

We now discuss the methods that go into the proof of Theorem 1.2.

⁵Recall that a C^* -algebra C is *subhomogeneous* if there is $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and a compact Hausdorff space X such that C is a C^* -subalgebra of $M_N(C(X))$; see for example [8, Section IV.1.4] for background.

⁶It would also be natural to drop the real rank zero assumption, and then only ask for finite complexity relative to the subhomogeneous C^* -algebras, or even just relative to the type I C^* -algebras.

In our earlier work [68], we introduced *controlled KK-theory* groups $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ associated to a C^* -algebra B, a finite subset X of a C^* -algebra A and a constant $\varepsilon > 0$. Very roughly (we give more details below), one defines these by representing A in "general position" inside the stable multiplier algebra $M(B \otimes \mathcal{K})$ of B. The group $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ then consists of the "part of the K-theory of B that commutes with X, up to ε ".

To be more precise about this, assume that A and B are C^* -algebras, and assume for simplicity⁷ that A is unital. Let $\pi : A \to M(B \otimes \mathcal{K})$ be a faithful, unital, and strongly unitally absorbing⁸ representation. Fixing such a representation, identify Awith a diagonal subalgebra of $M_2(M(B \otimes \mathcal{K}))$ via the representation $\pi \oplus \pi$. For a finite subset X of the unit ball of A and $\varepsilon > 0$, define $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ to be the set of projections in $M_2(M(B \otimes \mathcal{K}))$ such that $p - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ is in $M_2(B \otimes \mathcal{K})$, and such that $||[p, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. The associated *controlled KK-theory group*⁹ is then defined to be the set

$$KK^0_{\varepsilon}(X,B) := \pi_0(\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X,B))$$

of path components in $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$. One can show that this group is determined up to canonical isomorphism by the subset inclusion $X \subseteq A$, by B, and by ε ; it does not depend on the choice of representation.

Note that if $X = \emptyset$, then $KK^0_{\varepsilon}(\emptyset, B)$ is canonically isomorphic to the usual *K*-theory group $K_0(B)$ (for any ε); this is what we mean when we say $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ consists of the "part of the *K*-theory of *B* that commutes with *X*, up to ε ".

Now, if $0 < \delta \le \varepsilon$ and if $Y \supseteq X$ are finite subsets of A_1 , then there is an inclusion $\mathcal{P}_{\delta}(Y, B) \subseteq \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ that induces a "forget control map"

$$KK_{\delta}(Y, B) \to KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B).$$

In [68, Theorem 1.1], we showed that there is a short exact "Milnor sequence" relating the inverse system built from these forget control maps to the usual KK-group KK(A, B); see Theorem 2.13 below for details. This sequence is an analogue of the Milnor sequence appearing in Schochet's work [56, 57]; however, unlike Schochet's version, it is local in nature, and does not require the UCT.

Our first goal in this memoir is to use the Milnor sequence to establish the following "local reformulation" of the UCT.

⁷The theory also works for C^* -algebras that are not unital, but the definitions are a little more complicated.

⁸Roughly, a strongly unitally absorbing representation is one that satisfies the conclusion of Voiculescu's theorem for all representations of A on Hilbert *B*-modules; for the current discussion, it is just important that such a representation always exists. See Definition 2.5 below for details.

⁹It is canonically a group, with the operation given by Cuntz sum in an appropriate sense.

Theorem 1.10. Let A be a unital C^{*}-algebra. Then, the following are equivalent:

- (i) A satisfies the UCT.
- (ii) Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra such that $K_*(B) = 0$, and let $\pi : A \to M(SB \otimes \mathcal{K})$ be a strongly unitally absorbing representation into the stable multiplier algebra of the suspension of *B*. Then, for any finite subset *X* of *A* and any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a finite subset *Y* of *A* containing *X* and $\delta \le \varepsilon$ such that the canonical forget control map

$$KK_{\delta}(Y, SB) \rightarrow KK_{\varepsilon}(X, SB)$$

for the suspension of B is zero.

This is a key ingredient in our main results, but we hope it will prove to be useful in its own right. Note in particular that there are no assumptions on A other than that it is separable and unital¹⁰.

There is a technical variation of Theorem 1.10 that applies to nuclear C^* -algebras, and that plays an important role in our arguments. The key point is one of order of quantifiers; condition (ii) from Theorem 1.10 starts with quantifiers of the form

$$``\forall B \ \forall \pi \ \forall X \ \forall \varepsilon \ \exists Y \ \exists \delta \dots ".$$

If A is nuclear, the same statement is true with the order of quantifiers replaced with

 $``\forall \varepsilon \exists \delta \forall B \forall \pi \forall X \exists Y \ldots ",$

i.e., δ depends *only* on ε and not on any of the other choices involved. To establish this, we adapt an averaging argument due to Christensen, Sinclair, Smith, White, and Winter [17, Section 3], which is in turn based on Haagerup's theorem that nuclear C^* -algebras are amenable [33].

1.6 Strategy for the proof of the main theorem

Assume that *A* is a nuclear, unital C^* -algebra that decomposes with respect to the class of nuclear UCT C^* -algebras as in the statement of Theorem 1.2. Assume moreover that $K_*(B) = 0$. Thanks to Theorem 1.10 above, to establish the UCT for *A* it suffices to show that for any finite subset *X* of the unit ball A_1 of *A*, and any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist $Y \supseteq X$ and $\delta \le \varepsilon$ such that the canonical forget control map

$$KK^0_{\delta}(Y, SB) \to KK^0_{\varepsilon}(X, SB)$$

is zero.

¹⁰Unitality is not really necessary – we do not do it in this memoir, but similar techniques establish the result above for non-unital separable C^* -algebras, with appropriately reformulated controlled *KK*-groups.

Our approach to this is inspired directly by our earlier work with several collaborators; this includes the work on the Künneth formula of Oyono-Oyono and the second author [48], and separately by the first author [67]; the work of Guentner and the authors on the Baum–Connes conjecture for transformation groupoids with finite dynamical complexity [31]; and the work of Guentner, Tessera, and the second author on the stable Borel conjecture for groups of finite decomposition complexity [29]. These other papers all use controlled K-theory as opposed to KK-theory; the seminal result along these lines is the second author's work on the Novikov conjecture for groups with finite asymptotic dimension [71].

In the current context, we use decomposability and a Mayer–Vietoris argument. Let $\gamma > 0$ be a very small constant, which is in particular smaller than ε . Then, any suitably small¹¹ $\delta > 0$ will have the following property. Let *h* and *C*, *D*, and *E* be nuclear UCT algebras as in the definition of decomposability for the given set *X* and parameter δ . Let Y_C , Y_D and Y_E be finite subsets of the unit balls C_1 , D_1 , and E_1 respectively that contain $hX \cup \{h\}$, $(1-h)X \cup \{h\}$ and $h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}$ respectively up to δ -error, and so that Y_C and Y_D both contain Y_E up to δ -error. Let

$$Y = Y_C \cup Y_D \cup Y_E \cup X.$$

Then, one can construct a diagram¹² of the form

$$KK^{0}_{\delta}(Y, SB) \xrightarrow{\kappa_{C} \oplus \kappa_{D}} KK^{0}_{2\delta}(Y_{C}, SB) \oplus KK^{0}_{2\delta}(Y_{D}, SB) ,$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$KK_{\gamma}(Y_{E}, S^{2}B) \xrightarrow{\partial} KK^{0}_{\varepsilon}(X, SB) \qquad (1.1)$$

where the vertical arrow is the canonical forget control map. This diagram has the "exactness" property that if [p] goes to zero under the map

$$\kappa_C \oplus \kappa_D : KK^0_{\delta}(Y, B) \to KK^0_{2\delta}(Y_C, SB) \oplus KK^0_{2\delta}(Y_D, SB)$$
(1.2)

then the image of [p] under the forget control map $KK^0_{\delta}(Y, SB) \to KK^0_{\varepsilon}(X, SB)$ is in the image of the map

$$\partial: KK_{\gamma}(Y_E, S^2B) \to KK^0_{\varepsilon}(X, SB).$$
(1.3)

¹¹The size of γ depends linearly on ε and the size of δ depends linearly on γ ; the constants involved are very large.

¹²The form of this diagram is not new; the basic idea is modeled on [29, Diagram (5.8)] from the work of the Guentner, Tessera, and the second author on the stable Borel conjecture for groups with finite decomposition complexity. See also [31, Proposition 7.6] from work of the Guentner and the authors in a more closely related context.

However, as $K_*(B) = 0$, if γ and δ are small enough, one can use Theorem 2.15 (in the stronger form for nuclear *C**-algebras) to choose Y_C , Y_D , and Y_E large enough so that the maps in lines (1.2) and (1.3) are zero. This completes the proof.

In the detailed exposition below we structure the proof to give it as "local" a flavor as possible, partly as we suspect that the ideas might be useful in other contexts. The two main "local"(ish) technical results are recorded as Propositions 7.1 and 7.2 below.

The argument above is directly inspired by the classical Mayer–Vietoris principle. Indeed, assume that C and D are nuclear *ideals* in A with intersection E, and such that

$$A = C + D.$$

Then, there is¹³ an exact Mayer–Vietoris sequence

$$\cdots \to KK^0(E, SB) \to KK^0(A, B) \to KK^0(C, B) \oplus KK^0(D, B) \to \cdots$$

In particular, if the groups at the left and right are zero, then the group in the middle is also zero. Our analysis of the diagram in line (1.1) is based on a concrete construction of this classical Mayer–Vietoris sequence that can be adapted to our controlled setting. The idea has its roots in algebraic *K*-theory, going back at least as far as [46, Chapter 2]. Having said this, there is significant work to be done adapting these classical ideas to the analytic superstructure that we built in [68], and the resulting formulas and arguments end up being quite different.

Remark 1.11. It would be very interesting to remove the nuclearity hypothesis from Theorem 1.2, or at least to replace it with something weaker such as exactness. Let us explain how nuclearity is used in the proof of Theorem 1.2, in the hope that some reader will see a way around it.

The first use of nuclearity is to show that any nuclear, unital C^* -algebra admits strongly unitally absorbing representations whose restriction to any nuclear, unital C^* -subalgebra is also strongly unitally absorbing; see Corollary 2.7 below. The proof of this is based on Kasparov's version of Voiculescu's theorem for Hilbert modules [40, Section 7]. It seems plausible from the discussion in Remark 2.8 below that some form of nuclearity is necessary for this to hold, but we do not know this.

The second place nuclearity is used is via an averaging argument due to Christensen, Sinclair, Smith, White, and Winter [17, Section 3]; this is applicable to nuclear C^* -algebras thanks to Haagerup's theorem that nuclear C^* -algebras are always amenable [33]. This lets us prove a stronger version of Theorem 1.10; see Corollary 2.22 below. We do not know if this result holds without nuclearity; see Remark 2.19 for a more detailed discussion.

¹³It is not in the literature as far as we can tell. For nuclear C^* -algebras, it can be derived from the usual long exact sequence in *KK*-theory using, for example, the argument of [69, Proposition 2.7.15].

1.7 Notation and conventions

For a subset *S* of a metric space *X*, $x \in X$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, we write " $x \in_{\varepsilon} S$ " if there is $s \in S$ with $d(x, s) < \varepsilon$. For elements *x*, *y* of a metric space *X*, we write " $x \approx_{\varepsilon} y$ " if $d(x, y) < \varepsilon$.

We write ℓ^2 for $\ell^2(\mathbb{N})$. Throughout, the letters *A* and *B* are reserved for *separable* C^* -algebras. The letter *C* will refer to a possibly non-separable C^* -algebra. The unit ball of *C* (or a more general normed space) is denoted by C_1 , its unitization is C^+ , its multiplier algebra is M(C), its suspension is *SC*, and its *n*-fold suspension is S^nC . We write M_n or $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ for the $n \times n$ matrices, and $M_n(C)$ for the $n \times n$ matrices over a C^* -algebra *C*.

Our conventions on Hilbert modules follow those of Lance [45]. We will write $H_B := \ell^2 \otimes B$ for the standard Hilbert *B*-module, and \mathcal{L}_B , respectively \mathcal{K}_B , as shorthand for the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{L}(H_B)$ of adjointable operators on H_B , respectively the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{K}(H_B)$ of compact operators on H_B . We will typically identify \mathcal{L}_B with the "diagonal subalgebra" $1_{M_n} \otimes \mathcal{L}_B$ of $M_n \otimes \mathcal{L}_B = M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$. Thus, we might write "[x, y]" for the commutator of $x \in \mathcal{L}_B$ and $y \in M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$, when it would be more strictly correct to write something like "[$1_{M_n} \otimes x, y$]".

The symbol " \otimes " always denotes a completed tensor product: either the external tensor product of Hilbert modules (see [45, Chapter 4] for background on this), or the minimal tensor product of C^* -algebras (see for example [10, Chapter 3]).

We will sometimes write 0_n and 1_n for the zero matrix and identity matrix of size *n* when this seems helpful to avoid confusion, although we will generally omit the subscripts to avoid clutter. If $n \le m$, we will also use $1_n \in M_m(\mathbb{C})$ for the rank *n* projection with *n* ones in the top-left part of the diagonal and zeros elsewhere. Given an $n \times n$ matrix *a* and an $m \times m$ matrix *b*, $a \oplus b$ denotes the "block sum" $(n + m) \times (n + m)$ matrix defined by

$$a \oplus b := \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix}.$$

Finally, $K_*(A) := K_0(A) \oplus K_1(A)$ denotes the graded *K*-theory group of a C^* -algebra, and $KK^*(A, B) := KK^0(A, B) \oplus KK^1(A, B)$ the graded *KK*-theory group. We will typically just write KK(A, B) instead of $KK^0(A, B)$.

1.8 Outline of the paper

Chapter 2 gives our reformulation of the UCT in terms of a concrete vanishing condition for controlled KK-theory. The key ingredients for this are the Milnor sequence from [68, Theorem 1.1], and some ideas around the Mittag–Leffler condition from the theory of inverse limits (see for example [66, Section 3.5]). We also show that a stronger vanishing result holds for nuclear, UCT C^* -algebras using an averaging argument of Christensen, Sinclair, Smith, White, and Winter [17, Section 3]; the averaging argument is in turn based on Haagerup's theorem [33] that nuclearity implies amenability.

Chapter 3 discusses our controlled KK^0 -groups. We introduced these in [68], but we need a technical variation here. This is essentially because in [68] we were setting up general theory, and for this it is easier to work with projections in a fixed C^* -algebra. In this memoir we are doing computations with concrete algebraic formulas, where it is more convenient to work with general idempotents, and to allow taking matrix algebras. We will, however, use both versions in this memoir, as we need to relate our work back here to the general theory of [68]. We also introduce controlled KK^1 -groups in a concrete formulation using invertible operators; in our earlier work [68] we (implicitly) defined controlled KK^1 -groups using suspensions, but here we also need the more concrete version.

Chapter 4 collects together some technical facts. These are all analogues for controlled KK-theory of well-known results from K-theory; for example, we prove "controlled versions" of the statements that homotopic idempotents are similar, and that similar idempotents are homotopic (up to increasing matrix sizes). Some arguments in this chapter are adapted from the work of Oyono-Oyono and the second author [47] on controlled K-theory.

Chapter 5 revisits the vanishing conditions of Chapter 2. Using the techniques of Chapter 4, we reformulate these results in the more flexible setting allowed by Chapter 3. This gives us the vanishing conditions that are the first main technical ingredient needed for Theorem 1.2.

Chapter 6 establishes the second main technical ingredient needed for Theorem 1.2. Here, we construct a "Mayer–Vietoris boundary map" for controlled KK-theory, and prove that it has an exactness property. The construction is an analogue of the usual index map of operator K-theory (see for example [54, Chapter 9]), although concrete formulas for the Mayer–Vietoris boundary map unfortunately seem to be missing from the C^* -algebra literature. The formulas we use are instead inspired by classical formulas from algebraic K-theory [46, Chapter 2], adapted to reflect our analytic setting.

Finally, in the main body of the paper, Chapter 7 puts everything together and gives the proofs of Theorem 1.2 and Theorem 1.4. We also include technical "local" vanishing results that we hope to elucidate the structure of the proof, and might be useful in other contexts.

The paper concludes with Appendix A, which gives examples of C^* -algebras with finite complexity. We first use a technique of Winter and Zacharias [70, Section 7] to show that the Cuntz algebras \mathcal{O}_n with $2 \le n < \infty$ have complexity rank one. We then use our joint work with Guentner on dynamic complexity [31] to show that ample, principal, étale groupoids with finite dynamical complexity and compact

base space have C^* -algebras of finite complexity; we also get a similar result without the ampleness assumption if we allow C^* -algebras with finite complexity relative to subhomogeneous C^* -algebras.

Chapter 2

Reformulating the UCT

In this chapter (as throughout), if *B* is a separable C^* -algebra, then \mathcal{L}_B and \mathcal{K}_B are respectively the adjointable and compact operators on the standard Hilbert *B*-module $\ell^2 \otimes B$.

Our goal in this chapter is to recall the definition of the controlled KK-theory groups, and then to reformulate the universal coefficient theorem in these terms.

We first recall the definition of the controlled KK-theory groups from [68]; to be precise, we need the version from [68, Sections A.1 and A.2] that is specific to unital C^* -algebras. We need a definition.

Definition 2.1. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Choose a unitary isomorphism $\ell^2 \cong \mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \ell^2 \otimes \ell^2$, which induces a unitary isomorphism

$$\ell^2 \otimes B \cong (\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \ell^2 \otimes \ell^2) \otimes B$$

of Hilbert *B*-modules. With respect to this isomorphism, let $e \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be the projection corresponding to $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes 1_{\ell^2 \otimes \ell^2 \otimes B}$. We call *e* the *neutral projection*. A subset *X* of \mathcal{L}_B is called *large* if every $x \in X$ is of the form $1_{\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \ell^2} \otimes y$ for some $y \in \mathcal{L}(\ell^2 \otimes B)$ with respect to this decomposition.

Definition 2.2. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, let *X* be a finite, large, subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B and let $e \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be the neutral projection as in Definition 2.1. Let $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ consist of those projections *p* in \mathcal{L}_B such that

- (i) $p-e \in \mathcal{K}_B$; and
- (ii) $||[p, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$.

Define $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ to be the set $\pi_0(\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B))$ of path components of $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$. We write $[p] \in KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ for the class of $p \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$.

Choose now isometries $t_1, t_2 \in \mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$ satisfying the *Cuntz relation*

$$t_1 t_1^* + t_2 t_2^* = 1,$$

and define $s_i := 1_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes t_i \otimes 1_{\ell^2 \otimes B} \in \mathcal{L}_B$. Define an operation on $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ by the *Cuntz sum*

$$[p] + [q] := [s_1 p s_1^* + s_2 q s_2^*].$$

The same proof as [68, Lemma A.4] shows that $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is an abelian group, with identity element given by the class [e] of the neutral projection.

We finish this section with two ancillary lemmas. The first is extremely wellknown; we include an argument for completeness as we do not know a convenient reference. **Lemma 2.3.** Let a and b be elements of a unital C^* -algebra with b normal. Then, any z in the spectrum of a is contained within distance ||a - b|| of the spectrum of b.

Proof. We need to show that if z is further than ||a - b|| from the spectrum of b, then a - z is invertible. Indeed, in this case the continuous functional calculus implies that $||(b - z)^{-1}|| < ||a - b||^{-1}$. Hence,

$$||(a-z)(b-z)^{-1} - 1|| \le ||(a-z) - (b-z)|| ||(b-z)^{-1}|| < 1,$$

whence $(a - z)(b - z)^{-1}$ is invertible, and so a - z is invertible too.

Lemma 2.4. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra, let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let *X* be a finite, large, subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B . With notation as in Definition 2.2, the group $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is countable.

Proof. As *B* is separable \mathcal{K}_B is separable, and so the set $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is also separable. Let *S* be a countable dense subset of $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$. It suffices to show that the map $S \to KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ defined by $p \mapsto [p]$ is surjective.

Let $p \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ be arbitrary, and define

$$\delta := \min\left\{\frac{1}{4}(\varepsilon - \max_{x \in X} \|[p, x]\|), \frac{1}{2}\right\}.$$

Let $q \in S$ be such that $||p - q|| < \delta$, and let $p_t := (1 - t)p + tq$ for $t \in [0, 1]$. Then, for each $t \in [0, 1]$, $||p_t - p|| < \delta$, so Lemma 2.3 and that p_t is a positive contraction implies that the spectrum p_t is contained in $[0, \delta) \cup (1 - \delta, 1]$. Let χ be the characteristic function of $(\frac{1}{2}, \infty)$. Then, $||\chi(p_t) - p_t|| < \delta$ for all t, whence $||\chi(p_t) - p|| < 2\delta$ for all t, from which it follows that $||[\chi(p_t), x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all t and all $x \in X$. As $p_t - e \in \mathcal{K}_B$ for all t, it follows from the fact that \mathcal{K}_B is an ideal in \mathcal{L}_B that $\chi(p_t) - e \in \mathcal{K}_B$ too. Hence, $(\chi(p_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$ is a path connecting p and q within $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ so [p] = [q], and we are done.

2.1 The general case

We need a special class of representations on Hilbert *B*-modules, essentially taken from work of Thomsen [62, Definition 2.2] (see also [68, Definition A.11]). We do not need the details of the definition below, and only include it for completeness; all we really need are the facts about existence of such representations in Lemma 2.6 below.

Definition 2.5. Let *A* be a separable, unital *C**-algebra, and let *B* be a separable *C**-algebra. A representation $\sigma : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ is *unitally absorbing* if for any unital completely positive map $\phi : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ there exists a sequence of isometries (v_n) in \mathcal{L}_B

such that $||v_n^*\sigma(a)v_n - \phi(a)|| \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, and such that $v_n^*\sigma(a)v_n - \phi(a) \in \mathcal{K}_B$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

For a representation $\sigma : A \to \mathcal{L}_B = \mathcal{L}(H_B)$, let $\sigma^{\infty} : A \to \mathcal{L}(H_B^{\oplus \infty})$ be its infinite amplification, which we identify with a representation $\sigma^{\infty} : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ via a choice of unitary isomorphism $(\ell^2)^{\oplus \infty} \cong \ell^2$ as in the string of identifications below

$$\mathcal{L}(H_B^{\oplus\infty}) = \mathcal{L}((\ell^2 \otimes B)^{\oplus\infty}) = \mathcal{L}((\ell^2)^{\oplus\infty} \otimes B) \cong \mathcal{L}(\ell^2 \otimes B) = \mathcal{L}_B$$

(all of the identifications labeled "=" are canonical). A unital representation $\pi : A \rightarrow \mathcal{L}_B$ is *strongly unitally absorbing* if there is a unitally absorbing representation

$$\sigma: A \to \mathcal{L}_B$$

such that $\pi = \sigma^{\oplus \infty}$.

Note that a (strongly) unitally absorbing representation is faithful. The following result is essentially due to Thomsen and Kasparov. Our main use of part (ii) occurs much later in the paper.

Lemma 2.6. Let A be a separable, unital C^* -algebra, and let B be a separable C^* -algebra. Then,

- (i) There exists a strongly unitally absorbing representation $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$.
- (ii) Assume in addition that A or B is nuclear. Let $\sigma : A \to \mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$ be any faithful unital representation, let $\iota : \mathcal{B}(\ell^2) \to \mathcal{L}_B$ be the canonical inclusion arising from the decomposition $H_B = \ell^2 \otimes B$, and let $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ be the infinite amplification of $\iota \circ \sigma$. Then, π is strongly unitally absorbing.

Proof. For part (i), Thomsen shows in [62, Theorem 2.4] that a unitally absorbing representation $\sigma : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ exists under the given hypotheses. Its infinite amplification π is then strongly unitally absorbing.

For part (ii), note first that identifying $(\iota \circ \sigma)^{\infty}$ with $(\iota \circ (\sigma^{\oplus \infty}))^{\infty}$ we may assume σ is the infinite amplification of some faithful unital representation $A \to \mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$. Having made this assumption, note that $\sigma(A) \cap \mathcal{K}(\ell^2) = \{0\}$. In [40, Theorem 5], Kasparov shows that if A is a separable, unital C^* -algebra and $\sigma : A \to \mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$ is a faithful representation such that $\sigma(A) \cap \mathcal{K}(\ell^2) = \{0\}$, and moreover if either A or B is nuclear, then the composition $\iota \circ \sigma$ satisfies the condition Thomsen gives in [62, Theorem 2.1, condition (4)]. Comparing [62, Theorem 2.1] and Definition 2.5, we see that $\iota \circ \sigma$ is unitally absorbing. Hence, $\pi = (\iota \circ \sigma)^{\oplus \infty}$ is strongly unitally absorbing.

The following corollary is immediate from part (ii) of Lemma 2.6.

Corollary 2.7. Let A be a separable, unital, nuclear C^* -algebra, and let B be a separable C^* -algebra. Then, there exists a strongly unitally absorbing representation

 $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ such that the restriction of π to any unital, nuclear C^* -subalgebra of A is also strongly unitally absorbing.

Remark 2.8. Corollary 2.7 is one of the two places nuclearity is used in the proof of Theorem 1.2, so it would be interesting to establish the corollary under some weaker assumption than nuclearity. The following observation shows that the method we used to establish Corollary 2.7 cannot extend beyond the nuclear case, however.

Let *A* be a separable, unital *C*^{*}-algebra, and let A = B. Let $\sigma : A \to \mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$ be a unital representation, and let $\pi := \iota \circ \sigma : A \to \mathcal{L}_A$ be as in Lemma 2.6 (ii). We claim that if π is unitally absorbing, then *A* is nuclear¹. Let $\phi : A \to \mathcal{L}_A$ be the *homomorphism $a \mapsto 1_{\ell^2} \otimes a$. If π is unitally absorbing then for any ε and finite subset *X* of *A* there is an isometry $v \in \mathcal{L}_A$ such that $||v^*\pi(a)v - \phi(a)|| < \varepsilon$ for all $a \in X$. For each *n*, let $p_n \in \mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$ be the orthogonal projection onto $\ell^2(\{1, \ldots, n\})$, and let $q_n := p_n \otimes 1_A \in \mathcal{L}_A$. Note that $q_1 \mathcal{L}_A q_1$ identifies canonically with *A*, and up to this identification $q_1 \phi(a) q_1 = a$ for all $a \in A$, so in particular $||q_1 v^*\pi(a)vq_1 - a|| < \varepsilon$ for all $a \in X$. As (q_n) converges strictly to the identity in \mathcal{L}_A , and as $q_1 v \in \mathcal{K}_A$, we have moreover that $q_1 v^* q_n \pi(a) q_n v q_1$ converges in norm to $q_1 v^* \pi(a) v^* q_1$, so there is *n* such that $||q_1 v^* q_n \pi_n(a) q_n v q_1 - a|| < \varepsilon$ for all $a \in X$. We thus have ucp maps

$$A \xrightarrow{a \mapsto q_n \pi(a)q_n} q_n(\mathcal{B}(\ell^2) \otimes 1_A)q_n \cong M_n(\mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{b \mapsto q_1 v^* b v q_1} A$$

whose composition agrees with the identity on X to within ε error. As X and ε were arbitrary, this implies nuclearity of A (see for example [10, Chapter 2]).

To state the main result of [68], we need some more definitions.

Definition 2.9. Let *A* be a separable, unital C^* -algebra, and let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. A representation $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ is *large* if there is a unitally absorbing representation $\sigma : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ such that with respect to the choice of isomorphism

$$\ell^2 \otimes B \cong \mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \ell^2 \otimes \ell^2 \otimes B$$

of Definition 2.1, we have $\pi(a) = 1_{\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \ell^2} \otimes \sigma(a)$ for all $a \in A$.

Lemma 2.6 (i) implies that large representations exist for any (separable) *A* and *B*. Note that if π is large in the sense of Definition 2.9 then for any $X \subseteq A$, the subset $\pi(X) \subseteq \mathcal{L}_B$ is large in the sense of Definition 2.1. In particular, if we identify *X* with $\pi(X)$, the group $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ of Definition 2.2 makes sense.

Definition 2.10. Let *C* be a *C*^{*}-algebra, and let \mathcal{X}_C consist of all pairs of the form (X, ε) where *X* is a finite subset of C_1 , and $\varepsilon > 0$. Put a partial order on \mathcal{X}_C by

¹The following argument is inspired by [60, Théorème 1.5, Definition 1.6, and Remarque 1.7].

stipulating that $(X, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \delta)$ if $\delta \leq \varepsilon$, and if for all $x \in X$ there exists $y \in Y$ with $||x - y|| \leq \frac{1}{2}(\varepsilon - \delta)$.

A good approximation of C is a cofinal sequence² $((X_n, \varepsilon_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of elements of \mathcal{X}_C .

Note that if $X \subseteq Y$ and $\delta \leq \varepsilon$, then $(X, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \delta)$; in particular, this implies that \mathcal{X}_C is a directed set. Note also that good approximations exist if and only if *C* is separable: if (ε_n) is a decreasing sequence that tends to zero, and (X_n) is an increasing sequence with dense union in C_1 , then $((X_n, \varepsilon_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a good approximation; and if $((X_n, \varepsilon_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a good approximation, then $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} X_n$ is a countable dense subset of C_1 .

Definition 2.11. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra, and let $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{X}_B}$ be the directed set from Definition 2.10 above for the C^* -algebra \mathcal{X}_B . If $(X, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \delta)$ and *X* and *Y* are both large in the sense of Definition 2.1, then with notation as in Definition 2.2 there is an inclusion

$$\mathcal{P}_{\delta}(Y,B) \subseteq \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X,B). \tag{2.1}$$

We call the canonical map

$$KK_{\delta}(Y, B) \to KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$$

induced by the inclusion in line (2.1) above a *forget control map*.

We now briefly recall some terminology from homological algebra; see for example [66, Section 3.5] or [58, Section 3] for more background on this material³. An *inverse system* of abelian groups consists of a sequence of abelian groups and homomorphisms

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_n} A_n \xrightarrow{\phi_{n-1}} A_{n-1} \xrightarrow{\phi_{n-2}} \cdots \xrightarrow{\phi_2} A_2 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} A_1.$$

Associated to such a system is a homomorphism

$$\phi: \prod_{n\in\mathbb{N}} A_n \to \prod_{n\in\mathbb{N}} A_n, \quad (a_n) \mapsto (\phi_n(a_{n+1})).$$

The *inverse limit*, denoted $\lim_{\leftarrow} A_n$, is defined to be the kernel of $\operatorname{id} - \phi$, and the $\lim_{\leftarrow} A_n$, is defined to be the cokernel of $\operatorname{id} - \phi$. Note that if $m \geq n$, there is a canonical homomorphism $A_m \to A_n$ defined as $\phi_n \circ \phi_{n+1} \circ \cdots \circ \phi_{m-1}$. The inverse system satisfies the *Mittag–Leffler condition* if for any *n* there is $N \geq n$

²A sequence $(s_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in a partially ordered set *S* is *cofinal* if $s_1 \le s_2 \le s_3 \le \cdots$ and if for all $s \in S$ there is *n* such that $s \le s_n$.

³Readers interested in a more sophisticated and general treatment can also see [38].

such that for all $m \ge N$, the image of the canonical map $A_m \to A_n$ equals the image of the canonical map $A_N \to A_n$.

Proposition 2.12. Let (A_n) be an inverse system of abelian groups. If (A_n) satisfies the Mittag–Leffler condition, then $\lim_{\leftarrow} A_n = 0$. Conversely, if $\lim_{\leftarrow} A_n = 0$ and each A_n is countable, then the inverse system satisfies the Mittag–Leffler condition.

Proof. It is well-known that the Mittag-Leffler condition implies vanishing of

$$\lim_{\leftarrow} A_n = 0$$

see for example [66, Proposition 3.5.7]. The converse in the case of countable groups follows from [28, Proposition on page 242].

Now, let A be a separable, unital C^* -algebra, let B be a separable C^* -algebra, and use a large representation $\pi : A \to \mathcal{X}_B$ (see Definition 2.9) to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{X}_B . Let $((X_n, \varepsilon_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a good approximation of A as in Definition 2.10, so the forget control maps of Definition 2.11 form an inverse system

$$\cdots \to KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, B) \to KK_{\varepsilon_{n-1}}(X_{n-1}, B) \to \cdots \to KK_{\varepsilon_1}(X_1, B)$$

from which we define $\lim KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, B)$ and $\lim^1 KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, B)$ as above.

The following is [68, Proposition A.10].

Theorem 2.13. Let A and B be separable C^* -algebras with A unital. Let

 $\pi: A \to \mathcal{L}_B$

be a large representation, and use this to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_B . Let $((X_n, \varepsilon_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a good approximation for A. Then, there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \lim_{\leftarrow} {}^{1}KK_{\varepsilon_{n}}(X_{n}, SB) \to KK(A, B) \to \lim_{\leftarrow} KK_{\varepsilon_{n}}(X_{n}, B) \to 0.$$

We are now almost ready to state and prove our reformulation of the UCT. It will be convenient to use the following well-known reformulation of the UCT; see [55, p. 457] or [60, Proposition 5.3] for a proof.

Theorem 2.14. A separable C^* -algebra A satisfies the UCT if and only if for any separable C^* -algebra B such that $K_*(B) = 0$ we have that

$$KK(A,B) = 0.$$

Theorem 2.15. Let A be a separable C*-algebra. The following are equivalent:

(i) A satisfies the UCT.

(ii) Let B be a separable C^* -algebra with $K_*(B) = 0$. Let

$$\pi: A \to \mathcal{L}_{SB}$$

be a large representation, and use this to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{SB} . Then, for any (X, γ) in the set \mathcal{X}_A of Definition 2.10, there is $(Z, \varepsilon) \in \mathcal{X}_A$ with $(X, \gamma) \leq (Z, \varepsilon)$ and so that the forget control map

$$KK_{\varepsilon}(Z, SB) \to KK_{\gamma}(X, SB)$$

of Definition 2.11 is zero.

Proof. Assume first that A satisfies condition (i), and let X, ε , B and π be as in condition (ii). Let $((X_n, \varepsilon_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a good approximation of A with $X_1 = X$ and $\varepsilon_1 = \gamma$. As A satisfies the UCT and as $K_*(B) = 0$, we have KK(A, B) = 0. Hence, using Theorem 2.13, $\lim_{\leftarrow} {}^1 KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB) = 0$. Lemma 2.4 implies that the groups $KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB)$ are all countable, whence by Proposition 2.12, the inverse system $(KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ satisfies the Mittag–Leffler condition. On the other hand, as A satisfies the UCT and $K_*(SB) = 0$, we have KK(A, SB) = 0 by Theorem 2.14. Hence, by Theorem 2.13 again, $\lim_{\leftarrow} KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB) = 0$, whence the definition of the inverse limit implies that for any n,

$$\bigcap_{m \ge n} \operatorname{Image}(KK_{\varepsilon_m}(X_m, SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB)) = 0.$$

The Mittag–Leffler condition implies that there is $N \ge n$ such that

$$\bigcap_{m \ge n} \operatorname{Image} \left(KK_{\varepsilon_m}(X_m, SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB) \right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Image} \left(KK_{\varepsilon_N}(X_N, SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB) \right)$$

so we may conclude that the forget control map

$$KK_{\varepsilon_N}(X_N, SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, SB)$$

is zero. In particular, such an N exists for n = 1, and we may set $Z = X_N$ and $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_N$.

Conversely, say *A* satisfies condition (ii). Using Theorem 2.14, it suffices to show that if *B* is a separable C^* -algebra with $K_*(B) = 0$, then KK(A, B) = 0. Let $\pi_2 : A \to \mathcal{L}_{S^2B}$ (respectively, $\pi_3 : A \to \mathcal{L}_{S^3B}$) be a large representation, and use this to identify *A* with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{S^2B} (respectively, \mathcal{L}_{S^3B}). Using condition (ii) we may construct a good approximation $((X_n, \varepsilon_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ for *A* in the sense of Definition 2.10 such that for any *n* the maps

$$KK_{\varepsilon_{n+1}}(X_{n+1}, S^3B) \to KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, S^3B)$$
 (2.2)

and

$$KK_{\varepsilon_{n+1}}(X_{n+1}, S^2B) \to KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, S^2B)$$
 (2.3)

are zero. As the maps in line (2.2) are all zero, the inverse system

$$(KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, S^3B))_{n=1}^{\infty}$$

satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition, whence by Proposition 2.12 we have that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} KK_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, S^3B) = 0.$$

On the other hand, the fact that the maps in line (2.3) are all zero and the definition of the inverse limit immediately imply that $\lim_{\leftarrow} K_{\varepsilon_n}(X_n, S^2B) = 0$. Hence, in the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \lim_{\leftarrow} {}^{1}KK_{\varepsilon_{n}}(X_{n}, S^{3}B) \to KK(A, S^{2}B) \to \lim_{\leftarrow} KK_{\varepsilon_{n}}(X_{n}, S^{2}B) \to 0$$

from Theorem 2.13 the left and right groups are zero, whence $KK(A, S^2B) = 0$. Hence, by Bott periodicity, KK(A, B) = 0 as desired.

We include the following remark as the comparison to the existing literature might help orient some readers; it also gives a sense of why Corollary 2.7 is useful (our main use of that corollary will come later in the paper).

Remark 2.16. Theorem 2.15 can be used to deduce a weak version of a theorem of Dadarlat [21, Theorem 1.1]. Dadarlat shows that if A is a separable nuclear C^* -algebra such for any finite subset X of A and any $\varepsilon > 0$, one has a UCT subalgebra C of A such that $x \in_{\varepsilon} C$ for all $x \in X$, then A satisfies the UCT. Theorem 1.2 implies the special case of Dadarlat's theorem where the subalgebras C can also be taken nuclear.

To see this, note first that as a C^* -algebra satisfies the UCT (respectively, is nuclear) if and only if its unitization satisfies the UCT (respectively, is nuclear) by [55, Proposition 2.3 (a)] (respectively, by [10, Exercise 2.3.5]), we may assume that A is unital. We aim to establish the condition in Theorem 2.15 (ii). Let then B be a separable C^* -algebra with $K_*(B) = 0$. Using Corollary 2.7, there exists a large representation $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_{SB}$ such that the restriction of π to any unital nuclear C^* subalgebra of A is also large. Let X be a finite subset of A_1 , and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Let C be a nuclear, unital, UCT C^* -subalgebra of A such that $x \in_{\varepsilon/5} C$ for all $x \in X$. Let X'be a finite subset of C_1 such that for each $x \in X$ there is $x' \in X'$ such that

$$\|x - x'\| < 2\varepsilon/5.$$

Then, the forget control map

$$KK_{\varepsilon/5}(X', SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$$
 (2.4)

of Definition 2.11 is defined. As *C* satisfies the UCT, and as the restriction of π to *C* is also large, condition (ii) from Theorem 2.15 gives a finite subset *Y* of *C*₁ and $\delta > 0$ such that the forget control map

$$KK_{\delta}(Y, SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon/5}(X', SB)$$
 (2.5)

is defined and zero. Composing the forget control maps in lines (2.4) and (2.5), we have established the condition from Theorem 2.15 (ii) for *A*, and are done.

It would be interesting if one could use these techniques to recover Dadarlat's theorem without the extra nuclearity assumption on the UCT subalgebras. This would seem to require better control over the representations involved; however, compare Remark 2.8 above.

2.2 The nuclear case

In this section, we prove a stronger version of Theorem 2.15 in the special case that the C^* -algebra A is nuclear. The key ingredient for this is an averaging argument due to Christensen, Sinclair, Smith, White, and Winter [17, Section 3], which in turn relies on Haagerup's theorem [33] that nuclear C^* -algebras are amenable.

Let us recall some terminology about bimodules.

Definition 2.17. Let *A* be a unital *C**-algebra. An *A*-bimodule is a Banach space *E* equipped with left and right module actions of *A* such that $1_A e = e1_A = e$ for all $e \in E$, and such that $||ae||_E \le ||a||_A ||e||_E$ and $||ea||_E \le ||e||_E ||a||_A$ for all $a \in A$ and $e \in E$.

The following reformulation of nuclearity is implicit in [17, Section 3]; the reader is encouraged to see that reference for further background.

Lemma 2.18. Let A be a unital C*-algebra. Then, the following are equivalent:

- (i) A is nuclear;
- (ii) for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and any finite subset X of A, there exist contractions

$$a_1,\ldots,a_n\in A$$

and scalars $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in [0, 1]$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^n t_i = 1$, such that

$$\left\| 1_A - \sum_{i=1}^n t_i a_i a_i^* \right\|_A < \varepsilon,$$

and such that for any A-bimodule E, any $e \in E_1$, and any $x \in X$,

$$\left\| x \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i a_i e a_i^* \right) - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i a_i e a_i^* \right) x \right\|_E < \varepsilon.$$
 (2.6)

Proof. We will need to recall the projective tensor product of Banach spaces. Let E and F be (complex) Banach spaces, and let $E \odot F$ denote their algebraic tensor product (over \mathbb{C}). The *projective norm* of $g \in E \odot F$ is defined by

$$\|g\| := \inf \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|e_i\|_E \|f_i\|_F, \qquad (2.7)$$

where the infimum is taken over all ways of writing g as a sum $\sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \otimes f_i$ of elementary tensors. The *projective tensor product* of E and F, denoted $E \otimes F$, is the completion of $E \odot F$ for the projective norm. If A is a C*-algebra, we make $A \otimes A$ into an A-A-bimodule via the actions defined on elementary tensors by

$$a(b \otimes c) := ab \otimes c \quad \text{and} \quad (b \otimes c)a := b \otimes ca.$$
 (2.8)

Now, it is shown in [17, Lemma 3.1]⁴ that a unital C^* -algebra is nuclear if and only if the following holds: "for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and any finite subset X of A, there exist contractions $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$ and scalars $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in [0, 1]$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^n t_i = 1$, such that

$$\left\| 1_A - \sum_{i=1}^n t_i a_i a_i^* \right\|_A < \varepsilon$$

and such that

$$\left\| x \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i a_i \otimes a_i^* \right) - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i a_i \otimes a_i^* \right) x \right\|_{A \widehat{\otimes} A} < \varepsilon$$
(2.9)

for all $x \in X$." For the sake of this proof, let us call this the "CSSWW" condition. It suffices for us to show that condition (ii) is equivalent to the CSSWW condition.

First assume A satisfies condition (ii) above. Then, taking $E = A \otimes A$ and $e = 1_A \otimes 1_A$ shows that A satisfies the CSSWW condition. Conversely, say A satisfies the CSSWW condition. Let X be a finite subset of A and let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let a_1, \ldots, a_n and t_1, \ldots, t_n satisfy the properties in the CSSWW condition with respect to this X and ε . Let E be an A-bimodule, and $e \in E_1$. Consider the map

$$\pi: A \odot A \to E, \quad a \otimes b \mapsto aeb$$

from the algebraic tensor product (over \mathbb{C}) of A with itself to E. Using the definition of the projective tensor norm (line (2.7) above), it is straightforward to check that π

⁴This is based on several deep ingredients: the key points are the result of Connes [20, Corollary 2] that amenability for a C^* -algebra implies nuclearity; the converse to this due to Haagerup [33, Theorem 3.1]; and Johnson's foundational work on amenability and virtual diagonals [39, Section 1].

is contractive for that norm, whence it extends to a contractive linear map

$$\pi:A\widehat{\otimes}A\to E.$$

Moreover, the extended map π is clearly an *A*-bimodule map for the bimodule structure on $A \otimes A$ defined in line (2.8). Applying π to the expression inside the norm in line (2.9) therefore implies the inequality in line (2.6), so we are done.

Remark 2.19. We will only need to apply Lemma 2.18 in the special case that the bimodule *E* in part (ii) is a *C*^{*}-algebra containing *A* as a unital *C*^{*}-subalgebra, with the bimodule actions defined by left and right multiplication. The corresponding, formally weaker, variant of condition (ii) still implies nuclearity, as we now sketch⁵. Let *A* be a unital *C*^{*}-algebra satisfying the variant of condition (ii) from Lemma 2.18, where *E* is a *C*^{*}-algebra containing *A* as a unital *C*^{*}-subalgebra. Let $\pi : A \to \mathcal{B}(H)$ be an arbitrary unital representation, which we use to make $\mathcal{B}(H)$ an *A*-bimodule. Let *I* be the directed set consisting of all pairs $i = (X, \varepsilon)$ where *X* is a finite subset of *A*, and $\varepsilon > 0$, and where $(X, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \delta)$ if $X \subseteq Y$ and $\delta \leq \varepsilon$. For each $i = (X, \varepsilon) \in I$, let $a_1^{(i)}, \ldots, a_{n_i}^{(i)}$ have the properties in Lemma 2.18 (ii). For each *i*, define a ccp map

$$\phi_i: \mathcal{B}(H) \to \mathcal{B}(H), \quad b \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} t_j^{(i)} \pi(a_j^{(i)}) b \pi(a_j^{(i)})^*,$$

and let $\phi : \mathcal{B}(H) \to \mathcal{B}(H)$ be any point-ultraweak limit point of the net (ϕ_i) (such exists by [10, Theorem 1.3.7], for example). Then, one checks that ϕ is a conditional expectation from $\mathcal{B}(H)$ onto $\pi(A)'$, whence the latter is injective. As π was arbitrary, this implies that A is nuclear; indeed, applying this to the universal representation π implies that $\pi(A)'$ is injective, whence

$$A^{**} = \pi(A)''$$

is injective by [8, Theorem IV.2.2.7], whence A is nuclear by the main result of [16].

Variants of the next lemma we need are well-known; see for example the lemma on page 332 of [3], which we could have used for a purely qualitative version. For the sake of concreteness, we give a quantitative⁶ version.

⁵This also gives an approach to the theorem of Connes that amenable C^* -algebras are nuclear that is maybe slightly more direct than the original argument from [20, Corollary 2]. However, it still factors through the theorem that injective von Neumann algebras are semidiscrete (see [19, Theorem 6] for the case of factors, and [65] for the general case), so cannot really be said to be genuinely simpler.

⁶The estimate it gives is optimal in some sense; to see this consider $C = M_2(\mathbb{C})$, $x = \begin{pmatrix} \delta & 0 \\ 0 & 1-\delta \end{pmatrix}$, and $c = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

Lemma 2.20. Let $\delta \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$, and let x be a self-adjoint element in a C^* -algebra C with spectrum that does not intersect the interval $(\delta, 1 - \delta)$. Let χ be the characteristic function of $(\frac{1}{2}, \infty)$. Then, for any $c \in C$,

$$\|[\chi(x), c]\| \le \frac{1}{1-2\delta}\|[x, c]\|.$$

Proof. Let N > ||x||. Let γ be the positively oriented rectangular contour in the complex plane with vertices at $\frac{1}{2} \pm iN$, and $2N \pm iN$. Then, by the holomorphic functional calculus, $\chi(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} (z - x)^{-1} dz$. Hence, for any $c \in C$, $[\chi(x), c] = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} [(z - x)^{-1}, c] dz$. Applying the formula

$$[(z-x)^{-1}, c] = (z-x)^{-1}[c, x](z-x)^{-1}$$

and estimating gives

$$\|[\chi(x),c]\| \le \frac{\|[c,x]\|}{2\pi} \int_{\gamma} \|(z-x)^{-1}\|^2 d|z|.$$
(2.10)

Let γ_1 be the side of γ described by $\{\frac{1}{2} + it \mid -N \leq t \leq N\}$, and let γ_2 be the union of the other three sides. Then, for z in the image of γ_2 , the continuous functional calculus implies that

$$||(z-x)^{-1}|| \le (N - ||x||)^{-1}$$

As the length of γ_2 is 4N, we thus see that

$$\int_{\gamma_2} \|(z-x)^{-1}\|^2 \|d|z\| \le \frac{4N}{(N-\|x\|)^2}.$$
(2.11)

On the other hand, for $z = \frac{1}{2} + it$ in the image of γ_1 , the continuous functional calculus gives $||(z - x)^{-1}|| \le ((\frac{1}{2} - \delta)^2 + t^2)^{-1/2}$, whence

$$\int_{\gamma_2} \|(z-x)^{-1}\|^2 d|z| \le \int_{-N}^N \frac{1}{(\frac{1}{2}-\delta)^2 + t^2} dt$$
$$\le \int_{-\infty}^\infty \frac{1}{(\frac{1}{2}-\delta)^2 + t^2} dt = \frac{\pi}{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}.$$
(2.12)

Combining lines (2.10), (2.11), and (2.12) we get

$$\|[\chi(x), c]\| \le \frac{\|[c, x]\|}{2\pi} \left(\frac{4N}{(N - \|x\|)^2} + \frac{\pi}{\frac{1}{2} - \delta} \right).$$

Letting $N \to \infty$ gives $\|[\chi(x), c]\| \le \frac{\|[c, x]\|}{1-2\delta}$, which is the claimed estimate.

The following lemma is our key application of Lemma 2.18.

Lemma 2.21. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. Let B be a separable C^* -algebra, and let A be a separable, unital, nuclear C^* -algebra. Let $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_{SB}$ be a large representation (see Definition 2.9), and use this to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{SB} .

Let X be a finite subset of A_1 , and let (Y, δ) be an element of the set \mathcal{X}_A of Definition 2.10 such that $(X, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \delta)$. Then, there exists a finite subset Z of A_1 containing X and a homomorphism

$$\phi_*: KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, B) \to KK_{\delta}(Y, B)$$

such that the following diagram



(where the unlabeled maps are forget control maps as in Definition 2.11) commutes.

Proof. Let X, Y, and δ be as in the statement. If $\delta \ge \varepsilon/8$, we may just take Z = Y and ϕ_* the forget control map. Assume then that $\delta < \varepsilon/8$. According to Lemma 2.18 there exists contractions $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$ and $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in [0, 1]$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^n t_i = 1$, such that

$$\left\| 1_A - \sum_{i=1}^n t_i a_i a_i^* \right\|_A < \delta/4$$

and such that for all $y \in Y$ and b in the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B ,

$$\left\| y\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{i}a_{i}ba_{i}^{*}\right) - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{i}a_{i}ba_{i}^{*}\right)y \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{SB}} < \delta/4.$$
(2.13)

We set $Z := X \cup \{a_1^*, \dots, a_n^*\}$, and claim this works.

Let $p \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, B)$, let $e \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be the neutral projection (see Definition 2.1), and define

$$\alpha(p) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i a_i p a_i^* + \left(e - \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i a_i e a_i^* \right) \in \mathcal{L}_B.$$

As the representation is large, we may use the fixed isomorphism $\ell^2 \otimes B \cong \mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \ell^2 \otimes B$ to identify \mathcal{L}_B with $M_2(\mathcal{L}_B)$ and have that with respect to this identification, operators in A are diagonal matrices, and $e = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. In particular, e commutes with all the a_i , and so we have

$$\|p - \alpha(p)\| \le \left\| \left(1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{i} a_{i} a_{i}^{*} \right) p \right\| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{i} \|a_{i}[p, a_{i}^{*}]\| + \left\| \left(1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{i} a_{i} a_{i}^{*} \right) e \right\| < \frac{\delta}{4} + \frac{\varepsilon}{8} + \frac{\delta}{4}.$$
(2.14)

As $\delta < \varepsilon/8$ and as $\varepsilon < 1$, we see that $||p - \alpha(p)|| < \frac{1}{4}$. As p is a projection, Lemma 2.3 implies that

spectrum(
$$\alpha(p)$$
) \cap (1/4, 3/4) = \emptyset . (2.15)

Let χ be the characteristic function of $(\frac{1}{2}, \infty)$, so χ is continuous on the spectrum of $\alpha(p)$ and we may define $\phi(p) := \chi(\alpha(p))$. The rest of the proof will be spent showing that the formula $[p] \mapsto [\phi(p)]$ defines a homomorphism

$$\phi_*: KK_{\varepsilon/6}(Z, B) \to KK_{\delta}(Y, B)$$

with the claimed properties.

We first claim that if $p \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, B)$, then $\phi(p)$ is in $\mathcal{P}_{\delta}(Y, B)$. Note first that

$$\alpha(p) - e = \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i a_i (p - e) a_i^*,$$

which is in \mathcal{K}_B . As \mathcal{K}_B is an ideal in \mathcal{L}_B , it follows $f(\alpha(p)) - f(e)$ is in \mathcal{K}_B for any polynomial f. Letting (f_n) be a sequence of polynomials that converges uniform to χ on the spectrum of $\alpha(p)$ and letting $n \to \infty$, we see that $\chi(\alpha(p)) - e$ is in \mathcal{K}_B . Let now $y \in Y$ and apply the inequality in line (2.13) once with b = p and once with b = e (and use that [e, y] = 0) to deduce that

$$\|[\alpha(p), y]\| < \delta/2.$$
 (2.16)

Lines (2.16), (2.15), and Lemma 2.20 imply that $\|[\chi(\alpha(p)), y]\| < \delta$, completing the proof that $\phi(p)$ is an element of $\mathcal{P}_{\delta}(Y, B)$. Moreover, it is straightforward to see that the assignment

$$\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon/8}(Z,B) \to \mathcal{P}_{\delta}(Y,B), \quad p \mapsto \phi(p)$$

takes homotopies to homotopies and Cuntz sums to Cuntz sums. Hence, we do indeed get a well-defined homomorphism

$$\phi_* : KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, B) \to KK_{\delta}(Y, B), \quad [p] \mapsto [\phi(p)]$$

as claimed.

It remains to show that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z,B) \\ & \phi_* \downarrow \\ & KK_{\delta}(Y,B) \longrightarrow KK_{\varepsilon}(X,B) \end{array}$$

commutes. For this, let $p \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, B)$ represent a class in $KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, B)$, and for $t \in [0, 1]$, define

$$p_t := (1-t)p + t\alpha(p).$$

Then, by line (2.14), we have that $||p_t - p|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{8} + \frac{\delta}{2} < \frac{1}{4}$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$, so in particular

spectrum
$$(p_t) \cap (1/3, 3/4) = \emptyset$$
 for all $t \in [0, 1]$. (2.17)

Hence, $\chi(p_t)$ is a well-defined projection for all $t \in [0, 1]$. We claim that $\chi(p_t)$ is an element of $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$; as $\chi(p_1) = \chi(\alpha(p))$ and $\chi(p_0) = p$, this will complete the proof.

For this last claim, note first that $p_t - e \in \mathcal{K}_B$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$, whence (analogously to the case of $\chi(\alpha(p))$ argued above) $\chi(p_t) - e \in \mathcal{K}_B$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$. Moreover, for all $z \in Z$,

$$\|[p_t, z]\| \le \|[p_t - p, z]\| + \|[p, z]\| < 2\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{8} + \frac{\delta}{2}\right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{8} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2},$$

where the last inequality used that $\delta < \varepsilon/8$. Hence, by line (2.17) and Lemma 2.20, $\|[\chi(p_t), z]\| < \varepsilon$ for all $z \in Z$, and so in particular for all $z \in X$. This completes the proof that $\chi(p_t) \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$, so we are done.

Corollary 2.22. Let A be a separable, unital, nuclear C*-algebra. The following are equivalent:

- (i) A satisfies the UCT.
- (ii) Let $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, and let B be a separable C*-algebra B with $K_*(B) = 0$. Let

$$\pi: A \to \mathcal{L}_{SB}$$

be a large representation, and use this to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{SB} . Then, for any finite subset X of A_1 there is a finite subset Z of A_1 such that $(X, \varepsilon) \leq (Z, \varepsilon/8)$ in the sense of Definition 2.10, and so that the forget control map

$$KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon}(X, SB)$$

of Definition 2.11 is zero.

Proof. Using Theorem 2.15, it suffices to show that condition (ii) from that theorem implies condition (ii) from the current corollary (the converse is immediate). Let then ε , B, π , and X be as in the statement. Then, condition (ii) from Theorem 2.15 gives $(Y, \delta) \ge (X, \varepsilon)$ in the sense of Definition 2.10 such that the associated forget control map

$$KK_{\delta}(Y, SB) \rightarrow KK_{\varepsilon}(X, SB)$$

of Definition 2.11 is zero. Lemma 2.21 then gives a finite subset Z of A_1 containing X and a homomorphism

$$\phi_*: KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z, SB) \to KK_{\delta}(Y, SB), \quad [p] \mapsto [\phi(p)]$$
such that the following diagram



commutes (the unlabeled arrows are forget control maps). Hence, the diagonal forget control map in the above diagram is zero, which is what we wanted to show.

Chapter 3

Flexible models for controlled KK-theory

In this section (as throughout), if *B* is a separable C^* -algebra, then \mathcal{L}_B and \mathcal{K}_B denote respectively the adjointable and compact operators on the standard Hilbert *B*-module $\ell^2 \otimes B$. For each *n*, we consider \mathcal{L}_B as a subalgebra of $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$ via the "diagonal inclusion" $\mathcal{L}_B = 1_{M_n} \otimes \mathcal{L}_B \subseteq M_n \otimes \mathcal{L}_B = M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$.

Our goal in this chapter is to give flexible models for controlled KK-theory that will be useful for computations. Contrary to the usual conventions of C^* -algebra K-theory, we base our new even and odd groups on idempotents and invertibles rather than projections and unitaries. The extra flexibility this allows is very useful for computations. The main reason for not writing the whole paper using the more flexible model is that we previously established Theorem 2.13 in [68] using the version of controlled KK-theory from Definition 2.2 above, so need to use that model where we are directly applying Theorem 2.13. Moreover, we need the results from Chapter 4 in the current paper (which are also independently needed in Chapter 6) to relate the two models.

3.1 The even case

Our goal in this section is to define a variant of the controlled *KK*-theory groups of Chapter 2, but based on idempotents rather than projections. For the next definition, we recall that C^+ denotes the unitization of a C^* -algebra C, and that if $a \in M_n(C)$ and $b \in M_m(C)$ are matrices over a C^* -algebra, then $a \oplus b$ denotes the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix}$ in $M_{n+m}(C)$.

Definition 3.1. Let *B* be a separable *C*^{*}-algebra, let *X* be a subset¹ of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , let $\kappa \ge 1$, let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Define $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ to be the collection of pairs (p,q) of idempotents in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+)$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (i) $||p|| \le \kappa$ and $||q|| \le \kappa$;
- (ii) $||[p, x]|| < \varepsilon$ and $||[q, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$;
- (iii) the classes $[\sigma(p)], [\sigma(q)] \in K_0(\mathbb{C})$ defined by the images of p and q under the canonical quotient map $\sigma : M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \to M_n(\mathbb{C})$ are the same.

¹Unlike Definition 2.2, we do not require X to be "large" in the sense of Definition 2.1. Essentially, largeness is needed to ensure that the sets $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ of Definition 2.2 are groups; we show the sets we define in Definition 3.1 are groups by using matrix arguments and a weaker equivalence relation in this definition.

Define

$$\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) := \bigsqcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B),$$

i.e., $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ is the *disjoint* union of all the sets $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$.

Equip each $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ with the norm topology it inherits from $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B) \oplus M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$, and equip $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ with the disjoint union topology. Let \sim be the equivalence relation on $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ generated by the following relations:

- (i) $(p,q) \sim (p \oplus r, q \oplus r)$ for any element $(r,r) \in \mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ with both components the same;
- (ii) $(p_1, q_1) \sim (p_2, q_2)$ whenever these elements are in the same path component of $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$.²

Define $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ to be equal as a set to $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)/\sim$, and provisionally define a binary operation + on $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ by

$$[p_1, q_1] + [p_2, q_2] := [p_1 \oplus q_1, p_2 \oplus q_2].$$

The next lemma is essentially the same as [68, Lemma A.21].

Lemma 3.2. With notation as in Definition 3.1, $KK^{0}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ is a well-defined abelian group with identity element the class [0, 0] of the zero idempotent.

Proof. Checking directly from the definitions shows that $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is a well-defined (associative) monoid with identity element the class [0, 0]. A standard rotation homotopy shows that $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is commutative. To complete the proof we need to show that any element [p, q] has an inverse. We claim that this is given by [q, p]. Indeed, applying the rotation homotopy

$$\left(\begin{pmatrix} p & 0\\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & \sin(t)\\ -\sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} q & 0\\ 0 & p \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & -\sin(t)\\ \sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix} \right), \quad t \in [0, \pi/2]$$

shows that $(p \oplus q, q \oplus p) \sim (p \oplus q, p \oplus q)$, and the element $(p \oplus q, p \oplus q)$ is equivalent to (0, 0) by definition of the equivalence relation.

The following lemma gives a useful description of cycles $(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ that define the zero class in $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$.

Lemma 3.3. With notation as in Definition 3.1, let $(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, and assume that [p,q] = 0 in $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$. Then, there is $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and an element (s, s) of $\mathcal{P}_{n+2m,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ such that $(p \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m, q \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m)$ is in the same path component of $\mathcal{P}_{n+2m,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ as (s, s).

²Equivalently, both are in the same $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, and are in the same path component of this set.

Proof. For elements (p_1, q_1) and (p_2, q_2) in $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ let us write $(p_1, q_1) \rightarrow (p_2, q_2)$ if

$$(p_2, q_2) = (p_1 \oplus r, q_1 \oplus r)$$

for some $(r, r) \in \mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$; $(p_1, q_1) \stackrel{h}{\sim} (p_2, q_2)$ if there is a path connecting these elements; and $(p_1, q_1) \leftarrow (p_2, q_2)$ if $(p_2, q_2) \rightarrow (p_1, q_1)$. Then, [p, q] = 0 means that there is some sequence of moves from $\{\rightarrow, \leftarrow, \stackrel{h}{\sim}\}$ starting at (p, q) and finishing at (0, 0). It is not difficult to see the following: any time a move from $\{\rightarrow, \leftarrow, \stackrel{h}{\sim}\}$ is consecutively repeated we may replace it by a single move of the same type; any occurrence of " $\stackrel{h}{\sim} \rightarrow$ " may be replaced by an occurrence of " $\rightarrow \stackrel{h}{\sim}$ "; any occurrence of " $\leftarrow \stackrel{h}{\sim}$ " may be replaced by an occurrence of " $\stackrel{h}{\sim} \leftarrow$ "; any occurrence of " $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ " or " $\leftarrow \stackrel{h}{\sim} \rightarrow$ " may be replaced by " $\rightarrow \stackrel{h}{\sim} \leftarrow$ " (we leave the details to the reader in each case). Using these replacements, we see that our moves relating (p, q) to (0, 0) may be assumed to be of the form

$$(p,q) \rightarrow \stackrel{h}{\sim} \leftarrow (0,0),$$

or in other words that there are elements (r, r) and (t, t) in $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ such that $(p \oplus r, q \oplus r)$ is homotopic to (t, t).

To complete the proof, note then that $(p \oplus r \oplus 1 - r, q \oplus r \oplus 1 - r)$ is homotopic to $(t \oplus 1 - r, t \oplus 1 - r)$. For $t \in [0, \pi/2]$, define

$$r_t := \begin{pmatrix} r & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & -\sin(t) \\ \sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1-r \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & \sin(t) \\ -\sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

so $(r_t)_{t \in [0,\pi/2]}$ is a path connecting $r \oplus 1 - r$ and $1 \oplus 0$. One computes that $||r_t|| \le 1 + \kappa \le 2\kappa$ for all t, and that $||[r_t, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. Hence, with $s = t \oplus 1 - r$ we get the claimed result.

We will need a more general variation of Definitions 2.10 and 2.11.

Definition 3.4. Let *C* be a *C*^{*}-algebra. Let \mathcal{X}'_C consist of all triples of the form (X, κ, ε) where *X* is a finite subset of the unit ball of *C*, $\kappa \ge 1$, and $\varepsilon > 0$. Put a partial order on \mathcal{X}'_C by $(X, \kappa, \varepsilon) \le (Y, \lambda, \delta)$ if $\delta \le \varepsilon, \lambda \le \kappa$ and if for all $x \in X$ there exists $y \in Y$ with $||x - y|| \le \frac{1}{2\lambda}(\varepsilon - \delta)$.

Let now *B* be a separable *C*^{*}-algebra. Then, if $(X, \kappa, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \lambda, \delta)$ in $\mathcal{X}'_{\mathcal{L}_B}$, one checks that for each *n* we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{n\lambda,\delta}(Y,B) \subseteq \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B). \tag{3.1}$$

We call the canonical map

$$KK^0_{\lambda,\delta}(Y,B) \to KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$$

induced by the inclusions in line (3.1) above a *forget control map*.

3.2 The odd case

Our goal in this section is to introduce an odd parity version of the controlled KK-theory groups of the previous section. For the statement, recall that C^+ denotes the unitization of a C^* -algebra C.

Definition 3.5. Let *B* be a separable *C**-algebra, let *X* be a subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , let $\kappa \ge 1$, let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Define $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ to be the subset of those invertible elements *u* in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+)$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (i) $||u|| \leq \kappa$ and $||u^{-1}|| \leq \kappa$;
- (ii) $||[u, x]|| < \varepsilon$ and $||[u^{-1}, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$.

Define

$$\mathcal{U}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) := \bigsqcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B),$$

i.e., $\mathcal{U}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is the *disjoint* union of all the sets $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$.

Equip each $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ with the norm topology it inherits from $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$, and equip $\bigsqcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ with the disjoint union topology. Define an equivalence relation on $\mathcal{U}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ to be generated by the following relations:

(i) for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, if $1_k \in \mathcal{U}_{k,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is the identity element, then

$$u \sim u \oplus 1_k;$$

(ii) $u_1 \sim u_2$ if both are elements of the same path component of $\mathcal{U}_{\infty,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$.³ Define $KK^1_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ to be $\mathcal{U}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)/\sim$, and provisionally define a binary operation + on $KK^1_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ by

$$[u_1] + [u_2] := [u_1 \oplus u_2].$$

Lemma 3.6. With notation as in Definition 3.5, $KK^{1}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ is a well-defined abelian group with identity element the class $[1_B]$ of the unit of B.

Proof. It is straightforward to check that $KK^{1}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is a monoid, and the class [1] is neutral by definition. A standard rotation homotopy shows that $KK^{1}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is commutative. It remains to show that inverses exist. We claim that for $u \in \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, the inverse of the class [u] is given by $[u^{-1}]$. Indeed, consider the homotopy

$$u_t := \begin{pmatrix} u & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & -\sin(t) \\ \sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & u^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & \sin(t) \\ -\sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad t \in [0, \pi/2].$$

³Equivalently, both are in the same $\mathcal{U}_{n,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, and are in the same path component of this set. Notice also the switch from κ to 2κ here, which is needed for our proof that $KK^{1}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is a group.

This connects $u \oplus u^{-1}$ and 1_{2k} , so it suffices to show that this passes through $\mathcal{U}_{2n,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$. For the commutator condition, we compute that for $a \in X$ and $t \in [0, 2\pi]$

$$[a, u_t] = \begin{pmatrix} [a, u] & 0\\ 0 & [u^{-1}, a] \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos^2(t) & \cos(t)\sin(t)\\ \cos(t)\sin(t) & -\cos^2(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The scalar matrix on the right has norm $|\cos(t)|$, and the matrix on the left has norm at most $\max\{\|[a, u]\|, \|[a, u^{-1}]\|\} < \varepsilon$, so $\|[a, u_t]\| < \varepsilon$. For the norm condition, we compute that

$$u_t = \begin{pmatrix} u & 0 \\ 0 & -u^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos^2(t) & \cos(t)\sin(t) \\ \cos(t)\sin(t) & -\cos^2(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \sin^2(t) & -\cos(t)\sin(t) \\ \cos(t)\sin(t) & \sin^2(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The first scalar matrix appearing above has norm $|\cos(t)|$, and the second has norm $|\sin(t)|$. We thus have that $||u_t|| \le \kappa |\cos(t)| + |\sin(t)|$, which is at most⁴ 2κ as required.

Definition 3.7. Let *C* be a *C*^{*}-algebra, and let \mathcal{X}'_{C} be the directed set of Definition 3.4 above. Let *B* be a separable *C*^{*}-algebra. Then, if $(X, \kappa, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \lambda, \delta)$ in $\mathcal{X}'_{\mathcal{X}_{B}}$, one checks that for each *n* we have

$$\mathcal{U}_{n,\lambda,\delta}(Y,B) \subseteq \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) \tag{3.2}$$

for all *n*. We call the canonical map

$$KK^{1}_{\lambda \delta}(Y, B) \subseteq KK^{1}_{\kappa, \varepsilon}(X, B)$$

induced by the inclusions in line (3.2) above a *forget control map*.

⁴We suspect the optimal estimate is κ – this is the case if *u* is normal, for example – but were unable to do better than $\sqrt{1 + \kappa^2}$ in general.

Chapter 4

Homotopies, similarities, and normalization

In this chapter (as throughout), if *B* is a separable C^* -algebra, then \mathcal{L}_B and \mathcal{K}_B denote respectively the adjointable and compact operators on the standard Hilbert *B*-module $\ell^2 \otimes B$. For each *n*, we consider \mathcal{L}_B as a subalgebra of $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$ via the "diagonal inclusion" $\mathcal{L}_B = 1_{M_n} \otimes \mathcal{L}_B \subseteq M_n \otimes \mathcal{L}_B = M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$.

Our goal is to establish some technical lemmas about the controlled *KK*-groups $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ and $KK^1_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ and the underlying sets of cycles $\mathcal{P}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ and $\mathcal{U}_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ from Definitions 3.1 and 3.5 respectively. These are all variants of standard facts from *C**-algebra *K*-theory, but the arguments are more involved as we need to do extra work to control commutator estimates. Some of the material is adapted from the foundational work of Oyono-Oyono and the second author on controlled *K*-theory [47]; those authors work in the "dual" setting to us in some sense, and similar techniques are often useful.

Most of the results in this chapter come with explicit estimates. We have generally not tried to get optimal estimates, but as it might be useful for future work we have tried to point out where one might expect the estimates to be optimal where this is simple to do.

4.1 Background on idempotents

In this section we look at idempotents in C^* -algebras and their relationship to projections. Most of this is well-known; nonetheless, we give proofs for the sake of completeness where we could not find a good reference.

To establish notation, let us first note that if $p \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ is an idempotent, then with respect to the decomposition $H = \text{Image}(p) \oplus \text{Image}(p)^{\perp}$, p has a matrix representation

$$p = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.1}$$

for some $a \in \mathcal{B}(\text{Image}(p)^{\perp}, \text{Image}(p))$; conversely, any operator admitting a matrix of this form with respect to some orthogonal direct sum decomposition of the underlying Hilbert space defines an idempotent.

Lemma 4.1. If *p* is an idempotent bounded operator on a Hilbert space that is neither zero nor the identity, then

$$||1 - p|| = ||p||$$
 and $||p - p^*|| \le ||p||$.

Proof. Writing p as in line (4.1) (and using that neither Image(p) nor $\text{Image}(p)^{\perp}$ are the zero subspace), we compute that

$$\|p\|^{2} = \|pp^{*}\| = \|1 + aa^{*}\| = 1 + \|a\|^{2}$$
(4.2)

and moreover that

$$||1 - p||^2 = ||(1 - p)^*(1 - p)|| = ||1 + a^*a|| = 1 + ||a||^2 = ||p||^2.$$

Looking now at $p - p^*$, we see that

$$(p-p^*)(p-p^*)^* = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ -a^* & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -a \\ a^* & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} aa^* & 0 \\ 0 & a^*a \end{pmatrix},$$

whence $||p - p^*||^2 = ||a||^2 \le ||p||^2$.

Corollary 4.2. If $\kappa \ge 1$, and p is any idempotent in a C^* -algebra with $||p|| \le \kappa$, then $||1 - p|| \le \kappa$, $||p - p^*|| \le \kappa$, and $||2p - 1|| \le 2\kappa$.

Proof. The estimates for ||1 - p|| and $||p - p^*||$ are immediate from Lemma 4.1 (and direct checks for the degenerate cases p = 0 and p = 1). The estimate for 2p - 1 follows as

$$2p - 1 = p - (1 - p).$$

It will be convenient to formalize a standard construction in C^* -algebra K-theory for turning idempotents into projections (compare for example [7, Proposition 4.6.2]).

Definition 4.3. Let p be an idempotent in a C^* -algebra C. Define

$$z := 1 + (p - p^*)(p^* - p) \in C^+,$$

and note that $z \ge 1_{C^+}$ so z is invertible. Define

$$r := pp^* z^{-1},$$

which is an element of C. We call r the projection¹ associated to p.

Remark 4.4. If C is a concrete C^* -algebra and p is an idempotent with matrix representation as in line (4.1), then one computes that the associated projection has matrix representation

$$r = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.3}$$

with respect to the same decomposition of the underlying Hilbert space. In particular, r is the projection with the same image as the idempotent p.

¹It will be shown to be a projection in the next lemma.

Lemma 4.5. Let p be an idempotent in a C^* -algebra C, and assume that $||p|| \le \kappa$ for some $\kappa \ge 1$. Let r be the projection associated to p as in Definition 4.3, and for $t \in [0, 1]$ define $r_t := (1 - t)p + tr$. Then, the following hold:

- (i) The element r is a projection in C, and there is an invertible $u \in C^+$ such that $upu^{-1} = r$. Moreover, u and its inverse have norm at most 1 + ||p||, and u is connected to the identity through a path of invertibles such that all the invertibles in the path and all of their inverses have norm at most 1 + ||p||.
- (ii) Each r_t is an idempotent such that $||r_t|| \le \kappa$ for all t, and the map $t \mapsto r_t$ is κ -Lipschitz.
- (iii) For any $c \in C$ and $t \in [0, 1]$ we have

$$||[r_t, c]|| \le (1+2t)||[p, c]|| + t ||[p, c^*]||.$$

(iv) The map

$$\{p \in C \mid p = p^2\} \to \{p \in C \mid p = p^2 = p^*\}$$

that takes an idempotent to its associated projection is 1-Lipschitz.

Proof. Part (i) as in line (4.1), we may write $p = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, and note as in line (4.2) that $||p|| = \sqrt{1 + ||a||^2}$, so in particular $||a|| \le ||p||$. Using the discussion in Remark 4.4 we see that $u = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ satisfies $upu^{-1} = r$, and that the path $u_t = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & ta \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ connects u to the identity through invertibles of norm at most $1 + ||ta|| \le 1 + ||p||$. The claims on the norms of the inverses follow as $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & ta \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -ta \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$.

(Or see for example the proof of [7, Proposition 4.6.2]).

For part (ii), we write *p* as in line (4.1), note that $||a|| \le \kappa$, and also that *r* has the matrix representation as in line (4.3). This implies the claimed properties.

For part (iii), we again write p as a matrix as in line (4.1). Let $c \in C$, and with respect to the same decomposition of the underlying Hilbert space, let us write

$$c = \begin{pmatrix} c_{11} & c_{12} \\ c_{21} & c_{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, one computes that

$$[p,c] = \begin{pmatrix} ac_{21} & c_{12} + ac_{22} - c_{11}a \\ -c_{21} & -c_{21}a \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.4)

As the conditional expectation that sends a matrix to its diagonal is contractive, we have

$$\left\| \begin{pmatrix} ac_{21} & 0\\ 0 & -c_{21}a \end{pmatrix} \right\| \le \| [p,c] \|$$

and combining this with line (4.4) gives

$$\left\| \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{12} + ac_{22} - c_{11}a \\ -c_{21} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\| \le 2 \| [p, c] \|.$$
(4.5)

One computes that the top right entry of $[p - p^*, c]$ is $ac_{22} - c_{11}a$, whence

$$||ac_{22} - c_{11}a|| \le ||[p - p^*, c]|| \le ||[p, c]|| + ||[p, c^*]||.$$

This and line (4.5) together imply that

$$\left\| \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{12} \\ -c_{21} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\| \le 3 \|[p,c]\| + \|[p,c^*]\|.$$
(4.6)

As *r* has the matrix representation from line (4.3), the left-hand side of the inequality in line (4.6) equals ||[r, c]||, and so line (4.6) can be rewritten as the inequality $||[r, c]|| \le 3||[p, c]|| + ||[p, c^*]||$. As $r_t = (1 - t)p + tr$, this implies the claimed estimate.

For part (iv) we may assume that *C* is a concrete C^* -algebra. As noted in Remark 4.4, the projection *r* associated to an idempotent *p* is then simply the orthogonal projection with the same image as *p*. In this language, part (iv) is [41, Chapter One, Theorem 6.35].

4.2 From similarities to homotopies

Our goal in this short section is to establish an analogue of the standard K-theoretic fact that similar idempotents are homotopic, at least up to increasing matrix sizes. Compare for example [7, Proposition 4.4.1].

Proposition 4.6. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra, let *X* be a subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , and let $\kappa \ge 1$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Let (p_0, q) and (p_1, q) be elements of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, and let $u \in \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ be such that $up_0u^{-1} = p_1$. Then, the elements $(p_0 \oplus 0_n, q \oplus 0_n)$ and $(p_1 \oplus 0_n, q \oplus 0_n)$ are in the same path component of $\mathcal{P}_{2n,\kappa^3,3\kappa^2\varepsilon}(X, B)$, and in particular, (p_0, q) and (p_1, q) define the same class in $KK^0_{\kappa^3,3\kappa^2\varepsilon}(X, B)$.

The analogous statement holds with the roles of the first ("p") and second ("q") components reversed.

Proof. Define

$$v_t := \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & -\sin(t) \\ \sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & u \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & \sin(t) \\ -\sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix} \in M_{2n}(\mathcal{K}_B^+).$$

Then, the path

$$t \mapsto (v_t(p_0 \oplus 0_n)v_t^{-1}, q \oplus 0_n), \quad t \in [0, \pi/2]$$

connects $(p_0 \oplus 0_n, q \oplus 0_n)$ to $(p_1 \oplus 0_n, q \oplus 0_n)$ through $\mathcal{P}_{2n,\kappa^3,3\kappa^2\varepsilon}(X, B)$. We leave the direct checks involved to the reader.

4.3 Normalization

Our goal in this section is to show that cycles for $KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ and $KK^1_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ can be assumed to have prescribed "scalar part", at least up to some deterioration of κ and ε .

The following lemma is well-known without the Lipschitz condition²; see for example [7, Theorem 4.6.7] or [36, Corollary 4.1.8].

Lemma 4.7. Let L > 0. Then, if $(p_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ is an L-Lipschitz path of projections in a unital C^* -algebra C, there is a (3L)-Lipschitz path $(u_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ of unitaries in C such that $u_0 = 1$, and such that $p_t = u_t p_0 u_t^*$ for all $t \in [0,1]$.

We need a preliminary lemma.

Lemma 4.8. Let $\eta \ge 1$, and let C be a unital C^{*}-algebra. Then, the map

$$\{c \in C \mid c \ge \eta^{-1}\} \to C, \quad c \mapsto c^{-1/2}$$

is $\frac{1}{2}\eta^{3/2}$ -Lipschitz³.

Proof. For any positive real number t, one has

$$t^{-1/2} = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^\infty (\lambda^2 + t)^{-1} d\lambda,$$

whence for any positive invertible elements $c, d \in C$

$$c^{-1/2} - d^{-1/2} = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^\infty \left((\lambda^2 + c)^{-1} - (\lambda^2 + d)^{-1} \right) d\lambda.$$
(4.7)

Using the formula

$$(\lambda^2 + c)^{-1} - (\lambda^2 + d)^{-1} = (\lambda^2 + c)^{-1}(d - c)(\lambda^2 + d)^{-1}$$

and assuming that $c \ge \eta^{-1}$ and $d \ge \eta^{-1}$, the continuous functional calculus implies that

$$\|(\lambda^2 + c)^{-1} - (\lambda^2 + d)^{-1}\| \le \|c - d\|(\lambda^2 + \eta^{-1})^{-2}.$$

²The constant 3 appearing in the statement is not optimal; one can see from the proof that 3 can be replaced with $2 + \varepsilon$, for any $\varepsilon > 0$. We do not know what the optimal constant is.

³The constant is optimal in some sense; this follows as the absolute value if the derivative of the function $t \mapsto t^{-1/2}$ on $[\eta^{-1}, \infty)$ has maximum value $\frac{1}{2}\eta^{3/2}$.

This inequality and line (4.7) imply that

$$\|c^{-1/2} - d^{-1/2}\| \le \frac{2\|c - d\|}{\pi} \int_0^\infty (\lambda^2 + \eta^{-1})^{-2} d\lambda.$$

The integral on the right-hand side equals $(\pi \eta^{3/2})/4$, whence the result.

Proof of Lemma 4.7. We first claim that it suffices to show we can choose a $\delta > 0$ such that if $[t_1, t_2]$ is a sub-interval of [0, 1] of length at most δ , and $t \mapsto p_t$ is a projection-valued *L*-Lipschitz function on $[t_1, t_2]$, then there is a unitary-valued (3L)-Lipschitz function $t \mapsto u_t$ on $[t_1, t_2]$ such that $u_0 = 1$ and $p_t = u_t p_0 u_t^*$ for all $t \in [t_1, t_2]$. Indeed, if we can do this, then let $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_N = 1$ be a partition of the interval [0, 1] such that each subinterval has length at most δ , and for each $i \in \{0, \ldots, N-1\}$ choose a unitary-valued (3L)-Lipschitz function $t \mapsto u_t^{(i)}$ on $[t_i, t_{i+1}]$ such that $u_{t_i}^{(i)} = 1$ and $p_t = u_t^{(i)} p_{t_i}(u_t^{(i)})^*$ for all $t \in [t_i, t_{i+1}]$. The function on [0, 1] defined on each subinterval $[t_i, t_{i+1}]$ by

$$t \mapsto u_t^{(i)} u_{t_i}^{(i-1)} u_{t_{i-1}}^{(i-2)} \cdots u_{t_1}^{(0)}$$

then has the right properties to establish the lemma.

Let us then establish the statement in the claim. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be small enough that

$$(1 - (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon)^{-1/2} + (1 + \varepsilon)^2 (1 - (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon)^{-3/2} \le 3,$$

and let $\delta > 0$ be such that if $t, s \in [0, 1]$ satisfy $|t - s| \le \delta$, then $||p_s - p_t|| < \varepsilon$. Let $[t_1, t_2]$ be an interval of length at most δ . For $t \in [t_1, t_2]$, define

$$x_t := p_t p_{t_1} + (1 - p_t)(1 - p_{t_1})$$

and note that

$$||x_t - 1|| = ||(2p_t - 1)(p_{t_1} - p_t)|| \le ||2p_t - 1|| ||p_{t_1} - p_t|| < \varepsilon,$$

and so each x_t is invertible, $||x_t|| < 1 + \varepsilon$, and also $||x_t^{-1}|| < (1 - \varepsilon)^{-1}$ by the Neumann series formula for the inverse. One computes that $x_t p_{t_1} = p_t p_{t_1} = p_t x_t$, and so $x_t p_{t_1} x_t^{-1} = p_t$. Moreover, $p_{t_1} x_t^* = x_t^* p_t$, and so $p_{t_1} x_t^* x_t = x_t^* p_t x_t = x_t^* x_t p_{t_1}$, i.e., $x_t^* x_t$ commutes with p_{t_1} . If we define $w_t := x_t (x_t^* x_t)^{-1/2}$, we have that w_t is unitary and moreover

$$w_t p_{t_1} w_t^{-1} = x_t (x_t^* x_t)^{-1/2} p_{t_1} (x_t^* x_t)^{1/2} x_t^{-1} = x_t p_{t_1} x_t^{-1} = p_t.$$

It remains to show that the path defined on $[t_1, t_2]$ by $t \mapsto w_t$ is (3L)-Lipschitz.

We first note that for $s, t \in [t_1, t_2]$, we have that

$$||x_s - x_t|| = ||(p_t - p_s)(2p_{t_1} - 1)|| \le ||p_t - p_s|| \le L|s - t|$$
(4.8)

by assumption that (p_t) is *L*-Lipschitz. Using that $||x_t|| < 1 + \varepsilon$, this implies that for any $s, t \in [t_1, t_2]$

$$\|x_t^* x_t - x_s^* x_s\| \le \|x_t^* - x_s^*\| \|x_t\| + \|x_s^*\| \|x_t - x_s\| < 2(1+\varepsilon)L|s-t|.$$

Moreover, $||1 - x_t^* x_t|| < (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon$, whence $1 - (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon \le x_t^* x_t$ and so in particular

$$\|(x_t^* x_t)^{-1/2}\| \le (1 - (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon)^{-1/2} \quad \text{for all } t \in [t_1, t_2].$$
(4.9)

Hence, moreover Lemma 4.8 (with $\eta = (1 - (2 + \varepsilon))^{-1}$) implies that for any $s, t \in [t_1, t_2]$

$$\|(x_t^* x_t)^{-1/2} - (x_s^* x_s)^{-1/2}\| \le (1 - (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon)^{-3/2} (1 + \varepsilon)L|s - t|.$$
(4.10)

Lines (4.8), (4.10), and (4.9) combined with the fact that

$$\|x_t\| < 1 + \varepsilon$$

for all $t \in [t_1, t_2]$ implies that for any $s, t \in [t_1, t_2]$

$$||w_t - w_s|| \le ||x_t - x_s|| ||(x_t^* x_t)^{-1/2}|| + ||x_s|| ||(x_t^* x_t)^{-1/2} - (x_s^* x_s)^{-1/2}||$$

$$\le (1 - (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon)^{-1/2}L|s - t| + (1 + \varepsilon)^2(1 - (2 + \varepsilon)\varepsilon)^{-3/2}L|s - t|$$

which implies the desired estimate by choice of ε .

For the statement of the next definition, recall that for $l \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we let $1_l \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$ be the rank l projection with l ones in the top-left part of the diagonal and zeros elsewhere.

Definition 4.9. With notation as in Definition 3.1, define

$$\mathcal{P}^{1}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) := \{ (p,q) \in \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) \mid \exists l \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } (p,q) - (1_l, 1_l) \\ \text{ is in } M_n(\mathcal{K}_B) \oplus M_n(\mathcal{K}_B) \}.$$

Define $\mathcal{P}^1_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ to be the disjoint union of these sets as *n* ranges over \mathbb{N} .

Here, is the first of our main goals for this section; it allows control of the "scalar part" of cycles for $KK^0_{\kappa,\kappa}(X, B)$.

Proposition 4.10. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Let *X* be a self-adjoint⁴ subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , let $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\kappa \ge 1$, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

(i) Any element $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ is in the same path component of $\mathcal{P}_{n,4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ as an element of $\mathcal{P}_{n,4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}^1(X,B)^5$.

⁴We mean here that $X = X^*$, not the stronger assumption that every $x \in X$ is self-adjoint. ⁵If $\kappa = 1$, one can replace $4\kappa^3$ with 1 in the statement; we leave the details to the reader.

(ii) If two elements (p_0, q_0) and (p_1, q_1) of $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ are connected by a path in $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, then they are connected by a path in $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,4\varepsilon}(X, B)$. Moreover, if $L \ge 1$ is such that there is an L-Lipschitz path in $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ connecting (p_0, q_0) and (p_1, q_1) , then there is a $(20\kappa L)$ -Lipschitz path in $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,4\varepsilon}(X, B)$ connecting (p_0, q_0) and (p_1, q_1) .

Proof of Proposition 4.10. For part (i), we assume that (p, q) is an element of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$. Hence, by definition of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, if \mathcal{K}_B^+ is the unitization of \mathcal{K}_B and $\sigma : M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \to M_n(\mathbb{C})$ is the canonical quotient map then the classes $[\sigma(p)]$ and $[\sigma(q)]$ in $K_0(\mathbb{C})$ are the same, so in particular the idempotents $\sigma(p)$ and $\sigma(q)$ have the same rank. Using Lemma 4.5 (i), there are paths of invertibles $(u_t)_{t\in[0,1]}$ and $(v_t)_{t\in[0,1]}$ in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ and projections r, s such that $u_1 = v_1$ is the identity, such that $u_0ru_0^{-1} = \sigma(p)$, such that $v_0sv_0^{-1} = \sigma(q)$, and such that the norms of all the u_t , all the v_t and their inverses are all at most $1 + \kappa \leq 2\kappa$. On the other hand, r and s have the same rank, whence there are paths of unitaries $(u_t)_{t\in[1,2]}$ and $(v_t)_{t\in[0,1]}$ in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ such that $u_1 = v_1$ is the identity, and such that $u_2ru_2^* = 1_l$, and $v_2sv_2^* = 1_l$. As scalar matrices commute with X, the path $((u_t pu_t^{-1}, v_t qv_t^{-1}))_{t\in[0,2]}$ passes through $\mathcal{P}_{n,4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, and connects (p,q) to an element of $\mathcal{P}_{n,4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$ as required.

For part (ii), we just look at the statement involving Lipschitz paths; the case of general continuous paths follows (in a simpler way) from the same arguments, and is left to the reader. Assume that (p_0, q_0) and (p_1, q_1) are elements of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$ that are connected by an *L*-Lipschitz path that passes through $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$. In particular, there exists $l \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\sigma(p_0) = \sigma(q_0) = 1_l = \sigma(p_1) = \sigma(q_1)$. Let r_0 be the projection associated to p_0 as in Definition 4.3. As in Lemma 4.5 (ii), the path defined for $t \in [0, 1]$ by $t \mapsto (1 - t)p_0 + tr_0$ is κ -Lipschitz and connects p_0 and r_0 through idempotents of norm at most κ . Moreover, Lemma 4.5 (iii) implies that for all $x \in X$ and all $t \in [0, 1]$

$$\|[(1-t)p_0 + tr_0, x]\| \le (1+2t)\|[p_0, x]\| + t\|[p_0, x^*]\|.$$

As $X = X^*$, this implies that $\|[(1-t)p_0 + tr_0, x]\| < 4\varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$, and all $t \in [0, 1]$. Note also that $\sigma((1-t)p_0 + tr_0) = 1_l$ for all t. Similarly, we get s_0 which has the same properties with respect to q_0 . We have thus shown that (p_0, q_0) is connected to the element (r_0, s_0) via a κ -Lipschitz path in $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,4\varepsilon}(X, B)$. Completely analogously, (p_1, q_1) is connected to its associated projection (r_1, s_1) via a κ -Lipschitz path in $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,4\varepsilon}(X, B)$. Moreover, using Lemma 4.5 (iv), we have that (r_0, s_0) and (r_1, s_1) are connected by an *L*-Lipschitz path of projections in $\mathcal{P}_{n,1,4\varepsilon}(X, B)$, say $((r_t, s_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$.

Now, consider the path $(\sigma(r_t), \sigma(s_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$ in $M_n(\mathbb{C}) \oplus M_n(\mathbb{C})$, which is also L-Lipschitz. Lemma 4.7 gives (3L)-Lipschitz paths $(u_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ and $(v_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ of unitaries in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ such that $\sigma(r_t) = u_t \sigma(r_0) u_t^*$ and $\sigma(s_t) = v_t \sigma(s_0) v_t^*$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$. The path $((u_t^* r_t u_t, v_t^* s_t v_t))_{t \in [0, 1]}$ then passes through $\mathcal{P}_{n, 1, 4\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$, is (6*L*)-Lipschitz, and connects (r_0, s_0) to $(u_1^* r_1 u_1, v_1^* s_1 v_1)$.

Summarizing where we are, we have the following paths:

- (i) A κ -Lipschitz path through $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,4\varepsilon}(X, B)$, parametrized by [0, 1], and that connects (p_0, q_0) and (r_0, s_0) .
- (ii) A (6*L*)-Lipschitz path through $\mathcal{P}_{n,1,4\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$, parametrized by [0, 1], and that connects (r_0, s_0) and $(u_1^* r_1 u_1, v_1^* s_1 v_1)$.
- (iii) A κ -Lipschitz path through $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,4\varepsilon}(X,B)$, parametrized by [0, 1], and that connects (p_1, q_1) and (r_1, s_1) .

We claim that there is a 2π -Lipschitz path passing through $\mathcal{P}_{n,1,4\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$, parametrized by [0, 1] and connecting $(u_1^*r_1u_1, v_1^*s_1v_1)$ and (r_1, s_1) . Concatenating this new path with the three paths above (and using that $\kappa \ge 1$ and that $L \ge 1$), and rescaling the two κ -Lipschitz paths by 1/12, the 6*L*-Lipschitz path by 4/12, and the 6π -Lipschitz by 6/12, this will give us a $(20\kappa L)$ -Lipschitz path connecting (p_0, q_0) and (p_1, q_1) through $\mathcal{P}_{n,1,4\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$, which will complete the proof.

To establish the claim note that u_1 commutes with 1_l , and is therefore connected to the identity in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ via a π -Lipschitz path of unitaries that all commute with 1_l , say $(u_t)_{t \in [1,2]}$. Similarly, we get a π -Lipschitz path $(v_t)_{t \in [1,2]}$ with the same properties with respect to v_1 . The path $((u_t^*r_1u_t, v_t^*s_1v_t))_{t \in [1,2]}$ then passes through $\mathcal{P}_{n,1,4\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$, is 2π -Lipschitz, and connects $(u_1^*r_1u_1, v_1^*s_1v_1)$ to (r_1, s_1) , so we are done.

We now move on to results that let us prescribe the "scalar part" of cycles for KK^1 , which is much simpler.

Definition 4.11. With notation as in Definition 3.5, define

$$\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) := \{ u \in \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) \mid u-1 \in M_n(\mathcal{K}_B) \}.$$

Define $\mathcal{U}^1_{\infty,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ to be the disjoint union of these sets as *n* ranges over \mathbb{N} .

We need a slight variant of the well-known fact that the group of invertibles in a C^* -algebra deform retracts onto the group of unitaries.

Lemma 4.12. Let $\kappa \ge 1$, let C be a unital C^* -algebra, and let C_{κ}^{-1} be the set of invertible elements $u \in C$ such that $||u|| \le \kappa$ and $||u^{-1}|| \le \kappa$. Then, the unitary group of C is a deformation retract of C_{κ}^{-1} . In particular, $M_n(\mathbb{C})_{\kappa}^{-1}$ is connected.

Proof. Let $u \in C_{\kappa}^{-1}$, and for $t \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ define $u_t := u(u^*u)^{-t}$. This is a homotopy between the identity $u \mapsto u_0$ on C_{κ}^{-1} and the map $u \mapsto u_{1/2}$; the latter is a retraction of C_{κ}^{-1} onto the unitary group of C, giving the first part. In particular, it follows that C_{κ}^{-1} is connected if and only if C_1^{-1} is connected; as the unitary group of $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ is connected, this gives the last statement.

Proposition 4.13. Let *B* be a separable C^* -space, let *X* be a subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , let $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\kappa \ge 1$, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

- (i) Any element $v \in \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ is connected to an element of $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(X,B)$ by a path in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(X,B)$.
- (ii) If two elements $v_0, v_1 \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ are in the same path component of $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$, then they are in the same path component of $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa^2}(X, B)$.

Proof. For part (i), let \mathcal{K}_B^+ be the unitization of \mathcal{K}_B , let $\sigma : M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \to M_n(\mathbb{C})$ be the canonical quotient map, and set $w = \sigma(u^{-1})$. Using Lemma 4.12, there is a path $(w_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ of invertibles connecting $w = w_1$ to the identity and all with norm at most κ . Then, the path $(w_t v)_{t \in [0,1]}$ is in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(X, B)$ and connects v to the element $u := w_1 v$, which satisfies $\sigma(u) = 1$, and so $1 - u \in M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$.

For part (ii), let $(v_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ be a path in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ connecting v_0 and v_1 . Let $w_t = \sigma(v_t^{-1})$, and note that $w_0 = w_1 = 1$. Moreover, $||w_t|| \le \kappa$ for all t. Then, $u_t := w_t v_t$ is a path connecting v_0 and v_1 in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}^1(X, B)$ as required.

4.4 From homotopies to similarities

Our goal in this section is to establish a controlled variant of the fact that homotopic idempotents are similar; compare for example [7, Proposition 4.3.2]. This requires some work, as we need to control the "speed" of the homotopy in order to control the commutator estimates for the invertible element appearing in the similarity. The final target is Proposition 4.17 below; the other results build up to it.

Lemma 4.14. Let $\kappa \ge 1$, and let p_0 and p_1 be idempotents in a C^* -algebra C with norm at most κ , and such that $||p_0 - p_1|| \le 1/(12\kappa^2)$. Then, there is a path $(p_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ of idempotents connecting p_0 and p_1 , and with the following properties:

- (i) each p_t is an idempotent in C of norm at most 2κ ;
- (ii) for all $c \in C$ and $t \in [0, 1]$,

$$||[c, p_t]|| \le 21\kappa^2 \max_{i=0,1} ||[c, p_i]||;$$

(iii) the function $t \mapsto p_t$ is 1-Lipschitz.

Proof. For each $t \in [0, 1]$, define $r_t := (1 - t)p_0 + tp_1 \in C$, and define

$$u_t := (1 - r_t)(1 - p_0) + r_t p_0 \in C^+$$

Corollary 4.2 implies that $||2p_0 - 1|| \le 2\kappa$, whence

$$||1 - u_t|| = ||(2p_0 - 1)(p_0 - r_t)|| \le 2\kappa ||p_0 - p_1|| \le 1/6.$$

In particular, u_t is invertible, $||u_t|| \le 7/6$, and $||u_t^{-1}|| \le 6/5$ by the Neumann series formula of the inverse. Define $p_t := u_t p_0 u_t^{-1}$, which is an idempotent in *C*. We claim that the path $(p_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ has the desired properties. Note first that $r_0 = p_0$, whence $u_0 = 1$, and so the path $(p_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ does start at the original p_0 . On the other hand, $u_1 p_0 = r_1 p_0 = p_1 p_0 = p_1 u_1$, whence $u_1 p_0 u_1^{-1} = p_1$. Thus, the path (p_t) does connect p_0 and p_1 .

For part (i), note that as $u_t p_0 = r_t p_0$, we get

$$\|p_t\| = \|r_t p_0 u_t^{-1}\| \le \|(r_t - p_0) p_0 u_t^{-1}\| + \|p_0 u_t^{-1}\| \le \frac{1}{12\kappa^2} \kappa \frac{6}{5} + \kappa \frac{6}{5} \le 2\kappa.$$

For part (ii), let $\delta = \max_{i=0,1} \|[c, p_i]\|$. We compute using the identity $1 - u_t = (2p_0 - 1)(p_0 - r_t)$ that

$$\|[u_t, c]\| = \|[1 - u_t, c]\| \le \|[2p_0 - 1, c]\| \| p_0 - r_t\| + \|2p_0 - 1\| \| [p_0 - r_t, c]\|$$

$$\le 2\|[p_0, c]\| \| p_0 - r_t\| + \|2p_0 - 1\| (\|[p_0, c]\| + \|[r_t, c]\|)).$$

Using that $||2p_0 - 1|| \le 2\kappa$ again, this implies that

$$\|[u_t,c]\| \le 2\delta \frac{1}{12\kappa^2} + 2\kappa \cdot 2\delta = \left(4\kappa + \frac{1}{6\kappa^2}\right)\delta.$$

Hence, also

$$\|[u_t^{-1}, c]\| = \|u_t^{-1}[c, u_t]u_t^{-1}\| \le \frac{36}{25} \left(4\kappa + \frac{1}{6\kappa^2}\right)\delta\|c\|$$

and so

$$\begin{split} \|[p_t,c]\| &= \|[u_t p_0 u_t^{-1},c]\| \\ &\leq \|[u_t,c]\| \|p_0\| \|u_t^{-1}\| + \|u_t\| \|[p_0,c]\| \|u_t^{-1}\| + \|u_t\| \|p_0\| \|[u_t^{-1},c]\| \\ &\leq \left(4\kappa + \frac{1}{6\kappa^2}\right)\delta\kappa\frac{6}{5} + \frac{7}{5}\delta + \frac{7}{6}\kappa\frac{36}{25}\left(4\kappa + \frac{1}{6\kappa^2}\right)\delta \\ &\leq 21\kappa^2\delta \end{split}$$

as claimed. Finally, for part (iii), we again use that $||2p_0 - 1|| \le 2\kappa$ to compute that for any $s, t \in [0, 1]$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_s - u_t\| &= \|(2p_0 - 1)(r_s - r_t)\| \le \|2p_0 - 1\| \|s - t\| \|p_0 - p_1\| \le 2\kappa |s - t| \frac{1}{12\kappa^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{6\kappa} |s - t| \end{aligned}$$

and so

$$||u_s^{-1} - u_t^{-1}|| = ||u_t^{-1}(u_t - u_s)u_s^{-1}|| \le \frac{36}{25} \frac{1}{6\kappa}|s - t| = \frac{6}{25\kappa}|s - t|.$$

Hence,

$$||p_t - p_s|| \le ||(u_t - u_s)p_0u_t^{-1}|| + ||u_s p_0(u_t^{-1} - u_s^{-1})||$$

$$\le \frac{1}{6\kappa}|s - t|\kappa\frac{6}{5} + \frac{7}{6}\kappa\frac{6}{25\kappa}|s - t|$$

$$\le |s - t|$$

as claimed.

The next lemma gives universal control over the "speed" of a homotopy between idempotents (at the price of moving to larger matrices). The basic idea is not new; see for example [47, Proposition 1.31]. We give a complete proof, however, as we need to incorporate commutator estimates and work with idempotents rather than projections.

Lemma 4.15. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra, let *X* be a subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let (p_0, q_0) and (p_1, q_1) be elements of the same path component of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$. Then, there is $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and a homotopy $((r_t, s_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$ in $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n,2\kappa,21\kappa^2\varepsilon}(X, B)$ such that $(r_i, s_i) = (p_i \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, q_i \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$ for $i \in \{0, 1\}$, and such that the map $t \mapsto (r_t, s_t)$ is (16κ) -Lipschitz.

Proof. Let $((p_t, q_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$ be an arbitrary homotopy in $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ connecting (p_0, q_0) and (p_1, q_1) . Let $\delta > 0$ be such that if $s, t \in [0, 1]$ satisfy $|s - t| \leq \delta$, then $||p_s - p_t|| \leq 1/(12\kappa^2)$ and $||q_s - q_t|| \leq 1/(12\kappa^2)$. Let $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_k = 1$ be a sequence of points in [0, 1] such that $t_{i+1} - t_i \leq \delta$ for all *i*. We claim that this *k* works, and to show this we build an appropriate homotopy by concatenating the various steps below.

(i) Connect $(p_0 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, q_0 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$ to

$$\left(p_0 \oplus \underbrace{(1_n \oplus 0_n) \oplus \cdots \oplus (1_n \oplus 0_n)}_{k \text{ times}}, q_0 \oplus \underbrace{(1_n \oplus 0_n) \oplus \cdots \oplus (1_n \oplus 0_n)}_{k \text{ times}}\right)$$

via a 2-Lipschitz rotation homotopy parametrized by $[0, \pi/2]$ and passing through $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$.

(ii) In the *i*th "block" $1_n \oplus 0_n$, use the homotopy

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 - p_{t_i} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & -\sin(t) \\ \sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & p_{t_i} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & \sin(t) \\ -\sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

(parametrized by $t \in [0, \pi/2]$) to connect $1_n \oplus 0_n$ to $1 - p_{t_i} \oplus p_{t_i}$, and similarly for *q*. In order to compute commutator estimates, note that rearranging gives that the homotopy above is the same as

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} p_{t_i} & 0 \\ 0 & p_{t_i} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -\cos^2(t) & -\sin(t)\cos(t) \\ -\sin(t)\cos(t) & \cos^2(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad t \in [0, \pi/2].$$

The scalar matrix appearing on the right above has norm $|\cos(t)|$, whence every element in this homotopy has norm at most 2κ . Hence, our homotopy connects the result of the previous stage to

$$(p_0 \oplus 1 - p_{t_1} \oplus p_{t_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus 1 - p_{t_k} \oplus p_{t_k}, q_0 \oplus 1 - q_{t_1} \oplus q_{t_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus 1 - q_{t_k} \oplus q_{t_k})$$

through $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$, and is 2κ -Lipschitz.

(iii) From Corollary 4.2, each idempotent $1 - p_{t_i}$ has norm at most κ . For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$, using that $||(1 - p_{t_i}) - (1 - p_{t_{i-1}})|| \le 1/(12\kappa^2)$, Lemma 4.14 gives a path of idempotents connecting $1 - p_{t_i}$ and $1 - p_{t_{i-1}}$ and with the following properties: it is 1-Lipschitz; it consists of idempotents of norm at most 2κ ; each idempotent *r* in the path satisfies $||[r, x]|| \le 21\kappa^2 \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. We get similar paths with respect to the elements $1 - q_{t_i}$, and use these paths to connect the result of the previous stage to

$$(p_0 \oplus 1 - p_{t_0} \oplus p_{t_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus 1 - p_{t_{k-1}} \oplus p_{t_k}, q_0 \oplus 1 - q_{t_0} \oplus q_{t_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus 1 - q_{t_{k-1}} \oplus q_{t_k})$$

via a 1-Lipschitz path in $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n,2\kappa,21\kappa^2\varepsilon}(X,B)$.

(iv) Use an analog of the homotopy in step (ii) in each block of the form $p_{t_i} \oplus 1 - p_{t_i}$ (and similarly for q) to connect the result of the previous stage to

$$\left(\underbrace{(1_n\oplus 0_n)\oplus\cdots\oplus(1_n\oplus 0_n)}_{k \text{ times}}\oplus p_{t_k},\underbrace{(1_n\oplus 0_n)\oplus\cdots\oplus(1_n\oplus 0_n)}_{k \text{ times}}\oplus q_{t_k}\right).$$

This passes through $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B)$, and is 2κ -Lipschitz.

(v) Finally, noting that $p_{t_k} = p_1$ and $q_{t_k} = q_1$, use a rotation homotopy parametrized by $[0, \pi/2]$ to connect the result of the previous stage to $(p_1 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, q_1 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$. This passes through $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ and is 2κ -Lipschitz.

Concatenating the five homotopies above gives a 2κ -Lipschitz homotopy, parametrized by $[0, 2\pi + 1]$, that passes through $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n, 2\kappa, \varepsilon}(X, B)$ and connects $(p_0 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, q_0 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$ and $(p_1 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, q_1 \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$. Reparametrizing by [0, 1], we get a (16κ) -Lipschitz homotopy as required.

Before we get to the main result of this section, we give one more elementary lemma; we record it as it will be used multiple times below.

Lemma 4.16. Say x and y_1, \ldots, y_n are elements of a C^* -algebra such that

$$\|[x, y_i]\| \leq \delta$$
 and $\|y_i\| \leq m$

for all i. Then, if $y := y_1 y_2 \cdots y_n$, we have $\|[x, y]\| \le nm^{n-1}\delta$.

Proof. This follows from the formula

$$[x, y] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\prod_{1 \le j < i} y_j\right) [x, y_i] \left(\prod_{i < j \le n} y_j\right),$$

which itself follows from induction on *n* and the usual Leibniz formula $[x, y_1y_2] = y_1[x, y_2] + [x, y_1]y_2$.

Here, is the main result of this section. The basic idea of the proof is contained in [47, Corollary 1.32], but as usual we need to do more work in order to get our estimates.

Proposition 4.17. Let B be a separable C^* -algebra, let X be a self-adjoint subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , let $\kappa \ge 1$, and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $M = 2^{(100\kappa)^3}$. With notation as in Definition 4.9, let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let (p,q) be in the same path component of $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ as an element (r, r) with both entries the same. Then, there is $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and (with notation as in Definition 4.11) an element $u \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n+2m,M,M\varepsilon}(X, B)$ such that

$$u(p\oplus 1_m\oplus 0_m)u^{-1}=q\oplus 1_m\oplus 0_m.$$

Proof. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ be as in the conclusion of Lemma 4.15, so there exists a (16κ) -Lipschitz homotopy in $\mathcal{P}_{(2k+1)n,2\kappa,21\kappa^{2}\varepsilon}(X,B)$ between $(p \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, q \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$ and $(r \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, r \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$. Set m = kn. Proposition 4.10 gives a $(20\kappa \cdot 16\kappa)$ -Lipschitz path $((p_t, q_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$ passing through $\mathcal{P}_{n+2m,2\kappa,84\kappa^{2}\varepsilon}^{1}(X,B)$ that connects $(p \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, q \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$ and $(r \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk}, r \oplus 1_{nk} \oplus 0_{nk})$. To simplify notation, note this path is $(2^{9}\kappa^{2})$ -Lipschitz, and that it passes through $\mathcal{P}_{n+2m,2\kappa,2^{7}\kappa^{2}\varepsilon}^{1}(X,B)$.

Define $N := \lceil 2^{13} \kappa^3 \rceil$ (where $\lceil y \rceil$ is the least integer at least as large as y), and define $t_i = i/N$ for $i \in \{0, ..., N\}$. As the path $((p_t, q_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$ is $(2^9 \kappa^2)$ -Lipschitz, for any $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$, $||p_{t_i} - p_{t_{i-1}}|| \le (16\kappa)^{-1}$. For $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$, define

$$v_i := p_{t_{i-1}} p_{t_i} + (1 - p_{t_{i-1}})(1 - p_{t_i}).$$

As $||p_{t_i}|| \le 2\kappa$ for all *i*, Corollary 4.2 implies that

$$|2p_{t_i} - 1|| \le 4\kappa \tag{4.11}$$

for all *i*, and so

$$\|1 - v_i\| = \|(2p_{t_{i-1}} - 1)(p_{t_{i-1}} - p_{t_i})\| \le 4\kappa \cdot (16\kappa)^{-1} \le \frac{1}{2}$$

It follows that each v_i is invertible, $||v_i|| \le 2$, and (by the Neumann series formula for the inverse) $||v_i^{-1}|| \le 2$. Note also that as the homotopy $((p_t, q_t))_{t \in [0,1]}$ passes through $\mathcal{P}^1_{(2k+1)n,2\kappa,2^7\kappa^2\varepsilon}(X, B)$ all the elements p_{t_i} must have the same "scalar part" (i.e., the same image under the canonical map $M_{n+2m}(\mathcal{K}^+_B) \to M_{n+2m}(\mathbb{C})$), and so the elements v_i must satisfy

$$1-v_i \in M_{n+2m}(\mathcal{K}_B).$$

Moreover, for $x \in X$, using line (4.11) again we see that

$$\begin{split} \|[v_i, x]\| &= \|[v_i - 1, x]\| \\ &= \|[(2p_{t_{i-1}} - 1)(p_{t_{i-1}} - p_{t_i}), x]\| \\ &\leq 2\|[p_{t_{i-1}}, x]\|(\|p_{t_{i-1}}\| + \|p_{t_i}\|) + \|2p_{t_{i-1}} - 1\|(\|[p_{t_{i-1}}, x]\| + \|[p_{t_i}, x]\|) \\ &< 12\kappa \cdot 2^7 \kappa^2 \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Hence, moreover

$$\|[v_i^{-1}, x]\| = \|v_i^{-1}[x, v_i]v_i^{-1}\| \le 4 \cdot 12\kappa \cdot 2^7 \kappa^2 \varepsilon \le 2^{13} \kappa^3 \varepsilon.$$

At this point we have that each v_i is an element of $\mathcal{U}^1_{n+2m,2,2^{13}\kappa^3\varepsilon}$.

Note also that $v_i p_{t_i} = p_{t_{i-1}} p_{t_i} = p_{t_{i-1}} v_i$, and so $v_i p_{t_i} v_i^{-1} = p_{t_{i-1}}$ for each *i*. Define *v* to be the product $v_1 v_2 \cdots v_N$, so *v* satisfies $v^{-1} p_0 v = p_1$, or in other words

$$v^{-1}(p\oplus 1_m\oplus 0_m)v=r\oplus 1_m\oplus 0_m.$$

Note that $1 - v \in M_{n+2m}(\mathcal{K}_B)$. As $||v_i|| \le 2$ and $||v_i^{-1}|| \le 2$ for each *i*, we have that $||v|| \le 2^N$ and similarly $||v^{-1}|| \le 2^N$. Moreover, for any $x \in X$, Lemma 4.16 gives $||[v, x]|| \le N2^{N-1} \cdot 2^{13}\kappa^3\varepsilon$ and similarly $||[v^{-1}, x]|| \le N2^{N-1} \cdot 2^{13}\kappa^3\varepsilon$. Applying the same construction with (q_t) in place of (p_t) , we get an invertible element w such that $w^{-1}(q \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m)w = r \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m$, such that $1 - w \in M_{n+2m}(\mathcal{K}_B)$, such that $||w|| \le 2^N$, $||w^{-1}|| \le 2^N$, and such that $||[w, x]|| \le N2^{N-1} \cdot 2^{13}\kappa^3\varepsilon$ and $||[w^{-1}, x]|| \le N2^{N-1} \cdot 2^{13}\kappa^3\varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. Define $u = wv^{-1}$. As $N = \lceil 2^{13}\kappa^3 \rceil$, this has the claimed properties.

Chapter 5

Reformulating the UCT II

In this chapter (as throughout), if *B* is a separable C^* -algebra, then \mathcal{L}_B and \mathcal{K}_B denote respectively the adjointable and compact operators on the standard Hilbert *B*-module $\ell^2 \otimes B$. For each *n*, we consider \mathcal{L}_B as a subalgebra of $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$ via the "diagonal inclusion" $\mathcal{L}_B = 1_{M_n} \otimes \mathcal{L}_B \subseteq M_n \otimes \mathcal{L}_B = M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$.

Our goal in this chapter is to reformulate the vanishing results on the UCT of Chapter 2 in terms of the groups $KK_{\kappa,\varepsilon}^i(X, B)$ of Chapter 3. We look at the even (i = 0) and odd (i = 1) cases separately.

5.1 The even case

Lemma 5.1. Let $\kappa \geq 1$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra, and let *X* be a self-adjoint subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B . Then, there is a homomorphism ψ_* : $KK^*_{\kappa,\varepsilon/4}(X,B) \to KK^*_{1,\varepsilon}(X,B)$ such that the diagrams



and

$$KK_{1,\varepsilon/4}^{0}(X,B) \longrightarrow KK_{1,\varepsilon}^{0}(X,B)$$

$$\psi_{*} \uparrow$$

$$KK_{\kappa,\varepsilon/4}^{0}(X,B)$$
(5.2)

commute, where the unlabeled arrows are the forget control maps of Definition 3.4.

Proof. Let (p, q) be an element of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon/4}(X, B)$. Let r and s be the projections associated to p and q respectively as in Definition 4.3. Using Lemma 4.5 parts (i) and (iii) we may define a map

$$\psi: \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon/4}(X,B) \to \mathcal{P}_{n,1,\varepsilon}(X,B), \quad (p,q) \mapsto (r,s).$$

Allowing n to vary, and noting that the process of taking associated projections takes homotopies to homotopies (by part (iv) of Lemma 4.5) and block sums to block sums, we get a well-defined homomorphism

$$\psi_*: KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon/4}(X,B) \to KK^0_{1,\varepsilon}(X,B).$$

To check commutativity of the diagram in line (5.1), it suffices to show that if $(r, s) \in \mathcal{P}_{n,1,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ is the pair of projections associated to $(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon/4}(X, B)$ as above, then (r, s) and (p, q) are in the same path component of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$. This follows from parts (ii) and (iii) of Lemma 4.5. Commutativity of the diagram in line (5.2) is immediate; if (p,q) is in $\mathcal{P}_{n,1,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ for some n, then p and q are themselves projections, so equal their associated projections.

The following lemma records some results from [68, Section A.3] that we will need. For the statement, recall the notion of a unitally strongly absorbing representation from Definition 2.5 above.

Lemma 5.2. In the statement of this lemma, all unlabeled arrows are forget control maps as in Definitions 2.11 and 3.4. Let A be a separable unital C^* -algebra, and let B be a separable C^* -algebra. Let $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_B$ be a strongly unitally absorbing representation of A, which we use to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_B .

Let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let X be a finite subset of A_1 . Then, there exist homomorphisms

$$\alpha: KK^0_{1,\varepsilon}(X,B) \to KK_{5\varepsilon}(X,B)$$

and

$$\beta: KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B) \to KK_{1,\varepsilon}^{0}(X, B)$$

that are natural with respect to forget control maps; more precisely if $(X, \varepsilon) \leq (Y, \delta)$ in X_A as in Definition 2.10 then the diagrams

$$\begin{array}{ccc} KK_{1,\delta}^{0}(Y,B) \longrightarrow KK_{1,\varepsilon}^{0}(X,B) & KK_{1,5\delta}^{0}(Y,B) \longrightarrow KK_{1,5\varepsilon}^{0}(X,B) \\ & & \downarrow^{\beta} & \downarrow^{\beta} & and & \alpha \uparrow^{\uparrow} & \alpha \uparrow^{\uparrow} \\ KK_{\delta}^{0}(Y,B) \longrightarrow KK_{\varepsilon}^{0}(X,B) & KK_{\delta}^{0}(Y,B) \longrightarrow KK_{\varepsilon}^{0}(X,B) \end{array}$$

are defined and commute.

Moreover, the diagrams



and



commute.

Proof. Let $\pi : A \to M_2(\mathcal{L}_B)$ be (the amplification of) our fixed representation. In the language of [68, Appendix A.2], the groups $KK_{\varepsilon}(X, B)$ are the same as the groups that are called there $KK_{\varepsilon}^{\pi,p}(X, B)$, while in the language of [68, Appendix A.3], the groups $KK_{1,\varepsilon}^0(X, B)$ would there be called $KK_{\varepsilon}^{\pi_0,m}(X, B)$. The lemma thus follows from the arguments of [68, Lemmas A.22, A.23, and A.24].

We are now able to deduce a version of Corollary 2.22 for the groups of Definition 3.1.

Corollary 5.3. Let A be a separable, unital, nuclear C^* -algebra. The following are equivalent:

- (i) A satisfies the UCT.
- (ii) Let $\kappa \ge 1$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra with $K_*(B) = 0$. Let $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_{SB}$ be a strongly unitally absorbing representation, which we use to identify *A* with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{SB} . Then, for any finite subset *X* of A_1 , there is a finite subset *Z* of A_1 such that

$$(X, \kappa, \varepsilon) \leq (Z, \kappa, \varepsilon/160)$$

in the sense of Definition 3.4, and such that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon/160}(Z,SB) \to KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,SB)$$

of Definition 3.4 is zero.

(iii) There exist $\kappa \ge 1$ and $\nu \ge \kappa$ with the following property. Let $\gamma > 0$, let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra with $K_*(B) = 0$, and let *X* be a finite subset of A_1 . Let

$$\pi: A \to \mathcal{L}_{SB}$$

be a strongly unitally absorbing representation, which we use to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{SB} . Then, there is $\varepsilon > 0$ and a finite subset Z of A_1 such that $(X, \nu, \gamma) \leq (Z, \kappa, \varepsilon)$ in the sense of Definition 3.4, and such that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^0_{\nu,\nu}(X,SB)$$

of Definition 3.4 is zero.

Proof. In the following proof, all unlabeled arrows are forget control maps as in Definition 2.11, or Definition 3.4. Assume first that condition (i) from the statement holds, and let $\kappa \ge 1$ and $\varepsilon > 0$; we may assume moreover that $\varepsilon < 1$. Let a finite subset *X* be given as in condition (ii). Then, by the equivalence from Corollary 2.22, there is a finite subset *Z* of A_1 such that the forget control map

$$KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z,SB) \to KK_{\varepsilon}(X,SB)$$

is zero. Replacing Z by $Z \cup Z^*$ if necessary, we may assume that Z is self-adjoint. Lemma 5.2 gives a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} KK_{\varepsilon/8}(Z,SB) & \longrightarrow KK_{\varepsilon}(X,SB) \\ & \alpha \\ & \alpha \\ & & & & \downarrow^{\beta} \\ KK_{1,\varepsilon/40}^{0}(Z,SB) & \longrightarrow KK_{1,\varepsilon}^{0}(X,SB), \end{array}$$

whence the bottom horizontal map is zero. On the other hand, Lemma 5.1 (see in particular line (5.1)) gives a map ψ_* such that the bottom triangle in the diagram below



commutes. The top triangle also commutes as all the maps involved are forget control maps, whence the bottom horizontal map is zero. This gives us condition (ii) from the statement.

Condition (ii) clearly implies condition (iii), so it remains to show that condition (iii) implies condition (i). For this, it suffices to establish condition (ii) from Theorem 2.15, so let $\gamma > 0$ and a finite subset X of A_1 be given. Then, according to condition (iii) there are $\nu \ge \kappa \ge 1$, $\varepsilon > 0$ and a finite subset Z of A_1 such that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^0_{\nu,\gamma/20}(X,SB)$$

is defined and zero. Replacing Z with $Z \cup Z^*$ if necessary, we may assume Z is self-adjoint. Using Lemma 5.1 (see in particular line (5.2)) there is a map ψ_* such that the top right triangle in the diagram below commutes

The rest of the diagram also commutes, as all the arrows are forget control maps, whence the composition

$$KK_{1,\varepsilon}^0(Z,SB) \to KK_{1,\gamma/20}(X,SB) \to KK_{1,\gamma/5}(X,SB)$$

of the two top horizontal maps is zero. Using Lemma 5.2, there is a commutative diagram



The top horizontal map is therefore zero; this is the conclusion we need for Theorem 2.15, condition (ii), so we are done.

5.2 The odd case

For the statement of the next lemma, consider the Hilbert module $\ell^2 \otimes SB$ associated to the suspension $SB = C_0((0, 1), B)$ of a separable C^* -algebra B. Let $C_{sb}(X, M(C))$ denote the C^* -algebra of bounded and strictly continuous functions from a locally compact space X to the multiplier algebra M(C) of a C^* -algebra C. For any C^* algebra C there are canonical identifications

$$\mathcal{L}_C = M(C \otimes \mathcal{K})$$

(see for example [45, Theorem 2.4]) and $M(C_0(X, C)) = C_{sb}(X, M(C))$ (see for example [1, Corollary 3.4]). Hence, there is a canonical identification

$$\mathcal{L}_{SB} = C_{sb}((0,1), \mathcal{L}_B). \tag{5.3}$$

We identify $\mathcal{L}_B = \mathcal{L}(\ell^2 \otimes B)$ with a C^* -subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}_{SB} = \mathcal{L}(\ell^2 \otimes B \otimes C_0(0,1))$ via the *-homomorphism $a \mapsto a \otimes 1_{C_0(0,1)}$. We recall also that \mathcal{K}_B^+ denotes the unitization of \mathcal{K}_B .

Lemma 5.4. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Let $\kappa \ge 1$, $\varepsilon > 0$, and let *X* be a subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B . Then,

- (i) Elements of $\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, SB)$ (see Definition 3.1) identify canonically with continuous paths $(p_t, q_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ of idempotents in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \oplus M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+)$ satisfying the following conditions:
 - (a) for all $t \in [0, 1]$, $||p_t|| \le \kappa$ and $||q_t|| \le \kappa$;
 - (b) for all $t \in [0, 1]$ and all $x \in X$, $||[p_t, x]|| < \varepsilon$ and $||[q_t, x]|| < \varepsilon$;
 - (c) there are $p, q \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$ such that $p_0 = p_1 = p$, $q_0 = q_1 = q$ and such that if $\sigma : M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \to M_n(\mathbb{C})$ is the canonical quotient map then $\sigma(p_t) = p$ and $\sigma(q_t) = q$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$.

Moreover, the element (p,q) is in the subset $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,SB)$ of Definition 4.9 if and only if p and q are equal to 1_l for some $l \in \mathbb{N}$.

- (ii) Elements of $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, SB)$ (see Definition 3.5) identify with continuous paths $(u_t)_{t\in[0,1]}$ of invertibles in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+)$ satisfying the following conditions:
 - (a) for all $t \in [0, 1]$, $||u_t|| \le \kappa$ and $||u_t^{-1}|| \le \kappa$;
 - (b) for all $t \in [0, 1]$ and all $x \in X$, $||[u_t, x]|| < \varepsilon$ and $||[u_t^{-1}, x]|| < \varepsilon$;
 - (c) there is $u \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$ such that $u_0 = u_1 = u$ and such that if

$$\sigma: M_n(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \to M_n(\mathbb{C})$$

is the canonical quotient map then $\sigma(u_t) = u$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$.

Moreover, the element is in the subset $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,SB)$ of Definition 4.11 if and only if u is the identity.

Proof. We have a canonical identification

$$\mathcal{K}_{SB}^{+} = \{ f \in C([0,1], \mathcal{K}_{B}^{+}) \mid \sigma(f(t)) = f(0) = f(1) \text{ for all } t \in [0,1] \}.$$

Part (i) follows directly by comparing this with Definitions 3.1 and 4.9; similarly, part (ii) follows from comparing this with Definitions 3.5 and 4.11. We leave the details to the reader.

Lemma 5.5. For any $\kappa \ge 1$ there exists a positive constant M_1 with the following property. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, let A be a separable, unital, nuclear C^* -algebra that satisfies the UCT, and let B be a separable C^* -algebra with $K_*(B) = 0$. Let $\pi : A \to \mathcal{L}_{SB}$ be a strongly unitally absorbing representation that factors through the subalgebra $\mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$ (such exists by Lemma 2.6), and use this to identify A with a C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{SB} .

Then, for any finite subset X of A_1 there exists a finite subset Z of A_1 such that the forget control map

$$KK^1_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^1_{M_1,M_1\varepsilon}(X,SB)$$

of Definition 3.7 is defined and zero.

Proof. We claim $M_1 = 2^{(200\kappa^8)^3} \cdot 320\kappa^7$ works. Using Corollary 5.3 there is a finite subset Z of A_1 such that the forget control map

$$KK^{0}_{\kappa^{8},2\kappa^{6}\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^{0}_{\kappa^{8},320\kappa^{6}\varepsilon}(X,SB)$$
(5.4)

of Definition 3.4 is zero. We claim this set Z works.

Let *u* be an arbitrary element of $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z, B)$. Using Proposition 4.13 (i), and with notation as in Definition 4.11, there is an element *v* of $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(Z, B)$ in the same path component of $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(Z, B)$ as *u*. Define now a path $(v_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ by

$$v_t := \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\pi t/2) & -\sin(\pi t/2) \\ \sin(\pi t/2) & \cos(\pi t/2) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & v \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\pi t/2) & \sin(\pi t/2) \\ -\sin(\pi t/2) & \cos(\pi t/2) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.5)

Note that each v_t is an element of $\mathcal{U}^1_{2n,\kappa^4,2\kappa^3\varepsilon}(Z,B)$. Define

$$p_t := v_t \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v_t^{-1}.$$

Write \underline{p} for the path (p_t) , and note that according to Lemma 5.4 (i), we may identify the pair $(\underline{p}, 1_n \oplus 0_n)$ with (using the notation of Definition 4.9) an element of $\mathcal{P}_{2n,\kappa^8,2\kappa^7\epsilon}^1(Z, SB)$, and therefore also a class $[\underline{p}, 1_n \oplus 0_n] \in KK_{\kappa^8,2\kappa^7\epsilon}^0(Z, SB)$. By assumption, the forget control map in line (5.4) is zero, and therefore the image of $[\underline{p}, 1_n \oplus 0_n]$ in $KK_{\kappa^8,320\kappa^7\epsilon}^0(X, SB)$ is zero. For notational simplicity, at this point let us define $\varepsilon_1 := 320\kappa^7 \varepsilon$.

Now, Lemma 3.3 gives $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(s, s) \in \mathcal{P}_{2(n+m),2\kappa^8,\varepsilon_1}(X, SB)$ such that $(\underline{p} \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m, 1_n \oplus 0_n \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m)$ and (s, s) are in the same path component of the set $\mathcal{P}_{2(n+m),2\kappa^8,\varepsilon_1}(X, SB)$. Let x be a unitary matrix in $M_{2(n+m)}(\mathbb{C})$ such that $x(1_n \oplus 0_n \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m)x^* = 1_{n+m} \oplus 0_{n+m}$. As x is connected to the identity through unitaries, the element $(x(\underline{p} \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m)x^*, 1_{n+m} \oplus 0_{n+m})$ is also homotopic to (s, s) in $\mathcal{P}_{2(n+m),2\kappa^8,\varepsilon_1}(X, SB)$; moreover (with notation as in Definition 4.9), it is in $\mathcal{P}_{2(n+m),2\kappa^8,\varepsilon_1}^1(X, SB)$. We may now apply Proposition 4.17 to see that if

$$M = 2^{(200\kappa^8)^3}$$

then there is $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and an element \underline{w} of $\mathcal{U}^1_{2(n+m+k),M,M_{\varepsilon_1}}(X, SB)$ such that

$$\underline{w}(x(\underline{p}\oplus 1_m\oplus 0_m)x^*\oplus 1_k\oplus 0_k)\underline{w}^{-1}=1_{n+m}\oplus 0_{n+m}\oplus 1_k\oplus 0_k.$$

Write \underline{v} for the path defined in line (5.5) above, which naturally defines an element of \mathcal{L}_{SB} using the identification in line (5.3). Then, if we define

$$\underline{y} := \underline{w}(x \oplus 1_{2k})(\underline{v} \oplus 1_{2(m+k)}) \in \mathcal{L}_{SB},$$

we have

$$\underline{y}(1_n \oplus 0_n \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)\underline{y}^{-1} = 1_n \oplus 0_n \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k.$$

In other words, the element y commutes with $1_n \oplus 0_n \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k$. Define

$$\underline{z} := (1_n \oplus 0_n \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k) y (1_n \oplus 0_n \oplus 1_m \oplus 0_m \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k).$$

Using Lemma 5.4 (ii), we may think of \underline{z} as a continuous path $(z_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ in $\mathcal{U}_{n+m+k,M,M\epsilon_1}(X, B)$. Now, write \underline{w} as a path $(w_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$, and note that as \underline{w} is in $\mathcal{U}_{2(n+m+k),M,M\epsilon_1}^1(X,SB)$, then by Lemma 5.4 (ii), $w_0 = w_1 = 1_{2(n+m)}$. Moreover, $v_0 = 1_{2n}$ by definition. Hence, $z_0 = x \oplus 1_k$. On the other hand $v_1 = u \oplus u^{-1} \oplus 1_{2(m+k)}$ and so $z_1 = (x \oplus 1_k)(u \oplus 1_{m+k})$. Hence, $(x \oplus 1_k)^*\underline{z}$ defines a homotopy in $\mathcal{U}_{n+m+k,M,M\epsilon_1}(X,B)$ between 1_{n+m+k} and $u \oplus 1_{m+k}$. This implies [u] maps to zero in $KK_{1,M\epsilon_1}^1(X,SB)$, which completes the proof.

Chapter 6

A Mayer–Vietoris boundary map

In this chapter (as throughout), if *B* is a separable C^* -algebra, then \mathcal{L}_B and \mathcal{K}_B denote respectively the adjointable and compact operators on the standard Hilbert *B*-module $\ell^2 \otimes B$. For each *n*, we consider \mathcal{L}_B as a subalgebra of $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$ via the "diagonal inclusion" $\mathcal{L}_B = 1_{M_n} \otimes \mathcal{L}_B \subseteq M_n \otimes \mathcal{L}_B = M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$.

Our goal in this chapter is to construct and analyse a "Mayer–Vietoris boundary map" in controlled KK-theory. The main results of the chapter prove the existence of this boundary map (Proposition 6.1) and show it has an exactness property (Proposition 6.6). These results are the technical heart of the paper.

6.1 Existence

Here, is the construction of the boundary map.

Proposition 6.1. Define an increasing function $N_0 : [1, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ by the formula $N_0(\kappa) = 2^{27} \kappa^{24}$. This function has the following properties.

Let $\kappa \ge 1$, let $N_0 = N_0(\kappa)$, let $\varepsilon > 0$, let B be a separable C^* -algebra, and let X be a subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B . Let $h \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be a positive contraction such that $\|[h, x]\| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. Then, there is a homomorphism

$$\partial: KK^{1}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B) \to KK^{0}_{N_{0},N_{0}\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$$

defined by applying the following process to a class from $KK^{1}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$:

(i) Choose a representative $w \in \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ for the class, and use Proposition 4.13 (i) to find an element

$$u \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$$

that is in the same path component as w in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$.

(ii) Define

$$c = c(u, h) := hu + (1 - h), \quad d = d(u, h) := hu^{-1} + (1 - h)$$
 (6.1)

in $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$, and

$$v = v(u,h) := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & c \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -d & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & c \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in M_{2n}(\mathcal{L}_B).$$
(6.2)

(iii) Define

$$\partial[w] := \left[v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right]$$

Moreover, the boundary map is "natural with respect to forget control maps"; precisely, if for some $\kappa \leq \lambda$ and $\varepsilon \leq \delta$, the boundary maps

$$\partial: KK^{1}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B) \to KK^{0}_{N_{0}(\kappa), N_{0}(\kappa)\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$$

and

$$\partial: KK^{1}_{\lambda,\delta}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B) \to KK^{0}_{N_{0}(\lambda), N_{0}(\lambda)\delta}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$$

both exist, then the diagram

(with vertical maps the forget control maps of Definitions 3.4 and 3.7) commutes.

In order to make the proof more palatable, we split off some computations as lemmas. The proofs of these lemmas are elementary, but the second one is quite lengthy. We record them for the sake of completeness, but recommend the reader skips the proofs.

Lemma 6.2. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Let $u \in M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$ be an invertible element such that $1 - u \in M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$, and let $h \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be a positive contraction. Then, the elements c = c(u, h) and d = d(u, h) from line (6.1) above have the following properties.

- (i) The elements cd 1 and dc 1 are in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$.
- (ii) If $\kappa \ge 1$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ are such that $||u|| \le \kappa$, $||u^{-1}|| \le \kappa$, $||[h, u]|| < \varepsilon$, and $||[h, u^{-1}]|| < \varepsilon$, then cd 1 and dc 1 are both closer than $(\kappa + 1)\varepsilon$ to $h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2)$.

Proof. We just look at the case of cd - 1 for both parts (i) and (ii); the case of dc - 1 is similar. Note first that because 1 - u is in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$ and $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$ is an ideal in $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$, we must have that $1 - u^{-1}$ is in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$ also. We compute that

$$cd - 1 = huhu^{-1} + (1 - h)hu^{-1} + hu(1 - h) - 2h + h^{2}$$

= $h^{2} + hu[h, u^{-1}] + h(1 - h)u^{-1}$
+ $h(1 - h)u + [h, u](1 - h) - 2h + h^{2}.$ (6.3)

Using that u and u^{-1} equal 1 modulo the ideal $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$, we compute that this equals 0 modulo $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$. Hence, cd - 1 is in $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$

Looking at part (ii), note that the terms $hu[h, u^{-1}]$ and [h, u](1 - h) in line (6.3) above have norms at most $\kappa \varepsilon$ and ε respectively. Hence, cd - 1 is within $(\kappa + 1)\varepsilon$ of $h^2 + h(1-h)u^{-1} + h(1-h)u - 2h + h^2$, which equals $h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2)$.

Lemma 6.3. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Let $\kappa \ge 1$, $\varepsilon > 0$, and let *X* be a subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B . Let $h \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be a positive contraction such that $||[h, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$, and let *u* be an element of the set $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}^1(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ from Definition 4.11. Let c = c(u, h) and d = d(u, h) be as in line (6.1) above, and let v = v(u, h) be as in line (6.2).

Then, $||v|| \le (\kappa + 2)^3$, $||v^{-1}|| \le (\kappa + 2)^3$, and the pair

$$\left(v\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}v^{-1},\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\right)$$

is an element of $\mathcal{P}^1_{2n,3^6\kappa^6,2^{16}\kappa^5\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$ from Definition 4.9.

Proof. From the definition of v in line (6.2) above,

$$v = \begin{pmatrix} c(dc-2) & 1-cd \\ dc-1 & -d \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.4)

and

$$v^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -c \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ d & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -c \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -d & dc - 1 \\ 1 - cd & c(dc - 2) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence,

$$v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} cd(2-cd) & c(dc-2)(dc-1) \\ (1-dc)d & (dc-1)^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and so

$$v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -(cd-1)^2 & (cd-1)c(dc-2) \\ (1-dc)d & (dc-1)^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.5)

This formula, part (i) of Lemma 6.2, and the fact that $M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$ is an ideal in $M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$ imply that

$$v\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}v^{-1}-\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\in M_{2n}(\mathcal{K}_B),$$

whence $v\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}v^{-1}$ is in $M_{2n}(\mathcal{K}_B^+)$, and $v\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}v^{-1}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ have the same image under the image of the canonical quotient map

$$\sigma: M_{2n}(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \to M_{2n}(\mathbb{C}).$$

Note moreover that $||v|| \le (\kappa + 2)^3$ and $||v^{-1}|| \le (\kappa + 2)^3$ from the formula for v (whence also v^{-1}) as a product of four matrices in line (6.2). As $\kappa \ge 1$, this implies that

$$\left\| v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} \right\| \le (\kappa + 2)^6 \le 3^6 \kappa^6.$$

To complete the proof that the pair

$$\left(v\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}v^{-1},\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\right)$$

defines an element of $\mathcal{P}^{1}_{2n,3^{6}\kappa^{6},2^{16}\kappa^{5}\varepsilon}(X,B)$ it remains to check the relevant commutator estimates, i.e., condition (ii) from Definition 3.1 with x in $X \cup \{h\}$ and ε replaced by $2^{16}\kappa^{5}\varepsilon$. As $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ (and indeed, any scalar matrix) commutes with elements of $X \cup \{h\}$ exactly, it suffices to show that

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} x, v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| \le 2^{16} \kappa^5 \varepsilon \tag{6.6}$$

for all $x \in X \cup \{h\}$. We focus on the case when x is in X; the case when x = h follows from similar (and much simpler) estimates that we leave to the reader.

Working towards the estimate in line (6.6), we compute that the element in line (6.5) equals

$$\begin{pmatrix} cd-1 & 0\\ 0 & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2)\\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.7)

The second matrix above satisfies

$$\left\| \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \right\| \le \|1-cd\| + \|c\| \|dc-2\| + \|d\| + \|dc-1\| \\ \le ((\kappa+1)^2+1) + (\kappa+1)((\kappa+1)^2+2) \\ + (\kappa+1) + ((\kappa+1)^2+1). \end{aligned}$$

As $\kappa + 1 \ge 1$, we therefore see that

$$\left\| \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \right\| \le 8(\kappa+1)^4.$$
(6.8)

On the other hand, using part (ii) of Lemma 6.2, the first matrix in line (6.7) above is closer than $\varepsilon(\kappa + 1)$ to $h(1 - h)(u + u^{-1} - 2)$ (we identify this as usual with the diagonal matrix with both entries equal to $h(1 - h)(u + u^{-1} - 2)$). Hence, the difference in line (6.5) is closer than $8(\kappa + 1)^5 \varepsilon$ to

$$h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2)\begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2)\\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix}$$
.

Hence, for $x \in X$,

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} x, v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\|$$

$$< 16(\kappa + 1)^{5} \varepsilon + \left\| \begin{bmatrix} x, h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \right\| \right\|.$$
(6.9)

As $||[x, h]|| < \varepsilon$, we have $||[x, h(1 - h)]|| < 2\varepsilon$; combining this with line (6.8) gives

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} x, h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\|$$

 $< 2\varepsilon \cdot 8(\kappa+1)^5 + \left\| h(1-h) \begin{bmatrix} x, (u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\|.$

Combining this with line (6.9) gives

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} x, v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\|$$

$$< 32(\kappa + 1)^{5} \varepsilon + \left\| h(1-h) \begin{bmatrix} x, (u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\|.$$
(6.10)

Every entry of the matrix $(u + u^{-1} - 2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix}$ can be written as a sum of at most 30 terms, each of which is a product of at most 5 elements from the set $\{u, u^{-1}, h, 1\}$, each of which has norm at most κ . As $\|[h(1-h)x, y]\| < \varepsilon$ for all $y \in \{u, u^{-1}, h, 1\}$, Lemma 4.16 gives

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} h(1-h)x, (u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| < 4 \cdot 30 \cdot 5 \cdot \kappa^{4} \varepsilon.$$
(6.11)

On the other hand, $\|[h(1-h), y]\| < 2\varepsilon$ for all $y \in \{u, u^{-1}, h, 1\}$, whence

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} h(1-h), (u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} x \right\| < 4 \cdot 30 \cdot 5 \cdot \kappa^4 \varepsilon.$$
 (6.12)

Finally, note that

$$h(1-h) \left[x, (u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \right]$$

= $\left[h(1-h)x, (u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \right]$
+ $\left[h(1-h), (u+u^{-1}-2) \begin{pmatrix} 1-cd & c(dc-2) \\ -d & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \right] x,$
so combining lines (6.10), (6.11), and (6.12) implies

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} x, v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| < 1232(\kappa + 1)^5 \varepsilon.$$

Recalling that $\kappa \ge 1$, this is enough for the estimate in line (6.6).

We are now ready for the proof of Proposition 6.1.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. Assume that $w \in \mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$, and let

$$u \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$$

be in the same path component as w in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$; u is guaranteed to exist by Proposition 4.13 (i). Define v := v(u, h) as in line (6.2), so Lemma 6.3 gives an element

$$\left(v\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}v^{-1},\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\right)\in\mathcal{P}_{2n,3^{6}\kappa^{12},2^{16}\kappa^{11}\varepsilon}(X\cup\{h\},B).$$

Moreover, if $u_0 := u$, and u_1 is another choice of element in

$$\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X\cup\{h\},B)$$

that is connected to w in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ then Proposition 4.13 (ii) implies that there is a homotopy $(u_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ that connects u_0 and u_1 through

$$\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^4,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X\cup\{h\},B).$$

Let $v_t := v(u_t, h)$ be as in line (6.2). Then, Lemma 6.3 implies that the path

$$t \mapsto \left(v_t \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v_t^{-1}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}\right), \quad t \in [0, 1]$$

has image in $\mathcal{P}^1_{2n,3^6\kappa^{24},2^{16}\kappa^{21}\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$. In particular, the class

$$\partial[w] \in KK^0_{3^6\kappa^{24},2^{16}\kappa^{21}\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$$

does not depend on the choice of u, so at this point we have a well-defined set map

$$\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X\cup\{h\},B)\to KK^0_{3^6\kappa^{24},2^{16}\kappa^{21}\varepsilon}(X\cup\{h\},B).$$

We next claim that this map sends block sums on the left to sums on the right.

For this, assume that w_1 and w_2 are elements of $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$. Let u_1 and u_2 be elements of $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa^2}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ that are connected to w_1 and

 w_2 respectively in $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$. For $i \in \{1,2\}$ let $v_i = v(u_i,h)$ be as in line (6.2), and let $v := v(u_1 \oplus u_2, h) \in M_{4n}(\mathcal{L}_B)$. Then, the pairs

$$\left(v_1\begin{pmatrix}1_n&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}v_1^{-1}\oplus v_2\begin{pmatrix}1_n&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}v_2^{-1},\ \begin{pmatrix}1_n&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\oplus\begin{pmatrix}1_n&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\right)$$

and

$$\left(v\begin{pmatrix}1_{2n}&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}v^{-1},\ \begin{pmatrix}1_{2n}&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}\right)$$

in $M_{4n}(\mathcal{K}_B^+) \oplus M_{4n}(\mathcal{K}_B^+)$ differ by conjugation by the same (scalar) permutation matrix in each component, and so define the same class in $KK_{3^6\kappa^{24},2^{16}\kappa^{21}\varepsilon}^0(X \cup \{h\}, B)$.

At this point, we have a semigroup homomorphism

$$\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X\cup\{h\},B)\to KK^0_{3^6\kappa^{24},2^{16}\kappa^{21}\varepsilon}(X\cup\{h\},B).$$

We claim that it respects the equivalence relation defining $KK^1_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$. First, we check that $w \oplus 1_k$ goes to the same class as w. As we already know we have a semigroup homomorphism, it suffices to show that 1_k goes to zero in $KK^0_{3^6\kappa^{24},2^{16}\kappa^{20}\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$. For this, note that if $v := v(1_k, h)$ is as in line (6.2), then $v = 1_{2k}$, whence the image of 1_k in $KK^0_{3^6\kappa^{24},2^{16}\kappa^{21}\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$ is the class $[1_k \oplus 0_k, 1_k \oplus 0_k]$, which is zero by definition.

Let us now show that elements of $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ that are homotopic through $\mathcal{U}_{n,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ go to the same class. For this, say that w_0 and w_1 are homotopic through $\mathcal{U}_{n,2\kappa,\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$. Choose u_0 and u_1 in $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ that are connected to w_0 and w_1 respectively in $\mathcal{U}_{n,\kappa^2,\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$ as in Proposition 4.13 (i). Using Proposition 4.13 (ii), u_0 and u_1 are connected by a homotopy $(u_t)_{t\in[0,1]}$ in $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,4\kappa^4,2\kappa\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$. Let $v_t := v(u_t, h)$ be as in line (6.2). Then, Lemma 6.3 implies that the path

$$\left(v_t \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v_t^{-1}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}\right)$$

defines a homotopy between the images of w_0 and w_1 in $\mathcal{P}^1_{2n,3^{14}\kappa^{24},2^{27}\kappa^{21}\varepsilon}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$. We thus see that $N_0(\kappa) := 2^{27}\kappa^{24}$ has the desired property, and we are done with the existence of ∂ .

As the formulas for the boundary map ∂ do not depend on the constants κ and ε the naturality statement is clear.

6.2 Exactness

We now turn to the exactness property of the boundary map. In order to state this, we need two lemmas.

Lemma 6.4. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Let *X* and *Y* be subsets of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\kappa \ge 1$. Let $h \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be a positive contraction such that $||[h, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. With notation as in Definition 3.1, let

$$(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$$

(respectively, with notation as in Definition 4.9, let $(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}^{(1)}(X \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$). Then,

$$(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,2\varepsilon}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$$

(respectively, $(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,2\varepsilon}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$).

In particular, there are homomorphisms

$$\eta_h: KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B) \to KK^0_{\kappa,2\varepsilon}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$$

and

$$\eta_{1-h}: KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B) \to KK^0_{\kappa,2\varepsilon}((1-h)X \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$$

induced by the identity map on cycles (p, q).

Proof. We compute that for $x \in X$,

$$\|[p, hx]\| \le \|h\| \|[p, x]\| + \|[p, h]\| \|x\| < \varepsilon + \varepsilon.$$

These estimates hold similarly for q so $(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,2\varepsilon}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$. As the identity map on cycles takes homotopies to homotopies, and block sums to block sums, existence of the homomorphism η_h is clear. Existence of η_{1-h} follows on noting that the assumptions on h also holds for 1 - h.

We leave the direct checks needed for the proof of the next lemma for the reader.

Lemma 6.5. Let B be a separable C^* -algebra. Let X and Y be subsets of the unit ball of \mathcal{X}_B , $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\kappa \ge 1$. Assume moreover that there is $\delta > 0$ such that for all $y \in Y$, $x \in_{\delta} X$. Then, for any $\gamma \ge \kappa \delta + \varepsilon$ and $\lambda \ge \kappa$, the forget control map of Definition 3.4

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X,B) \to KK_{\lambda,\gamma}(Y,B)$$

is well-defined.

The next proposition is the exactness property of the Mayer–Vietoris boundary map that we are aiming for. We refer the reader to Section 1.6 for motivation behind the statement. For the statement, recall that for an element x and subset Y of a metric space, and for $\varepsilon > 0$, we write " $x \in_{\varepsilon} S$ " to mean that there is $y \in Y$ with $d(x, y) < \varepsilon$. Moreover, in the statement below, all unlabeled arrows between controlled *KK*groups are the forget control maps of Definition 3.4 or Definition 3.7.

Proposition 6.6. The increasing functions $N_1, N_2 : [1, \infty) \rightarrow [1, \infty)$ defined by

 $N_1(\lambda) = 2^{9000000\lambda^3}$ and $N_2(\mu) = 2^37\mu^{25}$.

satisfy the following properties.

Let $\kappa \geq 1$, and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $\lambda \geq \kappa$, and let $\delta \geq 3\kappa\varepsilon$. Let $N_1 := N_1(\lambda)$, and let $\mu \geq N_1$ and $\gamma \geq N_1\delta$. With notation as in Proposition 6.1, define

$$N_0 := N_0(\mu),$$

and let $N_2 := N_2(\mu)$.

Let B be a separable C*-algebra, and let X be a self-adjoint subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B . Let $h \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be a positive contraction such that $||[h, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$. Let Y_h , Y_{1-h} , and Y be self-adjoint subsets of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B such that $y \in_{\varepsilon} Y_h$ and $y \in_{\varepsilon} Y_{1-h}$ for all $y \in Y$. With notation as in Definition 4.9, let (p, q) be an element of $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y_h \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B)$. With η_h and η_{1-h} as in Lemma 6.4, and suing Lemma 6.5 to define the right hand vertical maps in each case, assume that the images of [p, q] under the maps

and

$$KK^{0}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y_{h} \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B)$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$KK^{0}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B) \xrightarrow{\eta_{1-h}} KK^{0}_{\kappa,2\varepsilon}((1-h)X \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B) \quad (6.14)$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$KK^{0}_{\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$$

are zero.

Then, with notation as in Definition 4.11, there exists an element

$$u \in \mathcal{U}^1_{\infty, N_1, N_1\delta}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B)$$

such that in the diagram below

the images of the classes $[u] \in KK^1_{N_1,N_1\delta}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y)$ and

$$[p,q] \in KK^{0}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y_h \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B)$$

in the bottom right group $KK^0_{N_2,N_2\nu}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$ are the same.

Just as for Proposition 6.1, to make the argument more palatable, we split off some computations as two technical lemmas. As in that earlier case, the arguments we give for these lemmas are elementary, but quite lengthy (in fact, much longer than the earlier ones). We record them for the sake of completeness, but again recommend that the reader skips the proofs.

Lemma 6.7. Let *B* be a separable C^* -algebra. Let $v \ge 1$ and let $\gamma > 0$. Let *X* and *Y* be self-adjoint subsets of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B . Let $h \in \mathcal{L}_B$ be a positive contraction such that $\|[h, x]\| < \gamma$ for all $x \in X$. Let $(p, q) \in \mathcal{P}^1_{n,v,\gamma}(X \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$ (see Definition 4.9 for notation), and let $u_h \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n,v,\gamma}(hX \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B)$ and $u_{1-h} \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n,v,\gamma}((1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B)$ (see Definition 4.11 for notation).

Then, the element

$$u := u_{1-h}(1-p) + u_h p \tag{6.15}$$

is in $\mathcal{U}^1_{n,2\nu^2,10\nu\gamma}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B).$

Proof. We split the computations into the points labeled (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), and (v) below.

(i) As $u_h - 1 \in M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$ and $u_{1-h} - 1 \in M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$, we compute from line (6.15) that $u - 1 \in M_n(\mathcal{K}_B)$.

(ii) Note that

$$\|1 - p\| \le v \tag{6.16}$$

by Corollary 4.2. Hence, $\max\{||u_h||, ||u_{1-h}||, ||p||, ||1-p||\} \le \nu$, and so by line (6.15), $||u|| \le 2\nu^2$.

(iii) Let $y \in Y$. Then, by definition, $||[a, y]|| < \gamma$ for all $a \in \{u_h, u_{1-h}, p, 1-p\}$. Hence, the definition of u from line (6.15) implies that ||[y, u]|| is bounded above by

 $\|[y, u_{1-h}]\|\|1 - p\| + \|u_{1-h}\|\|[y, 1 - p]\| + \|[y, u_h]\|\|p\| + \|u_h\|\|[y, p]\| < 4\nu\gamma.$

(iv) Using the definition of u from line (6.15) and the assumptions on u_h , u_{1-h} and p directly together with line (6.16) implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|[u,h]\| &\leq \|[h,u_{1-h}]\| \|1-p\| + \|u_{1-h}\| \|[h,1-p]\| \\ &+ \|[h,u_h]\| \|p\| + \|u_h\| \|[h,p]\| \\ &< 4\nu\gamma. \end{aligned}$$

(v) Let $x \in X$ and note that

$$[h(1-h)x, u_h] = (1-h)[hx, u_h] + [h, u_h](1-h)x$$

As $||[hx, u_h]|| < \gamma$, as $||[h, u_h]|| < \gamma$, as h is a positive contraction, and as x is a contraction, we get

$$\|[h(1-h)x, u_h]\| \le \|[hx, u_h]\| \||1-h\| + \|hx\| \|[1-h, u_h]\| < 2\gamma.$$
(6.17)

Completely analogously, we see that

$$\|[h(1-h)x, u_{1-h}]\| < 2\gamma.$$
(6.18)

We see also that

$$\|[h(1-h)x, p]\| \le \|[x, p]\| \|h(1-h)\| + \|[1-h, p]\| \|hx\| + \|[h, p]\| \|(1-h)x\| < 3\gamma.$$

Combining this with lines (6.16), (6.17), (6.18), we get

$$\begin{split} \|[h(1-h)x, u]\| &\leq \|[h(1-h)x, u_{1-h}]\| \|1-p\| + \|u_{1-h}\| \|[h(1-h)x, 1-p]\| \\ &+ \|[h(1-h)x, u_{h}]\| \|p\| + \|u_{h}\| \|[h(1-h)x, p]\| \\ &< 2\nu\gamma + 3\nu\gamma + 2\nu\gamma + 3\nu\gamma \\ &= 10\nu\gamma. \end{split}$$

Putting the points (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), and (v) above together (and using that $v \ge 1$) we conclude that, u is an element of $\mathcal{U}_{n,2v^2,10v\gamma}^1(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B)$ as claimed.

Lemma 6.8. With assumptions as in Lemma 6.7, let

$$u := u_{1-h}(1-p) + u_h p \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n,2\nu^2,10\nu\gamma}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B)$$

be the element considered there. Let v := v(u, h) be as in line (6.2) above, and define

$$w := \begin{pmatrix} u_{1-h}(1-p) & -q \\ p & (1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in M_{2n}(\mathcal{L}_B).$$

Then, w is invertible, and vw^{-1} is in $\mathcal{U}_{2n,(2\nu)^8,2^{37}\nu^{25}\gamma}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$.

Proof. Using the assumptions on ||p||, $||u_{1-h}||$, $||u_{1-h}^{-1}||$ and line (6.16) to estimate ||1 - p||, we have

$$||w|| \le ||u_{1-h}(1-p)|| + ||q|| + ||p|| + ||(1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1}|| \le 4\nu^2.$$

A direct computation shows that w is invertible with inverse

$$w^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1} & p \\ -q & u_{1-h}(1-p) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.19)

This satisfies the same norm estimate as w, and so we get the norm estimates

$$||w|| \le (2\nu)^2$$
 and $||w^{-1}|| \le (2\nu)^2$. (6.20)

Lemma 6.3 and the fact that $||u|| \le 2\nu^2$ implies that $||v|| \le (2\nu^2 + 2)^3$ and $||v^{-1}|| \le (2\nu^2 + 2)^3$. As $\nu \ge 1$, we thus see that

$$||v|| \le (2\nu)^6$$
 and $||v^{-1}|| \le (2\nu)^6$. (6.21)

Lines (6.20) and (6.21) then imply

$$||vw^{-1}|| \le (2\nu)^8$$
 and $||wv^{-1}|| \le (2\nu)^8$. (6.22)

To complete the proof, we need to show that for all $x \in X \cup \{h\}$, we have $\|[vw^{-1}, x]\| < 2^{37}v^{25}\gamma$ and $\|[wv^{-1}, x]\| < 2^{37}v^{25}\gamma$. We focus first on the case of vw^{-1} , and look first at $[h, vw^{-1}]$.

Let c := hu + (1 - h) and $d := hu^{-1} + (1 - h)$ be as in line (6.1). It will be technically convenient to define

$$S := \{h, 1-h, p, q, 1-p, 1-q, u_h, u_h^{-1}, u_{1-h}, u_{1-h}^{-1}, u, u^{-1}, c, d\},$$
(6.23)

and to define S^n to be the set of all products of at most *n* elements from *S*. Note that for every $s \in S$ we have $||s|| \le (2\nu)^2$, and $||[s, h]|| < 10\nu\gamma$. Hence, by Lemma 4.16, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$s \in S^n \Rightarrow ||[h, s]|| < n(2\nu)^{2(n-1)} 10\nu\gamma.$$
 (6.24)

Using the formula in line (6.4) above,

$$[h, v] = \begin{pmatrix} [cdc, h] - 2[c, h] & [cd, h] \\ [h, dc] & [d, h] \end{pmatrix}$$

and so

$$\|[h,v]\| \le \|[cdc,h]\| + 2\|[c,h]\| + \|[cd,h]\| + \|[h,dc]\| + \|[d,h]\|.$$

Each summand on the right-hand side above is of the form ||[h, s]|| where $s \in S^3$ for *S* as in line (6.23). Hence, line (6.24) implies that

$$\|[h,v]\| < 6 \cdot 3 \cdot (2\nu)^4 \cdot 10\nu\gamma \le 2^{11}\nu^5\gamma.$$
(6.25)

We also compute that

$$[h, w^{-1}] = \begin{pmatrix} [h, (1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1}] & [h, p] \\ [q, h] & [h, u_{1-h}(1-p)] \end{pmatrix},$$

whence

$$\|[h, w^{-1}]\| \le \|[h, (1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1}]\| + \|[h, p]\| + \|[q, h]\| + \|[h, u_{1-h}(1-p)]\|.$$

Each commutator appearing above is of the form [h, s] for some $s \in S^2$ as in line (6.23), whence line (6.24) gives

$$\|[h, w^{-1}]\| < 4 \cdot (2\nu)^2 \cdot 10\nu\gamma \le 2^7 \nu^3 \gamma.$$
(6.26)

On the other hand,

$$\|[h, vw^{-1}]\| \le \|[h, v]\| \|w^{-1}\| + \|v\| \|[h, w^{-1}]\|.$$

Combining this with lines (6.20), (6.21), (6.25), and (6.26), as well as that $\nu \ge 1$, we see that

$$\|[h, vw^{-1}]\| < 2^{11}v^5\gamma \cdot (2v)^2 + (2v)^6 \cdot 2^7v^3\gamma \le 2^{14}v^9\gamma.$$
(6.27)

Now, let us look at $[x, vw^{-1}]$ for $x \in X$. The definition of v from line (6.2) gives

$$vw^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} c(dc-1) & 1-cd \\ dc-1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} w^{-1} - \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix} w^{-1}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} cd-1 & 0 \\ 0 & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} w^{-1} - \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix} w^{-1}.$$

Hence, the formula for w^{-1} from line (6.19) gives

$$vw^{-1} = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} cd - 1 & 0 \\ 0 & dc - 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c(1 - p)u_{1-h}^{-1} & cp - u_{1-h}(1 - p) \\ (1 - p)u_{1-h}^{-1} & p \end{pmatrix}}_{y_1} - \underbrace{h \begin{pmatrix} 1 - q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1 - p \end{pmatrix}}_{y_2} - \underbrace{(1 - h) \begin{pmatrix} (1 - p)u_{1-h}^{-1} & p \\ -q & u_{1-h}(1 - p) \end{pmatrix}}_{y_3}.$$
(6.28)

We now estimate $||[vw^{-1}, x]||$ for each $x \in X$ by looking at each of the terms y_1, y_2 , and y_3 separately.

(i) First, we look at y_1 from line (6.28). Let $x \in X$. Lemma 6.2 implies that

$$\left\| \begin{pmatrix} cd-1 & 0\\ 0 & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} - h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2) \right\| < (\nu+1)\gamma$$
(6.29)

(where, as usual, we identify $h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2)$ with the corresponding diagonal matrix). Let

$$z_1 := \begin{pmatrix} c(1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1} & cp - u_{1-h}(1-p) \\ (1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1} & p \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.30)

As in line (6.16), $||1 - p|| \le v$, whence using that $v \ge 1$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|z_1\| &\leq \|c\| \|1 - p\| \|u_{1-h}^{-1}\| + \|c\| \|p\| + \|u_{1-h}\| \|1 - p\| \\ &+ \|1 - p\| \|u_{1-h}^{-1}\| + \|p\| \\ &\leq (2\nu^2 + 1)\nu^2 + (2\nu^2 + 1)\nu + \nu^2 + \nu^2 + \nu \\ &\leq 9\nu^4. \end{aligned}$$
(6.31)

Combining this with line (6.29), we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|y_1 - h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2)z_1\| \\ &\leq \left\| \begin{pmatrix} cd-1 & 0\\ 0 & dc-1 \end{pmatrix} - h(1-h)(u+u^{-1}-2) \right\| \|z_1\| \\ &< 9\nu^4(\nu+1)\gamma \le (2\nu)^5\gamma. \end{aligned}$$

As $||x|| \le 1$, this implies that

$$\begin{split} \|[x, y_1]\| &\leq \|[x, y_1 - h(1 - h)(u + u^{-1} - 2)z_1]\| \\ &+ \|[x, h(1 - h)(u + u^{-1} - 2)z_1]\| \\ &< (2\nu)^5\gamma + \|[x, h(1 - h)(u + u^{-1} - 2)z_1]\|. \end{split}$$

Hence, we see that

$$\|[x, y_1]\| < (2\nu)^5 \gamma + \|[[x, h(1-h)], (u+u^{-1}-2)z_1]\| + \|[h(1-h)x, (u+u^{-1}-2)z_1]\| + \|[h(1-h), (u+u^{-1}-2)z_1]x\|.$$
(6.32)

Looking at line (6.30), every entry of the matrix $(u + u^{-1} - 2)z_1$ is a sum of at most 8 elements from the set S^4 , where S is as in line (6.23). Hence, by line (6.24), we see that

$$\|[h(1-h), (u+u^{-1}-2)z_1]\| < 4 \cdot 2 \cdot 8 \cdot 4 \cdot (2\nu)^6 \cdot 12\nu^2 \gamma \le 2^{18}\nu^8 \gamma.$$
 (6.33)

We have $||[x, h(1-h)]|| < 2\gamma$, and line (6.31) implies

$$\|(u+u^{-1}-2)z_1\| \le (4\nu^2+2) \cdot 9\nu^4 \le 2^6\nu^6,$$

whence

$$\|[[x, h(1-h)], (u+u^{-1}-2)z_1]\| \le 2^8 \nu^6 \gamma.$$
(6.34)

Combining lines (6.32), (6.33), and (6.34) thus implies that

$$\|[x, y_1]\| \le 2^{19} \nu^8 \gamma + \|[h(1-h)x, (u+u^{-1}-2)z_1]\|.$$
(6.35)

Note now that for every element $s \in S$ we have that at least one of the following holds: (a) $||[s, x]|| < 16\nu^2\gamma$ for all $x \in X$; or (b) $||[s, (1 - h)x]|| < 16\nu^2\gamma$ for all $x \in X$; or (c) $||[s, (1 - h)x]|| < 16\nu^2\gamma$ for all $x \in X$; or (d) $||[s, h(1 - h)x]|| < 16\nu^2\gamma$ for all $x \in X$. In any of these cases, using that $||[s, h]|| \le 12\nu^2\gamma$ for any $s \in S$, we get that for any $s \in S$ and $x \in X$, $||[s, h(1 - h)x]|| < 40\nu^2\gamma$. Applying Lemma 4.16, we therefore see that

$$s \in S^n \Rightarrow \|[h(1-h)x, s]\| < n(2\nu)^{2(n-1)} 40\nu^2 \gamma.$$
 (6.36)

As we have observed above already, every entry in the matrix $(u + u^{-1} - 2)z_1$ is a sum of at most 8 elements from the set S^4 , where S is as in line (6.23). From line (6.36) we therefore see that

$$\|[h(1-h)x, (u+u^{-1}-2)z_1]\| < 4 \cdot 4 \cdot (2\nu)^4 \cdot 40\nu^2 \gamma \le 2^{14}\nu^6 \gamma.$$

Combining this with line (6.35) above therefore implies

$$\|[x, y_1]\| < 2^{20} \nu^8 \gamma.$$

(ii) Now, we look at the element y_2 from line (6.28) above. If $x \in X$, we see that

$$[x, y_2] = \left[xh, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \right] + \left[h, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \right] x.$$
(6.37)

We have that

$$\begin{bmatrix} h, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} [q,h] & [h,u_h p] \\ [u_h^{-1}q,h] & [p,h] \end{pmatrix}.$$

Each entry in the matrix on the right is the commutator of h with an element of S^2 , where S is as in line (6.23) above. Hence, by line (6.24), we see that

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} h, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| < 4 \cdot 2 \cdot (2\nu)^2 \cdot 12\nu^2 \gamma \le 2^9 \nu^4 \gamma.$$

Combining this with line (6.37) gives

$$\|[x, y_2]\| < \left\| \begin{bmatrix} xh, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| + 2^9 \nu^4 \gamma.$$
(6.38)

On the other hand

$$\begin{bmatrix} xh, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_hp \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} [x,h], \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_hp \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} hx, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_hp \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (6.39)

As $||[h, x]|| < \gamma$, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} [x,h], \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| \le 2\gamma \left\| \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \right\|.$$

As $||1 - p|| \le v$ and $||1 - q|| \le v$ by Corollary 4.2, every entry of the matrix on the right has norm at most v^2 , and so

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} [x,h], \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_h p \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| < 2^3 \nu^2 \gamma.$$

Hence, line (6.39) implies that

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} xh, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_hp \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| < \left\| \begin{bmatrix} hx, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_hp \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| + 2^3 \nu^2 \gamma.$$
(6.40)

The commutator appearing on the right above equals

$$\begin{pmatrix} [q,hx] & [hx,u_h]p + u_h[hx,p] \\ [u_h^{-1},hx]q - u_h^{-1}[hx,q] & [p,hx] \end{pmatrix}.$$

Using that $u_h \in \mathcal{U}^1_{n,\nu,\gamma}(hX, B)$, and applying Lemma 6.4, the norm of each entry above is at most $2\nu\gamma$, whence

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} hx, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & u_hp \\ -u_h^{-1}q & 1-p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| < 2^3 \nu \gamma.$$

Combining this with lines (6.38) and (6.40) therefore implies that

$$\|[x, y_2]\| < 2^{10} \nu^4 \gamma.$$

(iii) Finally, we look at y_3 from line (6.28). This can be handled very similarly to the case of y_2 , giving the estimate $||[x, y_3]|| < 2^{10}\nu^4\gamma$ for all $x \in X$; we leave the details to the reader.

Putting together the concluding estimates of points (i), (ii), and (iii) above, we see that $||[x, vw^{-1}]|| < 2^{21}v^8\gamma$ for all $x \in X$. Combining this with line (6.27), we see that

$$\|[x, vw^{-1}]\| < 2^{21}v^9\gamma \tag{6.41}$$

for all $x \in X \cup \{h\}$.

To complete the proof, let us estimate $||[x, wv^{-1}]||$ for $x \in X \cup \{h\}$. Using the formula $[x, wv^{-1}] = wv^{-1}[vw^{-1}, x]wv^{-1}$, we see that

$$||[x, wv^{-1}]|| \le ||wv^{-1}|| ||[vw^{-1}, x]|| ||wv^{-1}||.$$

Lines (6.41) and (6.22) therefore imply that

$$\|[x, wv^{-1}]\| \le 2^{37} v^{25} \gamma$$

and we are finally done.

Finally, we are ready for the proof of Proposition 6.6.

Proof of Proposition 6.6. With notation as in the statement, let

$$(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}^1_{n,\kappa,\varepsilon}(X \cup Y_h \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B),$$

and assume that the images of [p, q] in $KK^0_{\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$ and $KK^0_{\lambda,\delta}((1 - h)X \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$ under the maps in lines (6.13) and (6.14) are zero.

Note first that the map in line (6.13) is induced by the identity map on cycles, so Lemma 3.3 applied to the cycle (p,q) in $\mathcal{P}_{n,\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$ implies that there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $(p \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k, q \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)$ is in the same path component of $\mathcal{P}_{n+2k,2\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$ as an element of the form (r,r). Replacing (r,r) with (yry^*, yry^*) for some appropriate unitary $y \in M_{n+2k}(\mathbb{C})$ and using that the unitary group of $M_{n+2k}(\mathbb{C})$ is connected, we may assume that (r,r) is in $\mathcal{P}_{n+2k,2\lambda,\delta}^1(hX \cup Y_h \cup \{h\}, B)$ (see Definition 4.9 for notation). Moreover, as

$$(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}^1_{n,\lambda,\delta}(X \cup Y_h \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B)$$

there is a unitary $z \in M_{n+2k}(\mathbb{C})$ such that $(z(p \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^*, z(q \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^*)$ is in $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$. As the elements (r, r) and $(z(p \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^*, z(q \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^*)$ of $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,2\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$ are connected by a path $\mathcal{P}_{n,2\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$, we may use Proposition 4.10 (ii) to connect them by a path in $\mathcal{P}^1_{n,2\lambda,4\delta}(hX \cup Y \cup \{h\}, B)$. Precisely analogously (increasing k if necessary), we may assume that $(z(p \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^*, z(q \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^*)$ is in the same path component of

$$\mathcal{P}^1_{n,2\lambda,4\delta}((1-h)X \cup Y_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, B)$$

as an element of the form (s, s).

For notational simplicity, write m = n + 2k, and let $M := 4 \cdot 2^{(200\lambda)^3}$. Then, (with notation as in Definition 4.11), Proposition 4.17 gives $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and elements

$$u_h \in \mathcal{U}^1_{m+2j,M,M\delta}(hX \cup \{h\} \cup Y,B)$$

and

$$u_{1-h} \in \mathcal{U}^1_{m+2j,M,M\delta}((1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B)$$

such that

$$u_h(z(p\oplus 1_k\oplus 0_k)z^*\oplus 1_j\oplus 0_j)u_h^{-1} = z(q\oplus 1_k\oplus 0_k)z^*\oplus 1_j\oplus 0_j \quad (6.42)$$

and

$$u_{1-h}(z(p \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^* \oplus 1_j \oplus 0_j)u_{1-h}^{-1} = z(q \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^* \oplus 1_j \oplus 0_j.$$
(6.43)

For notational simplicity, rename $z(p \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^* \oplus 1_j \oplus 0_j$ and $z(p \oplus 1_k \oplus 0_k)z^* \oplus 1_j \oplus 0_j$ as p and q respectively and rewrite m + 2j as n; if the conclusion of the proposition holds for this new pair then it also holds for the original pair thanks to the definition of the controlled KK^0 groups (see Definition 3.1), so this makes no real difference. In this new language, lines (6.42) and (6.43) can be rewritten $u_h p u_h^{-1} = q$ and $u_{1-h} p u_{1-h}^{-1} = q$ respectively.

Define now

$$u := u_{1-h}(1-p) + u_h p$$

which we claim has the properties in the statement. Using Lemma 6.7 with v = Mand $\gamma = M\delta$, we see that (with notation as in Definition 4.11), u is an element of $\mathcal{U}_{n,2M^2,10M^2\delta}^1(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Y, B)$. Recalling that $M = 4 \cdot 2^{(200\lambda)^3}$, we see that

$$N_1(\lambda) = 2^{9000000\lambda^3}$$

has the desired property.

To complete the proof, it remains to show that if $N_2 = N_2(\mu) = 2^{25200000\mu^3}$, then $\partial[u] = [p, q]$ in $KK^0_{N_2, N_2\gamma}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$.

Now, v := v(u, h) is as in line (6.2), we have

$$\partial[u] = \left[v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right].$$

Define now

$$w := \begin{pmatrix} u_{1-h}(1-p) & -q \\ p & (1-p)u_{1-h}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \in M_{2n}(\mathcal{L}_B).$$

Applying Lemma 6.8 with

$$\nu = M$$
 and $\gamma = M\delta$,

we see that w is in $\mathcal{U}_{2n,(2M)^8,2^{37}M^{25}\delta}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$. For notational simplicity, set $M_1 := 2^{37}M^{25}$. Proposition 4.6 implies that in $KK^0_{M_1^3,3M_1^3\delta}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$

$$\begin{aligned} \partial[u] &= \left[v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &= \left[(vw^{-1})^{-1}v \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} v^{-1} (vw^{-1}), \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &= \left[w \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} w^{-1}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Computing, we see that

$$w\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&0\end{pmatrix}w^{-1}=\begin{pmatrix}1-q&0\\0&p\end{pmatrix},$$

whence

$$\partial[u] = \left[\begin{pmatrix} 1-q & 0\\ 0 & p \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right]$$
(6.44)

in the group $KK^{0}_{M^{3}_{1},3M^{3}_{1}\delta}(X \cup \{h\}, B).$

Note now that the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 1-q & q \\ q & 1-q \end{pmatrix} \in M_{2n}(\mathcal{K}_B^+)$ has norm at most 2λ (as $||q|| \le \kappa \le \lambda$, and so $||1-q|| \le \lambda$ by Corollary 4.2), and that it satisfies

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} x, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & q \\ q & 1-q \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \right\| < \varepsilon < \delta$$

for all $x \in X \cup \{h\}$. Hence, $\begin{pmatrix} 1-q & q \\ q & 1-q \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{U}_{2n,2\lambda,\delta}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$. Applying Proposition 4.6 again and using that $\lambda \leq M_1$, the identity

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1-q & q \\ q & 1-q \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & q \\ q & 1-q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & 0 \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix}$$

shows that the class on the right-hand side of line (6.44) is the same as the class

$$\left[\begin{pmatrix} 1-q & 0 \\ 0 & p \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 1-q & 0 \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix} \right]$$

in $KK^0_{M_1^6,9M_1^9\delta}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$. Using a rotation homotopy, this is the same as [p,q] by definition of $KK^0_{M_1^6,9M_1^9\delta}(X \cup \{h\}, B)$; recalling that

$$M_1 := 2^{37} M^{25}, \quad M = 4 \cdot 2^{(200\lambda)^3},$$

and that $\mu \ge 2^{900000\lambda^3}$ we see that $N_2(\mu) = 2^{37}\mu^{25}$ indeed has the right properties.

Chapter 7

Main theorems

In this chapter (as throughout), if *B* is a separable C^* -algebra, then \mathcal{L}_B and \mathcal{K}_B are respectively the adjointable and compact operators on the standard Hilbert *B*-module $\ell^2 \otimes B$. We identify \mathcal{L}_B with the "diagonal subalgebra" $1_{M_n} \otimes \mathcal{L}_B \subseteq M_n \otimes \mathcal{L}_B = M_n(\mathcal{L}_B)$ for each *n*.

In this chapter we prove our main result; that is, the class of separable and nuclear C^* -algebras with the UCT is closed under decomposability.

7.1 Two technical "local" controlled vanishing results

In order to make the structure of the proof of Theorem 1.2 as clear as we can, in this section we split off two "local" technical results. These are based on our work in Chapters 5 and 6; given the material in these earlier chapters, at this point the proofs are essentially bookkeeping.

The next result is the first key technical ingredient we need; it is based on the material from Chapter 5. For the statement, recall that if *x* and *S* are respectively an element and subset of a metric space, and $\varepsilon > 0$, then " $x \in_{\varepsilon} S$ " means that there is $s \in S$ with $d(x, s) < \varepsilon$.

Proposition 7.1. There exists a function $M : [1, \infty) \to [1, \infty)$ with the following property. Let $\kappa \ge 1$, and let $M := M(\kappa)$. Let B be a separable C^* -algebra such that

$$K_*(B)=0.$$

Let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let X be a finite subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_{SB} . Let $F \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{SB}$ be a separable, nuclear, unital C^* -subalgebra of \mathcal{L}_{SB} such that the identity representation $F \rightarrow \mathcal{L}_{SB}$ is strongly unitally absorbing (see Definition 2.5), such that for all $x \in X$, $x \in_{\varepsilon} F$, and such that F satisfies the UCT.

Then, for each $i \in \{0, 1\}$ there exists a finite subset Z of F_1 such that the forget control map

$$KK^{i}_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,B) \to KK^{i}_{M,M\varepsilon}(X,B)$$

of Definition 3.4 (for i = 0) or Definition 3.7 (for i = 1) is zero.

Proof. Let us focus on the case of i = 0 first. Let *Y* be a finite subset of F_1 such that for all $x \in X$ there exists $y \in Y$ with $||x - y|| < \varepsilon$. Then, for any n, any $\delta > 0$, we see that with notation in Definition 3.1

$$\mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\delta}(Y,SB) \subseteq \mathcal{P}_{n,\kappa,\delta+2\kappa\varepsilon}(X,SB).$$

Hence, the forget control map

$$KK^{0}_{\kappa,\delta}(Y,SB) \to KK^{0}_{\kappa,\delta+2\kappa\varepsilon}(X,SB)$$
 (7.1)

is defined. On the other hand, Corollary 5.3 implies that there is a finite subset Z of F_1 such that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^0_{\kappa,160\varepsilon}(Y,SB)$$

is defined and zero. Taking $\delta = 160\varepsilon$, and composing this with the forget control map in line (7.1) above, we see that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^0_{\kappa,(160+2\kappa)\varepsilon}(Y,SB)$$

is well-defined and zero. We are therefore done in the case i = 0; any function M satisfying $M(\kappa) \ge 160 + 2\kappa$ will work. The case of i = 1 is similar (although requiring a much larger $M(\kappa)$), using Lemma 5.5 in place of Corollary 5.3.

The second key technical result we need is as follows; it is based on the material from Chapter 6.

Proposition 7.2. Let X be a finite subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $\kappa \ge 1$. Assume there exists a positive contraction $h \in \mathcal{L}_B$, finite self-adjoint subsets Z_h , Z_{1-h} , and $Z_{h(1-h)}$ of the unit ball of \mathcal{L}_B , and $\lambda, \mu \ge 1$ and $\delta, \gamma > 0$ with the following properties:

- (i) $||[h, x]|| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$;
- (ii) for each $z \in Z_{h(1-h)}$, $z \in_{\varepsilon} Z_h$ and $z \in_{\varepsilon} Z_{1-h}$;
- (iii) with $N_1 := N_1(\lambda)$ as in Proposition 6.6, the forget control map

$$KK^{1}_{N_{1},N_{1}\delta}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Z_{h(1-h)}) \to KK^{1}_{\mu,\gamma}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, B)$$

of Definition 3.7 is defined and zero;

(iv) the forget control map

$$KK^{0}_{4\kappa^{2},2\varepsilon}(Z_{h} \cup hX \cup \{h\}, B)$$

$$\rightarrow KK^{0}_{\lambda,\delta}(hX \cup \{h\} \cup Z_{h(1-h)}, B)$$

of Definition 3.4 is defined and zero;

(v) the forget control map

$$KK^{0}_{4\kappa^{2},2\varepsilon}(Z_{1-h}\cup(1-h)X\cup\{h\},B)$$

$$\rightarrow KK^{0}_{\lambda,\delta}((1-h)X\cup\{h\}\cup Z_{h(1-h)},B)$$

of Definition 3.4 is defined and zero.

Then, if $Z := Z_h \cup Z_{1-h} \cup X \cup \{h\}$ and $N_2 := N_2(\mu)$ is as in Proposition 6.6, we have that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,B) \to KK^0_{N_2,N_2\gamma}(X,B)$$

of Definition 3.4 is zero.

Proof. We need to show that an arbitrary class $\alpha \in KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(X, B)$ vanishes under the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,B) \to KK^0_{N_2,N_2\gamma}(X,B).$$

Using Proposition 4.10 (i), with notation as in Definition 4.9, we may assume that there is a cycle $(p,q) \in \mathcal{P}^1_{n,4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}(Z,B)$ such that $[p,q] \in KK^0_{4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}(Z,B)$ agrees with the image of α under the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,B) \to KK^0_{4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}(Z,B).$$

It thus suffices to show that $[p,q] \in KK^0_{4\kappa^3,\varepsilon}(Z,B)$ vanishes under the forget control map

$$KK^0_{4\kappa^2,\varepsilon}(Z,B) \to KK^0_{N_2,N_2\gamma}(X,B)$$

(we leave the check that this map is defined under our assumptions to the reader). Now, with notation as in Proposition 6.6, the composition

(compare line (6.13)) is the zero map; indeed, the right-hand vertical map is zero by assumption (iv). Similarly, using assumption (v), we see that the composition

(compare line (6.14)) is zero. Hence, Proposition 6.6 gives us an element

$$u \in \mathcal{U}^1_{\infty, N_1, N_1\delta}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Z_{h(1-h)}, B)$$

such that in the diagram below (with $N_0 = N_0(\mu)$ as in Proposition 6.1)

$$\begin{array}{ccc} KK^{1}_{N_{1},N_{1}\delta}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Z_{h(1-h)},B) & KK^{0}_{4\kappa^{2},2\varepsilon}(Z,B) \\ & & \downarrow & \\ KK^{1}_{\mu,\gamma}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\},B) \xrightarrow{\partial} & KK^{0}_{N_{0},N_{0}\gamma}(X \cup \{h\},B) & (7.2) \\ & & \downarrow & \\ & & KK^{0}_{N_{2},N_{2}\gamma}(X \cup \{h\},B) \end{array}$$

the images of the classes $[u] \in KK^1_{N_1,N_1\delta}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\} \cup Z_{h(1-h)})$ and $[p,q] \in KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,B)$ in the bottom right group $KK^0_{N_2,N_2\gamma}(X \cup \{h\},B)$ are the same; a fortiori their images are also the same if we further compose with the forget control map

$$KK^0_{N_2,N_2\gamma}(X \cup \{h\}, B) \to KK^0_{N_2,N_2\gamma}(X, B).$$

Assumption (iii) implies, however, that the left-hand vertical map in line (7.2) is zero, however, so we are done.

7.2 **Proof of the main theorems**

We are now ready for our main results. For the statement of the first of these, we recall what it means for a C^* -algebra to decompose over a class of C^* -algebras from Definition 1.1 above. After giving a proof of this, we will use it to establish the theorems from the introduction.

Theorem 7.3. Let $\kappa \ge 1$ and $\gamma > 0$. Let $M_1 := M(4)$ be as in Proposition 7.1. Let $N_1 := N_1(M_1)$ be as in Proposition 6.6. Let $M_2 := M(N_1)$ be as in Proposition 7.1. Let $N_2 := N_2(M_2)$ be as in Proposition 6.6. Then, any $\nu \ge N_2$ and $\varepsilon \in$ $(0, \gamma(2N_2M_2N_1M_1)^{-1})$ have the following property.

Let A be a separable, unital C^{*}-algebra that decomposes over the class of nuclear C^{*}-algebras that satisfy the UCT. Let B be any separable C^{*}-algebra such that $K_*(B) = 0$. Then, for any finite subset X of A_1 , and $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a finite subset Z of A_1 , such that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^0_{\nu,\nu}(X,SB)$$

of Definition 3.4 is defined and zero. In particular, A satisfies the UCT. *Proof.* The claim that A satisfies the UCT follows as the vanishing property in the statement of Theorem 7.3 implies condition (iii) from Corollary 5.3. It thus suffices to prove the vanishing property. Let ν and ε satisfy the given assumptions.

As *A* is decomposable with respect to the family of nuclear C^* -subalgebras that satisfy the UCT, there are nuclear, UCT C^* -subalgebras *C*, *D* and *E* of *A* and a positive contraction $h \in E$ such that for all $x \in X$, $||[h, x]|| < \varepsilon$, $hx \in_{\varepsilon} C$, $(1 - h)x \in_{\varepsilon} D$, and $h(1 - h)x \in_{\varepsilon} E$, and such that all $e \in E$ we have that $e \in_{\varepsilon} C$, and $e \in_{\varepsilon} D$. Replacing *C*, *D*, and *E* by the *C**-subalgebra of *A* spanned by the algebra and the unit of *A*, we may assume that *C*, *D*, and *E* are unital subalgebras of *A* (note that the unitization of a nuclear *C**-algebra that satisfies the UCT is nuclear and satisfies the UCT; see [10, Exercise 2.3.5] for nuclearity and [55, Proposition 2.3 (a)] for the UCT).

Represent A on \mathcal{L}_{SB} using a representation with the properties in Corollary 2.7 (with B replaced by SB), and identify A (therefore also C, D, and E) with unital C^* -subalgebras of \mathcal{L}_{SB} using this representation. Note that the restrictions of this representation to each of E, C, D, (and the representation of A itself) are strongly unitally absorbing.

Throughout the rest of the proof, all unlabeled arrows are forget control maps as in Definitions 3.4 or 3.7 as appropriate.

Using Proposition 7.1 there exists a finite self-adjoint subset $Z_{h(1-h)}$ of E_1 such that the forget control map

$$KK^{1}_{N_{1},2N_{1}M_{1}\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup Z_{h(1-h)} \cup \{h\}, SB) \rightarrow KK^{1}_{M_{2},2M_{2}N_{1}M_{1}\varepsilon}(h(1-h)X \cup \{h\}, SB)$$
(7.3)

is zero. Similarly, Proposition 7.1 and the facts that for all $z \in Z_{h(1-h)} \subseteq E_1$, $z \in_{\varepsilon} C$ and $z \in_{\varepsilon} D$ gives finite self-adjoint subsets Z_h and Z_{1-h} of C_1 and D_1 respectively such that the forget control maps

$$KK_{4,2\varepsilon}^{0}(hX \cup Z_{h} \cup \{h\}, SB) \rightarrow KK_{M_{1},2M_{1}\varepsilon}^{0}(hX \cup Z_{h(1-h)} \cup \{h\}, SB)$$

$$(7.4)$$

and

$$KK_{4,2\varepsilon}^{0}((1-h)X \cup Z_{1-h} \cup \{h\}, SB) \to KK_{M_{1},2M_{1}\varepsilon}^{0}((1-h)X \cup Z_{h(1-h)} \cup \{h\}, SB)$$
(7.5)

are defined and zero. Expanding Z_h and Z_{1-h} if necessary (using that for all $e \in E$, $e \in_{\varepsilon} C$, and $e \in_{\varepsilon} D$), we may assume that,

for all
$$z \in Z$$
, $z \in_{\varepsilon} Z_h$ and $z \in_{\varepsilon} Z_{1-h}$. (7.6)

We are now in a position to apply Proposition 7.2 with the given ε and κ , $\lambda = M_1$, $\delta = 2M_1\varepsilon$, $\mu = M_2$ and γ as given: assumption (i) follows by choice of *h*; assumption (ii) follows from line (7.6); assumption (iii) follows as the map in line (7.3) is

zero; assumption (iv) follows as the map in line (7.4) is zero; and assumption (v) follows as the map in line (7.5) is zero. Therefore, Proposition 7.2 implies that the forget control map

$$KK^0_{\kappa,\varepsilon}(Z,SB) \to KK^0_{\nu,\gamma}(X,SB)$$

is zero and we are done.

To establish the main results as stated in the introduction, we need a basic lemma.

Lemma 7.4. The class of unital, nuclear C*-algebras is closed under decomposability.

Proof. Let A be a unital C^* -algebra that decomposes over the class of unital nuclear C^* -algebras. Let a finite subset X of A and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ be given. To show that A is nuclear, it will suffice to construct a finite rank ccp map

$$\phi: A \to A$$

such that $\phi(x) \approx_{\varepsilon} x$ for all $x \in X$ (compare for example [8, Lemma IV.3.1.6, (iii)]). We may assume that X contains the unit of A.

Let then *C*, *D*, E^1 , and *h* be as in the definition of decomposability (Definition 1.1) with respect to the finite set *X* and the parameter $\delta = \frac{1}{18} (\varepsilon/(1+\varepsilon))^2$, and with *C* and *D* nuclear. Note that for any $x \in X$, $||[h^{1/2}, x]|| \le \frac{5}{4} ||[h, x]||^{1/2}$ by the main result of [49], whence

$$\|hx - h^{1/2}xh^{1/2}\| \le \frac{5}{4}\|[h, x]\|^{1/2} < \frac{5}{4}\delta^{1/2} < 2\delta^{1/2};$$
(7.7)

as $hx \in_{\delta} C$, and as $\delta < 1$, this implies that $h^{1/2}xh^{1/2} \in_{3\delta^{1/2}} C$. Choose a finite subset *Y* of *C* such that for all $x \in X$ there is $y_x \in Y$ with

$$\|y_x - h^{1/2} x h^{1/2}\| < 3\delta^{1/2}.$$
(7.8)

Similarly, there is a finite subset Z of D such that for all $x \in X$ there is $z_x \in Z$ with

$$||z_x - (1-h)^{1/2}x(1-h)^{1/2}|| < 3\delta^{1/2}.$$

Now, as C and D are nuclear there are diagrams



¹One does not actually need E at all in the proof.

where all the arrows are ccp maps; F_C and F_D are finite dimensional C^* -algebras; and for all $y \in Y$, and all $z \in Z$,

$$\phi_C(\psi_C(y)) \approx_{\delta^{1/2}} y \text{ and } \psi_D(\phi_D(z)) \approx_{\delta^{1/2}} z.$$
 (7.9)

Using Arveson's extension theorem (see for example [10, Theorem 1.6.1]), extend ψ_C and ψ_D to ccp maps defined on all of *A*, which we keep the same notation for. Define

$$\phi_0: A \to A, \quad a \mapsto \phi_C(\psi_C(h^{1/2}xh^{1/2})) + \phi_D(\psi_D((1-h)^{1/2}x(1-h)^{1/2})),$$

and note that ϕ_0 is completely positive. For any $x \in X$, let y_x have the property in line (7.8). As ψ_C is contractive, this and lines (7.9) and (7.7) imply that

$$\phi_C(\psi_C(h^{1/2}xh^{1/2})) \approx_{3\delta^{1/2}} \phi(\psi_C(y_x)) \approx_{\delta^{1/2}} y_x \approx_{3\delta^{1/2}} h^{1/2}xh^{1/2} \approx_{2\delta^{1/2}} hx.$$

Precisely analogously, for any $x \in X$,

$$\phi_D(\psi_D((1-h)^{1/2}x(1-h)^{1/2})) \approx_{9\delta^{1/2}} (1-h)x$$

and so for any $x \in X$, $\phi_0(x) \approx_{18\delta^{1/2}} x$. Applying this to x = 1 implies in particular that $\|\phi_0\| = \|\phi_0(1)\| \ge 1 - 18\delta^{1/2}$. Hence, if we define

$$\phi: A \to A, \quad a \mapsto \frac{\phi_0(a)}{\|\phi_0(1)\|}$$

then ϕ is a ccp map such that

$$\|\phi(x) - x\| \le \frac{18\delta^{1/2}}{1 - 18\delta^{1/2}}$$

for all $x \in X$. Using the choice of δ , this completes the proof.

The next corollary is Theorem 1.2 from the introduction; it is an immediate consequence of Lemma 7.4 and Theorem 7.3.

Corollary 7.5. If a separable, unital C^* -algebra decomposes over the class of nuclear, unital C^* -algebras that satisfies the UCT, then it is nuclear and satisfies the UCT.

The next result is Theorem 1.4 from the introduction. For the definition of finite complexity and the classes \mathcal{D}_{α} used below, see Definition 1.3.

Corollary 7.6. Let \mathcal{C} be a class of separable, unital, nuclear C^* -algebras that satisfy the UCT. Then, the class of separable unital C^* -algebras that have finite complexity relative to \mathcal{C} consists of nuclear C^* -algebras that satisfy the UCT.

In particular, every separable C^* -algebra of finite complexity is nuclear and satisfies the UCT.

Proof. With notation as in Definition 1.3, let $\mathcal{D}_0 = \mathcal{C}$, and for each ordinal α , let $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha,sep}$ consist of the separable C^* -algebras in the class \mathcal{D}_{α} from Definition 1.3. We proceed by transfinite induction to show that each $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha,sep}$ consists of nuclear, UCT C^* -algebras. If $\alpha = 0$, this is just the well-known fact that AF C^* -algebras satisfy the UCT. If $\alpha > 0$ (and either a successor or limit ordinal) then any C^* -algebra in $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha,sep}$ decomposes over C^* -algebras in $\bigcup_{\beta < \alpha} \mathcal{D}_{\beta,sep}$, and so is nuclear and UCT by Corollary 7.5 and the inductive hypothesis.

Appendix A

Examples

In this appendix we give some examples of C^* -algebras with finite complexity.

A.1 Cuntz algebras

The material in this section is based closely on work of Winter and Zacharias [70, Section 7]¹. Our aim is to establish the following result.

Proposition A.1. For any *n* with $2 \le n < \infty$, the Cuntz algebra \mathcal{O}_n has complexity rank one.

We should remark that the proof of Proposition A.1 uses classification results for Cuntz algebras, and so depends on prior knowledge of the UCT; it therefore cannot be said that Proposition A.1 gives a new proof of the UCT for Cuntz algebras (and even if it did, it would be quite a complicated one!). Indeed, the main point of establishing Proposition A.1 for us is to use it as an ingredient in Theorem 1.7 from the introduction, not to establish the UCT.

We should also remark that Proposition A.1 was subsequently generalized in [37, Theorem 1.5]; nonetheless, we hope that the different argument given here still has some interest.

We now embark on the proof of Proposition A.1. We will follow the notation from [70, Section 7]. Fix $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n \ge 2$. Let *H* be an *n*-dimensional Hilbert space, with fixed orthonormal basis $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$. Define

$$\Gamma(n) := \bigoplus_{l=0}^{\infty} H^{\otimes l}, \tag{A.1}$$

where $H^{\otimes l}$ is the *l*th tensor power of *H* (and $H^{\otimes 0}$ is by definition a copy of \mathbb{C}). Let W_n be the set of all finite words based on the alphabet $\{1, \ldots, n\}$. In symbols

$$W_n := \bigsqcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \{1, \ldots, n\}^k$$

(with $\{1, ..., n\}^0$ by definition consisting only of the empty word). For each $\mu = (i_1, ..., i_k) \in W_n$, define $e_{\mu} := e_{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{i_k}$, and define e_{\emptyset} to be any unit-length

¹More specifically, it is based on the slightly different approach to the material in [70, Section 7] suggested in [70, Remark 7.3].

element of $H^{\otimes 0} = \mathbb{C}$. Then, the set $\{e_{\mu} \mid \mu \in W_n\}$ is an orthonormal basis of $\Gamma(n)$. For $\mu \in W_n$, write $|\mu|$ for the length of μ , i.e., $|\mu| = k$ means that

$$\mu = (i_1, \ldots, i_k)$$

for some $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Then, the canonical copy of $H^{\otimes k}$ inside $\Gamma(n)$ from line (A.1) has orthonormal basis $\{e_{\mu} \mid |\mu| = k\}$.

For each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ let T_i be the bounded operator on $\Gamma(n)$ that acts on basis elements via the formula

$$T_i: e_\mu \mapsto e_i \otimes e_\mu.$$

The Cuntz-Toeplitz algebra \mathcal{T}_n is defined to be the C^* -subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma(n))$ generated by T_1, \ldots, T_n . We note that each T_i is an isometry, and that $1 - \sum_{i=1}^n T_i T_i^*$ is the projection onto the span of e_{\emptyset} . It follows directly from this that \mathcal{T}_n contains all matrix units with respect to the basis $\{e_{\mu}\}$ of $\Gamma(n)$, and therefore contains the compact operators \mathcal{K} on $\Gamma(n)$. Moreover, in the quotient $\mathcal{T}_n/\mathcal{K}$, the images s_i of the generators T_i satisfy the Cuntz relations $s_i^* s_i = 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^n s_i s_i^* = 1$, and therefore the quotient is a copy of the Cuntz algebra \mathcal{O}_n .

Now, for $x \in \mathbb{R}_+$, define $[x] := \min\{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid n \ge x\}$, and define²

$$\Gamma_{0,k} := \bigoplus_{l=k}^{2k-1} H^{\otimes l} \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma_{1,k} := \bigoplus_{l=k+\lceil k/2 \rceil}^{2k+\lceil k/2 \rceil} H^{\otimes l}.$$
(A.2)

For $i \in \{0, 1\}$, define $B_{i,k}^{(0)} := \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{i,k})$. For each $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, we identify $H^{\otimes l} \otimes H^{\otimes m}$ with $H^{\otimes (l+m)}$ via the bijection of orthonormal bases

 $(e_{i_1}\otimes\cdots\otimes e_{i_l})\otimes (e_{j_1}\otimes\cdots\otimes e_{j_m})\leftrightarrow e_{i_1}\otimes\cdots\otimes e_{i_l}\otimes e_{j_1}\otimes\cdots\otimes e_{j_m}.$

Fix for the moment $k \in \mathbb{N}$ (it will stay fixed until Lemma A.2 below). Then, for each $j \in \mathbb{N}$ we get a canonical identification

$$\Gamma_{0,k} \otimes H^{\otimes jk} = \bigoplus_{l=k}^{2k-1} H^{\otimes l} \otimes H^{\otimes jk} = \bigoplus_{l=jk}^{(j+1)k-1} H^{\otimes l}.$$

Combining this with line (A.1) we get a canonical identification

$$\Gamma(n) = \underbrace{\left(\bigoplus_{l=0}^{k-1} H^{\otimes l}\right)}_{=:H_0} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{j=0}^{\infty} \Gamma_{0,k} \otimes H^{\otimes jk}\right).$$

²In [70, Section 7], $\Gamma_{0,k}$ is written $\Gamma_{k,2k}$ and $\Gamma_{1,k}$ is written $\Gamma_{k+\lceil k/2 \rceil,2k+\lceil k/2 \rceil}$.

Let id be the identity representation of $B_{0,k}^{(0)}$ on $\Gamma_{0,k}$ and write $B_{0,k}$ for the image of $B_{0,k}^{(0)}$ in the representation on $\Gamma(n)$ that is given by

$$0_{H_0} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathrm{id} \otimes 1_{H^{\otimes jk}} \right)$$

with respect to the above decomposition above. Similarly, we get a decomposition

$$\Gamma(n) = \underbrace{\left(\bigoplus_{l=0}^{k+\lceil k/2\rceil-1} H^{\otimes l}\right)}_{=:H_1} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{j=0}^{\infty} \Gamma_{1,k} \otimes H^{\otimes jk}\right)$$

and define $B_{1,k}$ to be the image of $B_{1,k}^{(0)}$ under the representation

$$0_{H_1} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathrm{id} \otimes 1_{H^{\otimes jk}} \right).$$

Now, let $f: [0, 1] \rightarrow [0, 1]$ be the piecewise linear function that takes the value 0 on [0, 1/6] and [5/6, 0], the value 1 on [2/6, 4/6], and interpolates linearly between 0 and 1 on [1/6, 2/6] and [4/6, 5/6]. Let $h_{0,k}^{(0)} \in B_{0,k}^{(0)}$ be the operator on $\Gamma_{0,k}$ that acts on the summand $H^{\otimes l}$ from line (A.2) by multiplication by the scalar f((l-k)/(k-1)). Similarly, let $h_{1,k}^{(0)} \in B_{1,k}^{(1)}$ be the operator on $\Gamma_{1,k}$ that acts on the summand $H^{\otimes l}$ from line (A.2) by multiplication by the scalar $1 - f((l-k-\lceil k/2\rceil)/(k-1))$. Let $h_{0,k}$ and $h_{1,k}$ be the images of $h_{0,k}^{(0)}$ and $h_{1,k}^{(0)}$ in $B_{0,k}$ and $B_{1,k}$ respectively. Note that the operator on $h_{0,k} + h_{1,k}$ on $\Gamma(n)$ acts on the summand on $H^{\otimes l}$ from line (A.1) by multiplication by 1 as long as $l \ge k + \lceil k/2\rceil$. In particular,

 $h_{0,k} + h_{1,k}$ equals the identity on $\Gamma(n)$ up to a finite rank perturbation. (A.3)

We will need two technical lemmas about these operators.

Lemma A.2. For any T in the Cuntz–Toeplitz algebra \mathcal{T}_n and $i \in \{0, 1\}$, we have that $\|[h_{i,k}, T]\| \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

Proof. We will focus on $h_{0,k}$; the case of $h_{1,k}$ is essentially the same. It suffices to consider the case where T is one of the canonical generators T_i of the Cuntz–Toeplitz algebra. Let e_{μ} be a basis element with $|\mu| = jk + l$ for some $j, l \in \mathbb{N}$ with $l \in \{0, \ldots, k-1\}$. Then, we compute that $[h_{0,k}, T_i]e_{\mu} = 0$ if j = 0, and that otherwise

$$[h_{0,k}, T_i]e_{\mu} = \left(f((l+1)/(k-1)) - f(l/(k-1))\right)e_i \otimes e_{\mu}.$$

As the elements $\{e_i \otimes e_\mu \mid \mu \in W_n\}$ are an orthonormal set, this implies that

$$\|[h_{0,k}, T_i]\| \le \max_{l \in \{0, \dots, k-1\}} |f((l+1)/(k-1)) - f(l/(k-1))|.$$

The choice of function f implies that the right-hand side above is approximately 6/k, so we are done.

Lemma A.3. For any T in the Cuntz–Toeplitz algebra \mathcal{T}_n we have that

- (i) for $i \in \{0, 1\}$, $d(h_{i,k}T, B_{i,k}) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$;
- (ii) $d(h_{0,k}h_{1,k}T, B_{0,k} \cap B_{1,k}) \to 0 \text{ as } k \to \infty.$

Proof. We will focus on the case of $h_{0,k}$; the other cases are similar. It suffices to consider T a finite product $S_1 \cdots S_m$, where each S_j is either one of the generators T_i or its adjoint. Using Lemma A.2, we see that $[h_{0,k}^{1/l}, S_j] \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ for any j, and any $l \in \mathbb{N}$ with $l \ge 1$. Hence, the difference

$$h_{0,k}S_1\cdots S_m - (h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}S_1h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)})(h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}S_2h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)})\cdots (h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}S_mh_{0,k}^{1/(2m)})$$

tends to zero as $k \to \infty$. It thus suffices to prove that the distance between each of the terms $h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}S_jh_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}$ and $B_{0,k}$ tends to zero as $k \to \infty$. Define p_k to be the strong operator topology limit of $h_{0,k}^{1/l}$ as $l \to \infty$; in other words, p_k is the support projection of $h_{0,k}$. Then, we have that $h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}S_jh_{0,k}^{1/(2m)} = h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}p_kS_jp_kh_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}$. As $h_{0,k}^{1/(2m)}$ is in $B_{0,k}$, it suffices to prove that the distance between $p_kT_ip_k$ and $B_{0,k}$ tends to zero as $k \to \infty$. However, $p_kT_ip_k$ is actually in $B_{0,k}$, so we are done.

Now, as in the discussion on [70, p. 488], define

$$\Gamma_k(n) := \bigoplus_{l=0}^{k-1} H^{\otimes l}.$$

For a word $\mu \in W_n$ in $\{1, \ldots, n\}$, we may uniquely write $\mu = \mu_0 \mu_1$, where the lengths $|\mu_0|$ and $|\mu_1|$ satisfy $|\mu_0| \in \{0, \ldots, k-1\}$, and $|\mu_1| \in k \mathbb{N}$. Then, the bijective correspondence of orthonormal bases

$$e_{\mu} \leftrightarrow e_{\mu_0} \otimes e_{\mu_1}$$

gives rise to a decomposition

$$\Gamma(n) = \Gamma_k(n) \otimes \Gamma(n^k).$$

Identify the C^* -algebra $\mathscr{B}(\Gamma_k(n)) \otimes \mathscr{T}_{n^k}$ with its image in the representation on $\Gamma(n)$ arising from the above decomposition. The following is essentially part of [70, Lemma 7.1].

Lemma A.4. With notation as above, $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_k(n)) \otimes \mathcal{T}_{n^k}$ contains the finite-dimensional C^* -algebras we have called $B_{0,k}$ and $B_{1,k}$, and in particular also contains $h_{0,k}$ and $h_{1,k}$.

Proof. In the notation of [70, Lemma 7.1], $B_{0,k} = \Lambda_k(\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{k,2k}))$, and

$$B_{1,k} = \Lambda_k(\mathscr{B}(\Gamma_{k+\lceil k/2\rceil,2k+\lceil k/2\rceil})).$$

Part (i) of [70, Lemma 7.1] says exactly that the image of Λ_k is contained in

$$\mathscr{B}(\Gamma_k(n)) \otimes \mathscr{T}_{n^k},$$

however, so we are done.

It is explained on [70, p. 488] that $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_k(n)) \otimes \mathcal{T}_{n^k}$ contains \mathcal{T}_n , so we get a canonical inclusion.

$$\mathfrak{T}_n \to \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_k(n)) \otimes \mathcal{T}_{n^k}.$$
(A.4)

The dimension of $\Gamma_k(n)$ is $d_k := 1 + n + n^2 + \dots + n^{k-1}$, so we may make the identification $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_k(n)) \otimes \mathcal{T}_{n^k} = M_{d_k}(T_{n^k})$. With respect to this identification, the inclusion in line (A.4) takes the compact operators on $\Gamma(n)$ to $M_{d_k}(\mathcal{K}(\Gamma(n^k)))$. Taking the quotient by the compacts on both sides of line (A.4) thus gives rise to an inclusion

$$\iota: \mathcal{O}_n \to M_{d_k}(\mathcal{O}_{n^k}). \tag{A.5}$$

In this language, we get the following immediate corollary of Lemmas A.2 and A.3. To state it, let $q : \mathcal{B}(\Gamma(n)) \to \mathcal{Q}(\Gamma(n))$ be the quotient map from the bounded operators on $\Gamma(n)$ to the Calkin algebra.

Corollary A.5. For any $a \in \mathcal{O}_n$, we have that the following all tend to zero as $k \to \infty$: $\|[q(h_{0,k}), \iota(a)]\|, \|[q(h_{1,k}), \iota(a)]\|, d(q(h_{0,k})\iota(a), q(B_{0,k})), d(q(h_{1,k})\iota(a), q(B_{1,k})), and d(q(h_{0,k}h_{1,k})\iota(a), q(B_{0,k} \cap B_{1,k})).$

We are finally ready for the proof of Proposition A.1.

Proof of Proposition A.1. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, and let *X* be a finite subset of the unit ball of \mathcal{O}_n . Corollary A.5 implies that for any large *k* we have that for all $a \in X$ and $i \in \{0, 1\}$, the quantities $\|[q(h_{i,k}), \iota(a)]\|$, $d(q(h_{i,k})\iota(a), q(B_{i,k}))$, and $d(q(h_{0,k}h_{1,k})\iota(a), q(B_{0,k} \cap B_{1,k}))$ are smaller than $\varepsilon/2$. We may assume moreover that $k \equiv 1 \mod n - 1$. Fix this *k* for the remainder of the proof.

As discussed on [70, p. 488], we have a canonical unital inclusion $\mathcal{O}_{n^k} \to \mathcal{O}_n$ by treating suitable products of the generators of \mathcal{O}_n as generators of \mathcal{O}_{n^k} . Moreover, d_k is equal to k modulo n - 1. It follows that the K-theory of $M_{d_k}(\mathcal{O}_n)$ is given by $\mathbb{Z}/(n-1)\mathbb{Z}$ in dimension zero and zero in dimension one, with the class [1] of the unit in K_0 represented by the residue of k in $\mathbb{Z}/(n-1)\mathbb{Z}$. Hence, the K-theory

invariants of $M_{d_k}(\mathcal{O}_n)$ and \mathcal{O}_n agree, as we are assuming that $k \equiv 1 \mod n - 1$. In particular, the Kirchberg–Phillips classification theorem (see for example [53, Corollary 8.4.8]) gives a unital isomorphism $M_{d_k}(\mathcal{O}_n) \cong \mathcal{O}_n$. Combining this with the inclusion $\mathcal{O}_{n^k} \to \mathcal{O}_n$ mentioned above gives a unital inclusion

$$\beta: M_{d_k}(\mathcal{O}_{n^k}) \to \mathcal{O}_n. \tag{A.6}$$

Now, the composition $\beta \circ \iota : \mathcal{O}_n \to \mathcal{O}_n$ of β as in line (A.6) and ι as in line (A.5) is a unital inclusion, whence necessarily induces an isomorphism on *K*-theory. As \mathcal{O}_n satisfies the UCT, $\beta \circ \iota$ is therefore a *KK*-equivalence (see for example [55, Proposition 7.3]). Hence, the uniqueness part of the Kirchberg–Phillips classification theorem (see for example [53, Theorem 8.3.3, (iii)]) implies that $\beta \circ \iota : \mathcal{O}_n \to \mathcal{O}_n$ is approximately unitarily equivalent to the identity. Thus, there is a sequence (u_m) of unitaries in \mathcal{O}_n such that

$$\|a - u_m \beta \iota(a) u_m^*\| \to 0$$

for all $a \in \mathcal{O}_n$. Choose *m* large enough so that $||a - u_m \beta \iota(a) u_m^*|| < \varepsilon/2$ for all $a \in X$.

Set $h := u_m \beta(q(h_{0,k}))u_m^*$, $C_0 := u_m \beta(q(B_{0,k}))u_m^*$, $D_0 := u_m \beta(q(B_{1,k}))u_m^*$, and $E_0 := u_m \beta(q(B_{1,k} \cap B_{0,k}))u_m^*$. Set *C* to be the *C**-subalgebra of \mathcal{O}_n spanned by C_0 and the unit, and similarly for *D* and *E*. Our choices, plus the fact that

$$q(h_{0,k} + h_{1,k}) = 1$$

(see line (A.3)), imply that this data satisfies the definition of decomposability (Definition 1.1), so we are done.

A.2 Groupoids with finite dynamical complexity

In this section, we give another interesting class of C^* -algebras with finite complexity, that is, C^* -algebras of groupoids with finite dynamical complexity. To avoid repeating the same assumptions, let us stipulate that throughout this appendix the word "groupoid" means "locally compact, Hausdorff, étale groupoid"; we will often also assume that G has compact base space, but not always. For background on this class of groupoids and their C^* -algebras, we recommend [10, Section 5.6], [51, Section 2.3], or [59].

Note that if G is a groupoid in this sense, then any open subgroupoid H of G (i.e., H is an open subset of G that is algebraically a groupoid with the inherited operations) is also a groupoid in this sense. Again, to avoid too much repetition, let us say that the word "subgroupoid" means "open subgroupoid".

The following definitions are essentially contained in the authors' joint work with Guentner [31, Definition A.4].

Definition A.6. Let *G* be a groupoid, let *H* be a subgroupoid of *G*, and let \mathcal{C} be a set of subgroupoids of *G*. We say that *H* is *decomposable* over \mathcal{C} if for any compact subset *K* of *H* there exists an open cover $\{U_0, U_1\}$ of $r(K) \cup s(K)$ such that for each $i \in \{0, 1\}$ the subgroupoid of *H* generated by

$$\{h \in K \mid s(h) \in U_i\}$$

is contained in an element of \mathcal{C} .

Definition A.7. For an ordinal number α ,

- (i) if $\alpha = 0$, let \mathcal{C}_0 be the class of groupoids G such that for any compact subset K of G there is a subgroupoid H of G such that $K \subseteq H$, and such that the closure of H is compact;
- (ii) if $\alpha > 0$, let \mathcal{C}_{α} be the class of groupoids that decompose over the collection of their subgroupoids in the class $\bigcup_{\beta < \alpha} \mathcal{C}_{\beta}$.

We say that a groupoid G has *finite dynamical complexity* if G is contained in \mathcal{C}_{α} for some ordinal α . If G has finite dynamical complexity, the *complexity rank* of G is the smallest α such that G is in \mathcal{C}_{α} .

The main result of this section is as follows. For the statement, recall that a groupoid is *ample* if it has totally disconnected base space, and *principal* if the units are the elements $g \in G$ that satisfy s(g) = r(g). Recall also that a C^* -algebra is subhomogeneous if it is isomorphic to a C^* -subalgebra of $M_N(C(X))$ for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and compact Hausdorff space X. Recall finally the notion of complexity rank relative to a class of C^* -algebras from Definition 1.3.

Proposition A.8. Let G be a groupoid with compact base space.

- (i) The complexity rank of $C_r^*(G)$ relative to the class of subhomogeneous C^* -algebras is bounded above by the complexity rank of G.
- (ii) If G is ample and principal, then the complexity rank of $C_r^*(G)$ (relative to the class of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras) is bounded above by the complexity rank of G.

In particular, if G is second countable and has finite dynamical complexity, then $C_r^*(G)$ satisfies the UCT.

Before getting into the proof of this, let us discuss some remarks and examples.

Example A.9. Let G(X) be the coarse groupoid associated to a bounded geometry metric space X; see [61, Section 3] or [52, Chapter 10] for background. For such spaces X, Guentner, Tessera and Yu [29] introduced a notion called *finite decomposition complexity*; it comes with a natural complexity rank, defined to be the smallest ordinal α such that X is in the class \mathfrak{D}_{α} of [30, Definition 2.2.1]. Then, [31, Theorem A.7] shows that G(X) has finite dynamical complexity if and only if X has

finite decomposition complexity³; moreover, inspection of the proof shows that the two complexity ranks agree. It follows from this and [30, Theorem 4.1] that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there are spaces X such that G(X) is not in \mathcal{C}_n , but is in \mathcal{C}_N for some finite N > n. Moreover, it follows from [30, discussion below Definition 2.2.1] or the main result of [15] that there are spaces X such that G(X) is in \mathcal{C}_{α} for some infinite α , but not for any finite α .

Example A.9 shows that the range of possible values of the complexity rank for groupoids is quite rich. As we do not know the corresponding fact for C^* -algebras, the following question is natural.

Question A.10. Are there any circumstances when the complexity rank of $C_r^*(G)$ is bounded above by that of G?

It seems very unlikely that there is a positive answer in general, but it is conceivable that there could be a positive answer for coarse groupoids.

Example A.11. Transformation groupoids provide natural examples with finite complexity rank. Using the main result of [2], the complexity rank of the transformation groupoid associated to any free action of a virtually cyclic group on a finitedimensional space is one. We guess that the techniques used in the proof of [18, Theorem 1.3] should show that for many discrete groups Γ , any free action on the Cantor set *X* gives rise to a groupoid $X \rtimes \Gamma$ with finite dynamical complexity; however, we did try to look into the details, and would be interested in any progress here. These ideas lead to the following conjecture.

Conjecture A.12. If Γ has finite decomposition complexity then $X \rtimes \Gamma$ has finite dynamical complexity for any free action of Γ on the Cantor set.

Remark A.13. Proposition A.8 does not give new information on the UCT; this is because all groupoids with finite dynamical complexity are amenable by [31, Theorem A.9], whence their groupoid C^* -algebras satisfy the UCT by Tu's theorem [64, Proposition 10.7]. However, it seems interesting to have an approach to the UCT for a large class of groupoids that does not factor through the Dirac-dual-Dirac machinery employed by Tu.

We now turn to the proof of Proposition A.8. For a subgroupoid H of a groupoid G, write

$$H' := H \cup G^{(0)},$$

which is also a subgroupoid of G.

³This result was one of the key motivations for the definition of finite dynamical complexity, and also motivates the terminology.

Lemma A.14. Let G be a groupoid with compact base space, and let H be a subgroupoid in \mathcal{C}_{α} . Then, $H \cup G^{(0)}$ is a subgroupoid of G that is also in \mathcal{C}_{α} .

Proof. We proceed by transfinite induction on α . For the base case $\alpha = 0$, let H be a subgroupoid of G in \mathcal{C}_0 , and let K' be a compact subset of H'. As the base space in an étale groupoid is open, $K := K' \setminus G^{(0)}$ is also a compact set, and is contained in H. As H is in \mathcal{C}_0 , there exists a subgroupoid L of H that contains K, and that has compact closure. Hence, L' is a subgroupoid of H' that contains K' and has compact closure. Thus, H' is in \mathcal{C}_0 too. The inductive step follows the same idea.

The lemma below is very similar to [67, Lemma B.3].

Lemma A.15. Let G be a groupoid with compact base space. Let H be a subgroupoid of G that decomposes over some class \mathcal{C} of subgroupoids of G. Then, H' decomposes over the collection of subgroupoids L', where L is a subgroupoid of H that is in \mathcal{C} .

Proof. Let X be a finite subset of the unit ball of $C_r^*(H')$, and $\varepsilon > 0$. As $C_c(H) + C(G^{(0)})$ is dense in $C_r^*(H')$, perturbing X slightly, we may assume that X is contained in a subset of $C_r^*(H')$ of the form $C_c(K) + C(G^{(0)})$, where K is an open and relatively compact subset of H. The proof of [67, Lemma B.3] gives us open subgroupoids H_1 and H_2 of H and a positive contraction h in $C_c(H_1^{(0)}) \subseteq C_r^*(H_1)$ such that H_1 , H_2 and $H_1 \cap H_2$ are in the class \mathcal{C} , and such that for all $x \in X$, $hx \in C_r^*(H_1), (1-h)x \in C_r^*(H_2)$, and $(1-h)hx \in C_r^*(H_1 \cap H_2)$. Then, the data $h, C := C_r^*(H_1'), D = C_r^*(H_2')$, and $E = C_r^*(H_1' \cap H_2')$ give the desired decomposability statement.

Proof of Proposition A.8. For part (i), fix a groupoid G. We show by transfinite induction on α that if H is an open subgroupoid of G in the class \mathcal{C}_{α} , and if

$$H' = H \cup G^{(0)},$$

then $C_r^*(H')$ is in the class \mathcal{D}_{α} of Definition 1.3, where we define \mathcal{D}_{α} relative to the class of subhomogeneous C^* -algebras. Applying this to H = G then gives the desired conclusion for $C_r^*(G)$.

For the base case, we need to show that if H is an open subgroupoid of G in the class \mathcal{C}_0 and if $H' = H \cup G^{(0)}$, then $C_r^*(H')$ is locally subhomogeneous. Let a finite subset X of $C_r^*(H')$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. As $C_c(H')$ is dense in $C_r^*(H')$, up to a perturbation, we may assume X is contained in $C_c(K)$ for some open and relatively compact subset K of H'. Lemma A.14 implies that H' is in \mathcal{C}_0 , whence there is an open subgroupoid L of H' with compact closure that contains K, and therefore so that X is contained in $C_r^*(L)$. On the other hand, $C_r^*(L)$ is subhomogeneous by the proof [32, Lemma 8.14], so we are done with the base case.

Assume now that $\alpha > 0$ (and is either a successor ordinal or limit ordinal), and let H be a subgroupoid of G in the class \mathcal{C}_{α} . According to Lemma A.15, we have that H' decomposes over

$$\left\{C_r^*(L') \mid L \text{ an open subgroupoid of } H' \text{ in } \bigcup_{\beta < \alpha} \mathcal{C}_{\beta}\right\}$$

which completes the proof of part (i) by inductive hypothesis.

We now look at part (ii), so let G be principal and ample. We will show that if G is in \mathcal{C}_0 , then $C_r^*(G)$ is locally finite dimensional; thanks to our work in part (i), this will suffice for the proof.

Let then G be an element of \mathcal{C}_0 . We claim that for any compact subset K of G there is a compact open subgroupoid of H of G that contains K. The claim shows that $C_r^*(G)$ is locally finite-dimensional. Indeed, up to a perturbation we can assume any finite subset of $C_r^*(G)$ is contained in $C_c(K)$ for some open and relatively compact subset K of G, and so in $C_r^*(H)$ for some compact, open subgroupoid of G. It is well-known that a compact, Hausdorff, étale, principal groupoid with totally disconnected base space has a locally finite-dimensional C^* -algebra; for example, this follows directly from the structure theorem for "CEERs" in [25, Lemma 3.4].

To establish the claim, let a compact subset K of G be given. According to the definition of \mathcal{C}_0 there exists an open subgroupoid L of G with compact closure such that K is contained in L. Note first that as L has compact closure, there is some $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that L is covered by m open bisections from G. Hence, in particular, for any $x \in L^{(0)}$, we have that the range fibre L^x has at most m elements. Working entirely inside L, it suffices to prove that if K is a compact subset of a principal, ample groupoid L such that $\sup_{x \in L^{(0)}} |L^x| = m < \infty$, then there is a compact, open subgroupoid H of L that contains K.

Now, as *L* is ample (and étale), each point $l \in K$ is contained in a compact, open subset of *L*. As finitely many of these compact, open subsets cover *K*, there is a compact, open subset *K'* of *L* such that $K \subseteq K'$. Let *H* be the subgroupoid of *L* generated by *K'*. A subgroupoid generated by an open subset is always open (see for example [32, Lemma 5.2]), so it suffices to prove that *H* is compact. Let $(h_i)_{i \in I}$ be an arbitrary net consisting of elements from *H*. Each h_i can be written as a finite product $h_i = k_i^{(1)} \cdots k_i^{(n_i)}$, with $k_i^{(j)}$ in $K'' := K' \cup (K')^{-1} \cup s(K') \cup r(K')$. As each range fibre from *L* has at most *m* elements, we may assume that $n_i \leq m$ for all *m*; in fact we may assume it is exactly *m*, as otherwise we can just "pad" it with identity elements. Write then $h_i = k_i^{(1)} \cdots k_i^{(m)}$. As K'' is compact, we may pass to a subnet of *I*, and thus assume that each net $(k_i^{(j)})_{i \in I}$ has a convergent subnet, converging to some $k^{(j)}$ in K''. It follows on passing to this subnet that (h_i) converges to $k^{(1)} \cdots k^{(m)}$. As we have shown that every net in *H* has a convergent subnet, *H* is compact, completing the proof.

References

- C. A. Akemann, G. K. Pedersen, and J. Tomiyama, Multipliers of C*-algebras. J. Functional Analysis 13 (1973), 277–301
- [2] M. Amini, K. Li, D. Sawicki, and A. Shakibazadeh, Dynamic asymptotic dimension for actions of virtually cyclic groups. Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2) 64 (2021), no. 2, 364–372
- [3] W. Arveson, Notes on extensions of C^{*}-algebras. Duke Math. J. 44 (1977), no. 2, 329–355
- [4] S. Barlak and X. Li, Cartan subalgebras and the UCT problem. Adv. Math. 316 (2017), 748–769
- [5] S. Barlak and X. Li, Cartan subalgebras and the UCT problem, II. Math. Ann. 378 (2020), no. 1-2, 255–287
- [6] S. Barlak and G. Szabó, Rokhlin actions of finite groups on UHF-absorbing C*-algebras. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 369 (2017), no. 2, 833–859
- [7] B. Blackadar, *K-theory for operator algebras*. 2nd edn., Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ. 5, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998
- [8] B. Blackadar, Operator algebras. Encyclopedia Math. Sci. 122, Springer, Berlin, 2006
- [9] J. Bosa, N. P. Brown, Y. Sato, A. Tikuisis, S. White, and W. Winter, Covering dimension of C*-algebras and 2-coloured classification. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* 257 (2019), no. 1233, vii+97
- [10] N. P. Brown and N. Ozawa, C*-algebras and finite-dimensional approximations. Grad. Stud. Math. 88, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008
- [11] J. Carrión, J. Gabe, C. Schafhauser, A. Tikuisis, and S. White, Classifying *-homomorphisms I: Unital simple nuclear C*-algebras. 2023, arXiv:2307.06480
- [12] J. Castillejos and S. Evington, Nuclear dimension of simple stably projectionless C*algebras. Anal. PDE 13 (2020), no. 7, 2205–2240
- [13] J. Castillejos, S. Evington, A. Tikuisis, S. White, and W. Winter, Nuclear dimension of simple C*-algebras. *Invent. Math.* 224 (2021), no. 1, 245–290
- [14] J. Chabert, S. Echterhoff, and H. Oyono-Oyono, Going-down functors, the Künneth formula, and the Baum–Connes conjecture. *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 14 (2004), no. 3, 491–528
- [15] X. Chen and J. Zhang, Large scale properties for bounded automata groups. J. Funct. Anal. 269 (2015), no. 2, 438–458
- [16] M. D. Choi and E. G. Effros, Nuclear C*-algebras and injectivity: The general case. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 26 (1977), no. 3, 443–446
- [17] E. Christensen, A. M. Sinclair, R. R. Smith, S. A. White, and W. Winter, Perturbations of nuclear C*-algebras. Acta Math. 208 (2012), no. 1, 93–150
- [18] C. T. Conley, S. C. Jackson, A. S. Marks, B. M. Seward, and R. D. Tucker-Drob, Borel asymptotic dimension and hyperfinite equivalence relations. *Duke Math. J.* 172 (2023), no. 16, 3175–3226

- [19] A. Connes, Classification of injective factors. Cases II₁, II_{∞}, III_{λ}, $\lambda \neq 1$. Ann. of Math. (2) **104** (1976), no. 1, 73–115
- [20] A. Connes, On the cohomology of operator algebras. J. Functional Analysis 28 (1978), no. 2, 248–253
- [21] M. Dadarlat, Some remarks on the universal coefficient theorem in KK-theory. In Operator algebras and mathematical physics (Constanţa, 2001), pp. 65–74, Theta, Bucharest, 2003
- [22] G. A. Elliott, The classification problem for amenable C*-algebras. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Zürich, 1994), pp. 922–932, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995
- [23] G. A. Elliott, G. Gong, H. Lin, and Z. Niu, On the classification of simple amenable C*algebras with finite decomposition rank, II. 2015, arXiv:1507.03437
- [24] G. A. Elliott, G. Gong, H. Lin, and Z. Niu, The classification of simple separable unital Z-stable locally ASH algebras. J. Funct. Anal. 272 (2017), no. 12, 5307–5359
- [25] T. Giordano, I. Putnam, and C. Skau, Affable equivalence relations and orbit structure of Cantor dynamical systems. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems* 24 (2004), no. 2, 441–475
- [26] G. Gong, H. Lin, and Z. Niu, A classification of finite simple amenable Z-stable C*algebras, I: C*-algebras with generalized tracial rank one. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Soc. R. Can. 42 (2020), no. 3, 63–450
- [27] G. Gong, H. Lin, and Z. Niu, A classification of finite simple amenable Z-stable C*algebras, II: C*-algebras with rational generalized tracial rank one. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Soc. R. Can. 42 (2020), no. 4, 451–539
- [28] B. I. Gray, Spaces of the same n-type, for all n. Topology 5 (1966), 241–243
- [29] E. Guentner, R. Tessera, and G. Yu, A notion of geometric complexity and its application to topological rigidity. *Invent. Math.* 189 (2012), no. 2, 315–357
- [30] E. Guentner, R. Tessera, and G. Yu, Discrete groups with finite decomposition complexity. *Groups Geom. Dyn.* 7 (2013), no. 2, 377–402
- [31] E. Guentner, R. Willett, and G. Yu, Dynamical complexity and controlled operator Ktheory. 2016, arXiv:1609.02093, to appear in Astérisque
- [32] E. Guentner, R. Willett, and G. Yu, Dynamic asymptotic dimension: relation to dynamics, topology, coarse geometry, and C*-algebras. *Math. Ann.* 367 (2017), no. 1-2, 785–829
- [33] U. Haagerup, All nuclear C*-algebras are amenable. *Invent. Math.* 74 (1983), no. 2, 305–319
- [34] N. Higson and E. Guentner, Group C*-algebras and K-theory. In Noncommutative geometry, pp. 137–251, Lecture Notes in Math. 1831, Springer, Berlin, 2004
- [35] N. Higson and G. Kasparov, *E*-theory and *KK*-theory for groups which act properly and isometrically on Hilbert space. *Invent. Math.* **144** (2001), no. 1, 23–74
- [36] N. Higson and J. Roe, Analytic K-homology. Oxford Math. Monogr., Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2000
- [37] A. Jaime and R. Willett, Complexity rank for C*-algebras. Münster J. Math. 16 (2023), no. 1, 51–94

- [38] C. U. Jensen, Les foncteurs dérivés de lim et leurs applications en théorie des modules. Lecture Notes in Math. 254, Springer, Berlin, 1972
- [39] B. E. Johnson, Approximate diagonals and cohomology of certain annihilator Banach algebras. *Amer. J. Math.* **94** (1972), 685–698
- [40] G. G. Kasparov, Hilbert C*-modules: theorems of Stinespring and Voiculescu. J. Operator Theory 4 (1980), no. 1, 133–150
- [41] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators. Classics Math., Springer, Berlin, 1995
- [42] E. Kirchberg, Exact C*-algebras, tensor products, and the classification of purely infinite algebras. In *Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2* (Zürich, 1994), pp. 943–954, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995
- [43] E. Kirchberg, Central sequences in C*-algebras and strongly purely infinite algebras. In Operator Algebras: The Abel Symposium 2004, pp. 175–231, Abel Symp. 1, Springer, Berlin, 2006
- [44] E. Kirchberg and S. Wassermann, Permanence properties of C*-exact groups. Doc. Math. 4 (1999), 513–558
- [45] E. C. Lance, *Hilbert C*-modules. A toolkit for operator algebraists*. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 210, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995
- [46] J. Milnor, *Introduction to algebraic K-theory*. Ann. of Math. Stud. 72, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1971
- [47] H. Oyono-Oyono and G. Yu, On quantitative operator K-theory. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 65 (2015), no. 2, 605–674
- [48] H. Oyono-Oyono and G. Yu, Quantitative K-theory and the Künneth formula for operator algebras. J. Funct. Anal. 277 (2019), no. 7, 2003–2091
- [49] G. K. Pedersen, A commutator inequality. In Operator algebras, mathematical physics, and low-dimensional topology (Istanbul, 1991), pp. 233–235, Res. Notes Math. 5, A K Peters, Wellesley, MA, 1993
- [50] N. C. Phillips, A classification theorem for nuclear purely infinite simple C*-algebras. Doc. Math. 5 (2000), 49–114
- [51] J. Renault, C*-algebras and dynamical systems. Publ. Mat. IMPA, 27° Colóq. Bras. Mat., Instituto Nacional de Matemática Pura e Aplicada (IMPA), Rio de Janeiro, 2009
- [52] J. Roe, *Lectures on coarse geometry*. Univ. Lecture Ser. 31, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003
- [53] M. Rørdam, Classification of nuclear, simple C*-algebras. In Classification of nuclear C*-algebras. Entropy in operator algebras, pp. 1–145, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci. 126, Springer, Berlin, 2002
- [54] M. Rørdam, F. Larsen, and N. Laustsen, An introduction to K-theory for C*-algebras. London Math. Soc. Stud. Texts 49, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000
- [55] J. Rosenberg and C. Schochet, The Künneth theorem and the universal coefficient theorem for Kasparov's generalized *K*-functor. *Duke Math. J.* **55** (1987), no. 2, 431–474
- [56] C. L. Schochet, The UCT, the Milnor sequence, and a canonical decomposition of the Kasparov groups. *K-Theory* **10** (1996), no. 1, 49–72
- [57] C. L. Schochet, The fine structure of the Kasparov groups. II. Topologizing the UCT. J. Funct. Anal. 194 (2002), no. 2, 263–287
- [58] C. L. Schochet, A Pext primer: Pure extensions and lim¹ for infinite abelian groups. NYJM Monogr. 1, State University of New York, University at Albany, Albany, NY, 2003
- [59] A. Sims, Hausdorff étale groupoids and their C*-algebras. In Operator algebras and dynamics: Groupoids, crossed products, and Rokhlin dimension, edited by F. Perera, pp. 59–120, Adv. Courses Math. CRM Barcelona, Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2020
- [60] G. Skandalis, Une notion de nucléarité en K-théorie (d'après J. Cuntz). K-Theory 1 (1988), no. 6, 549–573
- [61] G. Skandalis, J. L. Tu, and G. Yu, The coarse Baum–Connes conjecture and groupoids. *Topology* 41 (2002), no. 4, 807–834
- [62] K. Thomsen, On absorbing extensions. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 129 (2001), no. 5, 1409– 1417
- [63] A. Tikuisis, S. White, and W. Winter, Quasidiagonality of nuclear C*-algebras. Ann. of Math. (2) 185 (2017), no. 1, 229–284
- [64] J.-L. Tu, La conjecture de Baum–Connes pour les feuilletages moyennables. K-Theory 17 (1999), no. 3, 215–264
- [65] S. Wassermann, Injective W*-algebras. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 82 (1977), no. 1, 39–47
- [66] C. A. Weibel, An introduction to homological algebra. Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 38, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994
- [67] R. Willett, Approximate ideal structures and K-theory. New York J. Math. 27 (2021), 1– 52
- [68] R. Willett and G. Yu, Controlled KK-theory I: A Milnor exact sequence. 2020, arXiv:2011.10906
- [69] R. Willett and G. Yu, *Higher index theory*. Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 189, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2020
- [70] W. Winter and J. Zacharias, The nuclear dimension of C*-algebras. Adv. Math. 224 (2010), no. 2, 461–498
- [71] G. Yu, The Novikov conjecture for groups with finite asymptotic dimension. *Ann. of Math.*(2) 147 (1998), no. 2, 325–355
- [72] S. Zhang, A property of purely infinite simple C*-algebras. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 109 (1990), no. 3, 717–720

MEMOIRS OF THE EUROPEAN MATHEMATICAL SOCIETY

Bas Janssens, Karl-Hermann Neeb Positive Energy Representations of Gauge Groups I Localization

This is the first in a series of papers on projective positive energy representations of gauge groups. Let $\Xi \to M$ be a principal fiber bundle, and let $\Gamma_c(M, \operatorname{Ad}(\Xi))$ be the group of compactly supported (local) gauge transformations. If *P* is a group of "space–time symmetries" acting on $\Xi \to M$, then a projective unitary representation of $\Gamma_c(M, \operatorname{Ad}(\Xi)) \rtimes P$ is of *positive energy* if every "timelike generator" $p_0 \in \mathfrak{p}$ gives rise to a Hamiltonian $H(p_0)$ whose spectrum is bounded from below. Our main result shows that in the absence of fixed points for the cone of timelike generators, the projective positive energy representations of the connected component $\Gamma_c(M, \operatorname{Ad}(\Xi))_0$ come from 1-dimensional *P*-orbits. For compact *M* this yields a complete classification of the projective positive energy representations in terms of lowest weight representations of affine Kac–Moody algebras. For noncompact *M*, it yields a classification under further restrictions on the space of ground states.

In the second part of this series we consider larger groups of gauge transformations, which contain also global transformations. The present results are used to localize the positive energy representations at (conformal) infinity.



